AAV-mediated gene transfer to synovium: enhancing effects of inflammatory cytokines and proteasome inhibitors

by

Russell S. Traister

B.S. in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, The Pennsylvania State University, 1998

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

School of Medicine in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2006

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

FACULTY OF SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

This dissertation was presented

by

Russell S. Traister

It was defended on

August 24, 2006

and approved by

Penelope Morel, M.D. Associate Professor of Immunology and Medicine

Jay Kolls, M.D. Professor of Pediatrics and Immunology

Paul Robbins, Ph.D. Professor of Molecular Genetics and Biochemistry and Orthopaedic Surgery

> Xiao Xiao, Ph.D. Associate Professor of Molecular Genetics and Biochemistry

> > Raphael Hirsch, M.D. Dissertation Director Professor of Pediatrics

Copyright by Russell S. Traister

2006

Copyright Permission for:

Traister, RS, Fabre, S, Wang, Z, Xiao, X, and Hirsch, R. "Inflammatory cytokine regulation of transgene expression in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes infected with adeno-associated virus," Arthritis and Rheumatism, Vol. 54, No. 7, July 2006. pp. 2119-2126.

Dear Dr Traister

We hereby grant you permission to reproduce the material detailed below in your thesis at no charge subject to the following conditions:

1. If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies.

2. Suitable acknowledgment to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier".

3. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose for which permission is hereby given.

4. This permission is granted for non-exclusive world English rights only. For other languages please reapply separately for each one required. Permission excludes use in an electronic form. Should you have a specific electronic project in mind please reapply for permission.

5. This includes permission for UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission.

Yours sincerely,

<<...OLE_Obj...>> Natalie David Senior Rights Assistant Copyright permission for:

Jennings, K., Miyamae, T., Traister, R., Marinov, A., Katakura, S., Sowders, D., Trapnell, B., Wilson, J.M., Gao, G., and Hirsch, R., 2004. "Proteasome inhibition enhances AAV-mediated transgene expression in human synoviocytes in vitro and in vivo," Molecular Therapy, Vol. 11, No. 4, April 2005. pp. 600-607.

001/001

Dissertation

cc

bcc



republication <republication@wiley.com>

To <republication@wiley.com>

07/17/2006 11:27 AM Please respond to republication <republication@wiley.com>

Subject Republication/Electronic Request Form

A01_First_Name: Russell A02_Last_Name: Traister A03_Company_Name: University of Pittsburgh A04_Address: 3460 Fifth Avenue A05_City: Pittsburgh A06_State: PA A07_Zip: 15213 A08_Country: United States A09_Contact_Phone_Number: 412 692 7034 A10_Fax: 412 692 5565 A11_Emails: rst2@pitt.edu A12_Reference: A13_Book_Title: Arthritis and Rheumatism A40_Book_or_Journal: Journal A14_Book_Author: A15_Book_ISBN: A16_Journal_Month: July A17_Journal_Year: 2006 A18_Journal_Volume: 54 A19_Journal_Issue_Number: 7 A20_Copy_Pages: 2119-2126 A21_Maximum_Copies: 3 A22_Your_Publisher: UMI Dissertation Publishing A23_Your_Title: Gene Therapy for Rheumatoid Arthritis Using Adeno-associated Virus Vectors A24_Publication_Date: October 2006 A25_Format: print A31_Print_Run_Size: A41_Ebook_Reader_Type: A26_IF_WWW_URL: A27_If_WWW_From_Adopted_Book: A28_If_WWW_Password_Access: No A45_WWW_Users: A29_If_WWW_Material_Posted_From: A30_If_WWW_Material_Posted_To: A42_If_Intranet_URL: A32_If_Intranet_From_Adopted_Book: A33_If_Intranet_Password_Access: No A48_Intranet_Users: A34_If_Intranet_Material_Posted_From: A35_If_Intranet_Material_Posted_To:

A36_If_Software_Print Run:

BYOM

Global Rights D Wiley & Sons, Inc.

NOTE: No rights are granted to use content that appears in the work with credit to another source

A37_Comments_For_Request: I am the author of this material and am requesting copyright permission for use in my thesis/dissertation

AAV-mediated gene transfer to synovium: enhancing effects of inflammatory cytokines and proteasome inhibitors

Russell S. Traister, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2006

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is an autoimmune disease affecting nearly 1% of the population. The joints of RA patients become inflamed and a pannus of synovial tissue invades cartilage and destroys bone. Current treatments, though moderately successful, are often administered systemically and are associated with significant side effects. Local treatment of arthritis by intraarticular injection of gene transfer vectors has the potential to overcome some of the obstacles of other treatment regimens. In particular, adeno-associated virus (AAV) is attractive as a gene transfer vector because it is non-pathogenic in humans, has low immunogenicity and broad tissue tropism, and provides for long-term transgene expression. The primary target of gene transfer in the joint is the fibroblast-like synoviocytes (FLS), which make up part of the pannus of tissue responsible for cartilage and bone destruction. However, FLS are only minimally transduced by AAV and provide only low levels of transgene expression. For local treatment with AAV vectors to be successful, improvement in the transduction of FLS is necessary. Several agents have been shown to increase AAV transduction in other cell types. The specific effect of inflammation and proteasome inhibition on AAV-mediated transgene expression in FLS has not been examined. Here we show that both inflammatory cytokines and the proteasome inhibitor zLLL can increase transgene expression in FLS dramatically. Remarkably, both agents are also able to regulate transgene expression. The cytokines appear to act in part by promoting uncoating of the virus, while proteasome inhibition works by both increasing the nuclear

trafficking of the virus and by increasing transcription of the viral DNA. In addition, we screened 3 serotypes of AAV (2, 2.5, and 5) for their ability to transduce FLS from 4 different species: human, mouse, horse, and rabbit. AAV2 provided the highest transgene expression in human and horse FLS, while AAV2.5 was better suited for mouse and rabbit FLS. These results have implications in the future use of AAV vectors in the treatment of RA.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREFACE	٢V
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Overview of Rheumatoid Arthritis	1
1.1.1. Epidemiology of Rheumatoid Arthritis	1
1.1.2. Pathogenesis of Rheumatoid Arthritis	1
1.1.3. Treatment for Rheumatoid Arthritis	3
1.2. Gene Delivery Strategies	3
1.2.1. Systemic versus local administration strategies	3
1.2.2. In vivo versus ex vivo strategies	4
1.3. Gene transfer vectors	5
1.3.1. Non-viral vectors	5
1.3.1.1. Plasmid DNA	6
1.3.1.2. Other non-viral vectors	7
1.3.2. Viral vectors	7
1.3.2.1. Adenovirus	8
1.3.2.2. Retrovirus	8
1.3.2.3. Lentivirus	9
1.3.2.4. Adeno-Associated virus 1	0
1.4. Candidate genes 1	1
1.4.1. Inhibitors of cytokines	1
1.4.1.1. Inhibitions of IL-1 β	1
1.4.1.2. Inhibitors of TNF- α	13
1.4.1.3. Inhibitors of IL-18	4
1.4.2. Immune Deviation	4
1.4.2.1. IL-13	5
1.4.2.2. IL-4	15
1.4.2.3. IL-10	6
1.4.2.4. TGF-β 1	17
1.4.2.5. CTLA-4Ig	17
1.4.3. Promoting Apoptosis 1	8
1.4.3.1. TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand	8
1.4.3.2. Fas ligand 1	8
1.4.3.3. Fas-associated death domain protein	9
1.4.4. Anti-angiogenis	9
1.4.5. Targeting Matrix Degradation Enzymes	20
1.4.6. Targeting NFкВ	21
1.4.7. Other candidate genes	21
1.5. Future of Gene Therapy for Arthritis	22
1.6. AAV biology	22

1.6.1.	AAV structure and genome	22
1.6.2.	Site-specific integration	
1.6.3.	Recombinant AAV vectors	
1.6.4.	Clinical trials with AAV	
1.6.5.	AAV tropism	
1.6.5	.1. Intraspecies variation	
1.6.5	.2. Interspecies variation	
1.6.6.	Viral Receptors	
1.6.7.	Viral entry and intracellular trafficking	
1.6.7	.1. Receptor-mediated endocytosis	
1.6.7	.2. Endosomal Trafficking	
1.6.7	.3. Nuclear trafficking	
1.6.7	.4. Summary	
1.6.8.	Antibodies to AAV	
1.6.8	.1. Prevalence of antibodies to AAV	
1.6.8	.2. Effects of AAV antibodies on transduction	
1.6.8	.3. Immune response to the transgene	
1.6.8	.4. Summary	
1.6.9.	Controlling expression from AAV vectors	
1.6.9	.1. Cell type specific promoters	
1.6.9	.2. Regulated expression	
1.6.10.	Role of the AAV ITR in transgene expression	
1.6.11.	Modifying the tropism of AAV by modifying the capsid	
1.7. Age	ents that increase AAV transduction	44
1.7.1.	Proteasome inhibitors	44
1.7.2.	DNA damaging agents	44
1.7.3.	Adenovirus enhances AAV transduction	
1.7.4.	Tyrosine phosphatase activation	
1.7.5.	Tyrosine kinase inhibitors	
1.7.6.	AAV/vector complexes	
1.7.7.	Oxidative Stress	
1.7.8.	Other agents that increase AAV transduction	
1.8. Stat	ement of the problem	
2. Inflamm	natory cytokines regulate transgene expression in fibroblast-like sync	viocvtes
infected with	n adeno-associated virus	
2.1. Abs	tract	
2.1.1.	Objective	
2.1.2.	Methods	
2.1.3.	Results	
2.1.4.	Conclusion	
2.2. Intr	oduction	
2.3. Mat	erials and Methods.	
2.3.1.	AAV production	
2.3.2	Cell culture and AAV infection	
2.3.3	Flow cytometry	
2.3.4	ELISA	

2.3.5.	Quantitative PCR	56
2.3.6.	PI3K and NFκB inhibition	57
2.3.7.	Immunohistochemistry	57
2.3.8.	Cell transfection	
2.4. Res	sults	59
2.4.1.	Inflammatory Cytokines Increase AAV-mediated Transgene Expression in	1 Human
RA FL	S	
2.4.2.	AAV Transgene Expression Can Be Regulated By Inflammatory Cytokines	67
2.4.3.	The Effect of Inflammatory Cytokines on AAV Mediated Transgene Expr	ession is
PI3K-d	dependent	
2.4.4.	The Effect of Inflammatory Cytokines on AAV Mediated Transgene Expr	ession is
NFκB-	-dependent	72
245	NERB and PI3K play independent roles in the cytokine-mediated increase	in $\Delta \Delta V$
transge	The expression	76
246	Inflammatory cytokines promote uncoating of the virus	70 77
2.4.0.	The effect of cytokines on $\Delta \Delta V$ trangene expression is not restricted to fil	hroblasts
2.4.7.	78	JIOUIASIS
248	Inflammatory cytokines increase gene expression from stably transfected ce	alle 80
2.4.0. 25 Dis	scussion	×113 00 81
2.5. Dis	rotessome inhibitor zLLL regulates AAV transgene expression in fibrok	alast lika
supoviocyte	occasione minipitor zeele regulates AAV transgene expression in morot	86
3 1 Intr	roduction	
3.1. mu 3.2 Ma	pterials and methods	00
3.2. Ivia	Isolation of fibroblast like synovicevtes (ELS)	
3.2.1.	A A V production	
3.2.2.	Pacombinant adapavirus	
3.2.3.	In vitro infection	
3.2.4.	A scave for mIL 4 and mIL 10	
3.2.3.	Assays for Init-4 and Init-10	
5.2.0. 2.2.7	Analysis of puploar and autoplasmia AAV DNA	
5.2.7. 2.2.9	Analysis of nuclear and cytoplashine AAV DNA	
3.2.8.	minunomstochemistry	
3.3. Kes	The protocome inhibitor at LL increases AAV transcence events in fil	
5.5.1. liko ovi	The proteasonic minibitor ZLLL increases AAV transgene expression in m	
	Drotocome inhibitor con reculate transcene expression in human DA ELS	····· 92
5.5.2.	Proteasome minotior can regulate transgene expression in numan KA FLS	in viiro
222	94 Destassons inhibition loads to increased trafficking of AAV viral DN	A to the
3.3.3 .	Proteasome minibition leads to increased trafficking of AAV viral DIVA	A to the
	895 Destassame inhibition loads to accuration of interst AAV norticles	in the
3.3.4.	Proteasome inhibition leads to aggregation of infact AAV particles	in the
perinuc		97
3.3.5.	NFKB inhibition does not prevent the effects of zLLL on AAV the	ransgene
express	sion in dermal fibroblasts	100
5.4. D1s	scussion	101
4. Inter- a	and intra-species variation in transduction of fibroblast-like synoviocyte	es using
atterent AA	A v serotypes	105
4.1. Intr	roduction	105

4.2. Materials and Methods	
4.2.1. Cell isolation and culture	
4.2.2. AAV infection	
4.3. Results	
4.4. Discussion	
5. Summary and Future Directions	
APPENDIX A	
Publications	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Receptors for Different Serotypes of AAV.	29
Table 2.	Types of proteasome inhibitors and their mechanism of action.	88
Table 3.	Summary of mechanistic effects of cytokines and zLLL on AAV transgene expression	on.
		25

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Summary of the pathway of AAV infection.	35
Figure 2: Dimerization of full length and truncated sTNFRII-Ig fusion protein	54
Figure 3: Ability of full length and truncated sTNFRII-Ig fusion proteins to prevent TNF	α-
mediated apoptosis of mouse L929 cells.	55
Figure 4: Inflammatory cytokines act synergistically to increase EGFP expression from R	Α
fibroblasts infected with single stranded (ss) or double stranded (ds) AAV.	50
Figure 5: The effect of cytokines on dsAAV (sTNFRII) transgene expression in fibroblast-lil	ke
synoviocytes isolated from both RA (H21, H55) and OA (H37) patients	51
Figure 6: The effect of cytokines on ds AAV transgene expression when added three days aft	er
infection	52
Figure 7: IL-17A has no effect on ds AAV transgene expression in human dermal fibroblasts.	53
Figure 8: Inflammatory cytokines (A) and arthritic synovial fluid (B) increase human IL-	10
expression from RA FLS infected with dsAAV	55
Figure 9: Inflammatory cytokines do not effect cell proliferation	56
Figure 10: Transgene mRNA levels correlate with increases in protein levels following cytokin	ne
exposure	57
Figure 11: AAV-mediated transgene expression is regulated by inflammatory cytokines 6	59
Figure 12: The effects of cytokines on AAV-mediated transgene expression are PI3I	K-
dependent	71
Figure 13: The effect of wortmannin on cytokine-mediated increases in dsAAV transger	ne
expression is dose-dependent	72
Figure 14: Inhibition of NFkB in dermal fibroblasts (Hs69) by the super IkB inhibitor	74
Figure 15: The effect of NFkB inhibition on the ability of inflammatory cytokines to increa	se
AAV transgene expression in Hs69 dermal fibroblasts	75
Figure 16: Wortmannin does not inhibit NFkB in dermal fibroblasts	77
Figure 17: Inflammatory cytokines promote uncoating of AAV	78
Figure 18: Effect of cytokines on AAV transduction in different cell lines	30
Figure 19: Inflammatory cytokines increase gene expression from stably transfected 293 cells.8	31
Figure 20: The proteasome inhibitor zLLL increases AAV-mediated transgene expression	in
fibroblast-like synoviocytes) 4
Figure 21: zLLL can regulate rAAV-mediated transduction of RA FLS in vitro) 5
Figure 22: Effect of zLLL on AAV DNA trafficking) 7
Figure 23: Effect of zLLL on cellular localization of intact AAV particles9) 9
Figure 24: Effect of NFkB inhibition on ability of zLLL to increase AAV trangene expression	in
dermal fibroblasts10)1
Figure 25: Ability of different serotypes of AAV to transduce human RA FLS 12	12
Figure 26: Ability of different serotypes of AAV to transduce mouse FLS	14
Figure 27: Ability of different serotypes of AAV to transduce rabbit FLS	16

Figure 28: Ability of different serotypes of AAV to transduce horse FLS.	
Figure 29: Summary of ability of different serotypes of dsAAV to	o infect fibroblast-like
synoviocytes from different species	

PREFACE

Scientific research is, to me, one of the most thought provoking and engaging disciplines. I have been interested in all things scientific from a young age. In high school, biology was always one of my favorite subjects. In my spare time, books like Jurassic Park heightened my interest in all things scientific. I have also always had an interest in puzzles, logic games, and strategy games. I feel that science is like a giant puzzle, with lots of pieces that must be put together in an organized and well thought out manner. With this in mind, I hope to use what I've learned in the production of this thesis as the beginning to a long and successful research career.

I could not have completed this thesis work without the support of a lot of people. First and foremost is my advisor and mentor, Dr. Raphael Hirsch. His ability to blend a career in both science and medicine is a model that I hope to follow. Dr. Hirsch also treats his students and everyone in his lab as equals, with everyone's input considered welcomed and important. This inspires independent thinking and encourages cooperation between lab members. He also was always available for advice at a moments notice. In addition, the input of the fellow members of the lab, including Dave, Tony, Takako, Soam, Margalit, and Suzanne has been invaluable. Thanks also to my committee members Dr. Penelope Morel, Dr. Xiao Xiao, Dr. Paul Robbins, and Dr. Jay Kolls for their advice and guidance during my time in the lab. Thanks also to my roommates Lou, Helen, and Casey for their advice and support. Being able to seek advice from people who have been through all of this ahead of me made my trek that much easier. And lastly, thanks to my family for all of their support. It has been a long road but I promise one of these days I will graduate!

1. Introduction

1.1. Overview of Rheumatoid Arthritis

1.1.1. Epidemiology of Rheumatoid Arthritis

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is the most common inflammatory disorder, affecting approximately 0.5-1% of the North American adult population. It causes significant pathology and functional impairment in affected individuals, leading to an increased mortality, with survival reduced by an average of 3-10 years. RA it is a multi-factorial disease whose main risk factors include genetic susceptibility, sex and age, smoking, infectious agents, hormones, diet, and socioeconomic and ethnic factors (1). Those afflicted by RA report a decrease in quality of life measures such as persistent pain, functional disability, fatigue, depression, and an inability to perform daily tasks (2). RA is also a significant burden on the health care system, averaging between \$2800-\$28,500 per patient per year for direct and indirect costs (3).

1.1.2. Pathogenesis of Rheumatoid Arthritis

Although the pathogenesis of RA is not completely understood, specific HLA-DR genes, autoantibody and immune complex production, T cell antigen specific responses, networks of cytokine production, and a hyperplastic, aggressive synovium have all been shown to play a role. RA primarily affects diarthrodial joints of the hands and feet. The joint is normally lined by a thin cell layer (1-3 cells thick) of both type I (macrophage-like, MLS) and type II (fibroblast-like, FLS) synoviocytes (4).

FLS make up approximately 2/3 of the synoviocytes. They have a spindle-like shape and an extensive endoplasmic reticulum. They originally develop between foci of cartilage in the embryonic limb bud. FLS secrete molecules like hyaluronan and lubricin, which act to lubricate the joint and contribute to the viscosity of the synovial fluid. The synoviocytes are also responsible for maintaining synovial fluid volume, a breakdown in which can lead to increase mechanical stress on the joints. They also play a key role in controlling inflammatory responses, with effects on complement fixation and migration of immune cells within the synovium and into the joint space. FLS also help maintain the structure of the joint capsule through secretion of connective tissue components such as fibronectin, proteoglycans, and laminins (5).

In RA, the joint becomes inflamed and the synovium becomes hyperplastic, creating a pannus of synovial tissue comprised of CD4+ T cells, B cells, mast cells, dendritic cells, macrophages, and synoviocytes that invade and destroy nearby cartilage and bone. The synovial cell layer expands to a depth of 15 or more cells. FLS secrete growth factors that contribute to their own proliferation. Mutations in gene that regulate proliferation, such as p53, Erk, and Z-225 may also occur. There are also decreases in apoptosis rates of FLS, associated with decreased Fas-mediated apoptosis, and overexpression of bcl-2, among others. FLS also play a role in the inflammation observed in RA. FLS secrete numerous pro-inflammatory cytokines and pro-angiogenic factors. FLS can also interact directly with T cells, inducing T cell activation Neutrophils accumulate in the synovial fluid and also contribute to the degradative (5). processes of RA (4, 6). Macrophage and fibroblast-like synoviocytes secrete cytokines such as TNF α , IL-1 β , and IL-6, among others, all of which perpetuate cartilage and bone destruction (7, 8). These cytokines are thought to act primarily through mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) and nuclear factor κB (NF κB) signaling pathways to activate transcription factors that turn on genes for chemokines and cell adhesion molecules, along with extracellular matrix degrading enzymes like matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). Chemokines and chemokine receptors have also been linked to RA (7, 9, 10).

1.1.3. Treatment for Rheumatoid Arthritis

Initial treatment strategies for RA include drugs such as non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and glucocorticoids. While providing pain relief and decreased joint swelling, these drugs are unable to stop progression of RA (11). This led to the use of small molecules such as methotrexate and penicillamine that were demonstrated to slow disease progression. For many decades these disease-modifying agents of rheumatic disease (DMARDs) were the best treatment option for RA. In recent years, a further understanding of the disease process has led to the development of biologic DMARDs primarily aimed at neutralizing the effects of proinflammatory cytokines. The most successful agents in this class are anti-TNF α molecules and IL-1β blocking agents. Based on improvement criteria set forth by the American College of Rheumatology (ACR), these drugs are more effective than treatment with methotrexate alone. Even so, less than half of the patients show improvement of at least 50% in their ACR scores. In addition, the half-life of these drugs is relatively short and they require frequent systemic administration in order to be effective (12). Gene transfer strategies have the potential to overcome some of these limitations, potentially leading to increased efficacy and decreased frequency of administration.

1.2. Gene Delivery Strategies

1.2.1. Systemic versus local administration strategies

Although the majority of inflammation in RA is locally in the joints, there are systemic components to the disease. Therefore, when developing treatment strategies, one must consider whether the therapy should be delivered locally or systemically. Local administration is attractive because it has less potential for side effects and the treatment is delivered directly to the joint, the main site of inflammation. However, utilizing this strategy, systemic features of the

3

disease would be left untreated. Interestingly, several researchers have observed a "contralateral effect" in animal models of local gene delivery where the delivered transgene is protective not only to the injected joint, but also to distal, untreated joints (13-15). This effect appears to be independent of trafficking of modified immune cells to distal joints, demonstrated by the ability of *ex vivo* modified fibroblasts alone to confer the contralateral effect (16). The contralateral effect is also independent of systemic circulating levels of transgene and non-specific immunosuppression and instead was found to depend on a complex antigen specific mechanism (17). Systemic delivery, typically by intravenous (i.v.) administration, would be expected to have a broader therapeutic effect, but is also associated with an increase in side effects and toxicity.

1.2.2. In vivo versus ex vivo strategies

Another consideration for gene transfer is whether to employ *in vivo* or *ex vivo* delivery strategies. *In vivo* strategies have the advantage of being relatively easy and inexpensive. In addition, many more studies have been performed in animal models looking at *in vivo* gene delivery. *Ex vivo* strategies, although expensive and time consuming, have the advantage of being able to treat and select very specific cells, avoiding the possibility that the gene transfer vector could genetically modify cells that are desired to remain undisturbed from their natural state. A phase I clinical trial has been performed using a retroviral vector to deliver IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) to cultured autologous synovial fibroblasts. The cells were then injected into RA patient joints. After a scheduled arthroplasty one week later, significant expression of the transgene was observed in the injected joints. No adverse events were reported (18). This trial was initiated following previous experiments where antagonists of both IL-1 and

TNF were delivered to autologous cultured rabbit fibroblasts *ex vivo* and injected into arthritic rabbit knee joints, with significant therapeutic benefit (16, 19).

Most *ex vivo* studies use fibroblast-like synoviocytes (FLS) as the target cell. These cells are targeted specifically because they are thought to be directly responsible for cartilage destruction and drive and perpetuate the inflammatory response and autoimmunity (5). The disadvantages of using this cell type are that FLS have a low proliferation rate, lack highly specific surface markers, and are a non-homogenous population. Alternatively, future studies may examine other strategies, including gene delivery to T cells, dendritic cells, muscle cells, or mesenchymal stem cells (20).

1.3. Gene transfer vectors

Gene transfer vectors can be broadly categorized into two groups: viral and non-viral vectors. In general, viral vectors tend to provide for longer-term gene expression but often come with additional safety concerns, including fears of generating replication competent virus during vector production, random insertion of the transgene into the genome following treatment, or development of a harmful immune response. Viral vectors are by far the most widely used vectors for delivering transgenes in arthritic animal models (21). There are several different viral vectors that have been examined for use in gene transfer for arthritis, including adenovirus, retrovirus, adeno-associated virus (AAV), and lentivirus, each with their respective advantages and disadvantages. Non-viral vectors are often easier to make and come with less concerns about contamination. The most common non-viral vector used in arthritis studies is plasmid DNA.

1.3.1. Non-viral vectors

1.3.1.1. Plasmid DNA

Plasmid DNA can be delivered by lipsomes, gene gun, or direct injection of the plasmid. The use of plasmid DNA tends to be less toxic and less immunogenic than use of viral vectors and is also easy and relatively inexpensive to produce. However, plasmid DNA often leads to low transfection efficiency and only short-term expression of the transgene, often for only 1-2 weeks and typically peaking even earlier (22-24). These limitations make it unlikely that local delivery of plasmid DNA in the joint will be successful.

The most success with the use of plasmid DNA in gene transfer for arthritis has been garnered through delivery of transgenes to skeletal muscle. Electrotransfer of variants of soluble TNF- α receptor I variants to the tibial-cranial muscle at the onset of collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) led to a decrease in the clinical and histological signs of disease for up to 5 weeks after treatment (25). Similarly, plasmids encoding cDNA for other anti-inflammatory molecules such as IL-1ra and a soluble TNF-Fc fusion protein have been demonstrated to improve both macroscopic and microscopic scores of CIA when delivered intra-muscularly (26, 27). A plasmid encoding TGF- β delivered to skeletal muscle delayed progression of streptococcal wall induced arthritis when administered at the peak of the acute phase and virtually eliminated subsequent inflammation and arthritis when given at the beginning of the chronic phase of the disease (28). Intra-muscular injections of plasmids encoding immuno-modulatory molecules such as IL-4, IL-10, viral IL-10, and soluble complement receptor type I have also demonstrated beneficial effects in small animal models of arthritis (29-32).

Intramuscular delivery of a plasmid encoding TIMP-4, an inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases, completely abolished the development of arthritis in a rat adjuvant-induced arthritis model (33). Intravenous delivery of a plasmid encoding the heparin-binding domain of

fibronectin inhibited leukocyte recruitment and decreased inflammation in CIA (34). Intradermal injection of plasmid encoding IL-10 and intra-peritoneal injection of plasmid IL-10/liposome complexes have also been demonstrated to delay onset and progression of CIA (35, 36). The liposome delivered DNA was able to maintain expression for only 10 days after injection, significantly less than the intramuscular studies mentioned above.

1.3.1.2. Other non-viral vectors

Other non-viral gene delivery systems that have potential in the treatment of RA are the artificial chromosome expression (ACE) system and the sleeping beauty (SB) transposon system. The ACE system is attractive because it is non-integrating and can provide stable and long-term gene expression of one or multiple genes. A feasibility study was recently performed in a *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* rat arthritis model demonstrating that rat skin fibroblasts could be modified *ex vivo* to express a reporter gene from an artificial chromosome. These cells, when subsequently injected into rat joints, demonstrated engraftment into the synovial tissue microarchitechture and detectable transgene expression. The ACE system also had a lack of local inflammation at the injection site that is often associated with viral vector administration (37). The sleeping beauty transposon system melds the advantages of both viral and non-viral vectors, allowing for both integration into the genome and long term expression. No studies have yet been performed in arthritis models using the sleeping beauty transposon system, but success has been found in both cancer and hemophilia models, suggesting it might be have potential to successfully treat arthritis as well (38).

1.3.2. Viral vectors

1.3.2.1. Adenovirus

Adenovirus is a non-enveloped double-stranded DNA virus that can infect non-dividing cells and can be produced at high titers. Many gene therapy studies have been performed with this vector but it has several limitations that may prevent it from having success in the clinic. The high sero-prevalence of neutralizing antibodies to adenovirus may prevent successful administration or re-administration. Injected adenovirus also causes a significant inflammatory immune response, which is a safety concern. In addition, adenovirus vectors typically only allow for 1-3 weeks of transgene expression, which would severely limit its long-term efficacy. Some improvements to adenoviral vectors have recently been made in an effort to improve delivery of transgenes to the synovium. Fibroblast-like synoviocytes (FLS) lack the coxsackieadenovirus receptor (CAR) and are not efficiently transduced by adenovirus. By modifying the fiber knobs on the virus, adenoviral transgene delivery to synoviocytes and synovium was improved dramatically (39, 40). Other recent improvements include the development of an adenoviral vector with an inflammation inducible promoter (41). This would allow expression of the transgene during active disease, but expression would turn off once inflammation was brought under control.

1.3.2.2. Retrovirus

Retroviruses, mostly derived from the Moloney murine leukemia virus, have a relatively simple genome and structure. They are enveloped viruses and contain two identical copies of their RNA genome. The key feature of the retroviral life cycle is the ability of the RNA genome to be reverse transcribed into double-stranded DNA, which can then randomly integrate into the genome. They have been mostly used in *ex vivo* studies and are desirable vectors for several reasons. They can provide for long-term stable expression and their integration into the genome makes it possible to permanently correct a genetic defect (42). For arthritis in particular, the

8

inflamed synovium appears to be more susceptible to uptake of the virus (19). The drawbacks to retroviral vectors are that they only infect non-dividing cells and are produced at low titers. The fact that these vectors integrate into the genome randomly is also a concern. In fact, in a recent clinical trial in France using a retrovirus to correct an X-linked SCID disorder, 3 out of 10 children developed leukemia after the vector inserted in or near a known oncogene. As a result, similar trials in the U.S. for this disorder have been halted until more information can be gathered (43, 44). Future improvements to these vectors, including the development of self-inactivating vectors, which contain no retroviral promoter or enhancer elements, and use of vectors from non-oncogenic retroviruses will hopefully make them safer for clinical use (42).

1.3.2.3. Lentivirus

Lentivirus vectors are derived from retroviral vectors but have the advantage of infecting non-dividing cells. The most commonly studied lentiviral vectors are derived from either human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) or feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV), although equine anemia infectious virus and visna virus have also been examined (38). The primary concern with HIV vectors is safety. In contrast, FIV is non-pathogenic in humans and does not cause serologic conversion (45). Using an FIV vector, TNF- α was transduced into primary human FLS with high efficiency. When injected into knees of SCID mice these cells induced cell proliferation and caused bone and joint destruction (46). A replication defective HIV vector encoding endostatin was injected into joints of TNF- α transgenic mice and was shown to decrease synovial blood vessel density and decrease the overall arthritis index (47). Similarly, intrarticular expression of angiostatin inhibited the progession of CIA in mice (48). A study examining a VSV-G pseudo-typed HIV vector, which has increased host range and stability,

demonstrated that a transgene could be efficiently delivered to the synovium of rat knee joints, with trangene expression lasting up to 6 weeks in immunocompromised animals (49).

1.3.2.4. Adeno-Associated virus

One of the most promising gene transfer vectors is adeno-associated virus (AAV). AAV is a small, non-enveloped single stranded DNA virus with broad tissue tropism. It belongs to the Parvoviridae family and has a 4.68kb genome. AAV normally requires adenovirus or herpesvirus to produce active infection. Several serotypes have been identified in primates, with AAV2 being the prototype for most gene transfer studies. AAV is an attractive vector for gene transfer studies for several reasons. It has been shown to deliver transgenes to a wide variety of tissues, has low immunogenicity, and mediates long-term gene expression (50). Recombinant, replication incompetent AAV vectors have been designed that lack the *Rep* gene, which is required for integration, so long term expression with these vectors is thought to be mediated by episomal viral DNA (51). In addition, AAV vectors have been designed that are able to package double stranded viral genomes, bypassing a rate-limiting step of viral transduction (second strand synthesis) and allowing rapid and highly efficient transduction both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (52).

Primary and recurrent arthritis were suppressed following a single injection of AAV encoding IL-1ra into knee joints of rats with LPS-induced arthritis. Surprisingly, disease regulated expression of the transgene was observed (53). AAV encoding soluble TNF α receptor type I decreased synovial cell hyperplasia and cartilage and bone destruction in human TNF- α transgenic mice injected intra-articularly with the virus (54). Intra-articular or peri-articular delivery of AAV encoding IL-4 in CIA mice was also shown to decrease paw swelling, protect from cartilage destruction and delay the onset of CIA (55, 56). A vIL-10 transgene delivered by AAV under control of a tetracycline inducible promoter decreased the incidence and severity of CIA on a macroscopic, radiologic, and histologic level (57). More recently, angiostatin, an antiangiogenic molecule, was demonstrated to efficiently decrease development of CIA in the treated joint when delivered by AAV (58).

AAV vectors are in clinical trials for the treatment of several diseases and preliminary results are promising (59). Targeted Genetics is currently conducting a phase I clinical trial (13G01; identifier NCT00126724) to assess the safety of using an AAV2 vector to deliver a soluble TNF receptor-Fc fusion gene in rheumatoid arthritis patients.

1.4. Candidate genes

After selecting a suitable vector for gene transfer studies, the next most important factor is the choice of the transgene that the vector will be used deliver. As mentioned above, RA is a multi-factorial disease. This provides a wide range of candidate genes with the potential to successfully treat RA. Several different strategies have been employed. Inhibitors of cytokines act to down-regulate inflammation. Immune deviation attempts to modulate the self-destructive immune response that is characteristic of autoimmune diseases like RA. Apoptosis-promoting transgenes help curb the hyper-proliferating and destructive pannus of tissue in the joint. Antiangiogenic factors aim to prevent the neovascularization of the proliferating pannus. Other strategies target matrix degradation enzymes or the NFkB transcription factor. Each approach is discussed in detail below.

1.4.1. Inhibitors of cytokines

1.4.1.1. Inhibitiors of IL-1β

Several gene transfer strategies have been aimed at neutralizing the effects of IL-1 β . IL-1 β communicates with many different cell types in the joint. Its action on these cells leads to emigration of blood cells to the synovium, increased cartilage destruction, and increased production of other key chemokines and pro-inflammatory mediators by other cell types, including macrophages, B cells, and T cells (8). Neutralization of this key cytokine has proven beneficial in the treatment of RA. The use of gene transfer to block the effects of this cytokine is supported by several animal models.

Primary and recurrent arthritis were suppressed following a single injection of AAV encoding IL-1ra into knee joints of rats with LPS-induced arthritis (53). Adenoviral vectors encoding IL-1ra proved more effective at reducing cartilage matrix degradation and decreasing leukocyte infiltration into the joint space than vectors encoding a soluble type I TNF receptor-IgG fusion protein when injected into the knees of rabbits with antigen induced arthritis (14). Intramuscular injection of plasmid DNA encoding IL-1ra has also been shown to decrease paw swelling and arthritis incidence in a CIA mouse model. Reduced synovitis and cartilage erosion were also seen (27, 60). In a rat model of bacterial cell wall induced arthritis, rat synoviocytes were modified *ex vivo* using a retroviral vector to express IL-1ra. When injected into ankle joints prior to reactivation of arthritis, a decreased severity of arthritis and attenuated destruction of cartilage and bone was observed (61).

In a SCID mouse model, human RA FLS transduced with retrovirus encoding IL-1ra coimplanted with normal human cartilage was able prevent progressive cartilage degradation compared to controls (62). 3T3 mouse fibroblasts transfected with plasmid encoding IL-1ra were able to prevent onset of CIA and cartilage destruction when injected into knee joints of CIA mice (13). Similar effects on arthritis were seen in a rabbit model of antigen-induced arthritis in which a retroviral vector carrying the IL-1ra gene was used to tranduce rabbit fibroblasts *ex vivo*, with subsequent injection of the cells into the knee joint (16). More recently, the soluble form of interleukin-1 receptor accessory protein (sIL-1RAcP) was delivered to CIA mice either using an adenoviral vector or by injection of plasmid transfected 3T3 cells. In both instances a profound prophylactic effect on the development of CIA was observed (63).

1.4.1.2. Inhibitors of TNF-α

TNF α is another pro-inflammatory cytokine that plays a key role in the pathogenesis of RA. Many of this cytokine's effects overlap those of IL-1 β listed above. Currently, one of the most successful treatment strategies for RA, Enbrel (Immunex Corporation), is aimed at neutralizing TNF α . Treatment with Enbrel requires subcutaneous injections twice weekly. A gene tranfer vector encoding this molecule has the potential to only require only one or very infrequent administration, an obvious benefit over the existing regimen. After one injection at onset of CIA, intramuscular electro-transfer of plasmids encoding soluble TNF receptor I variants led to a decrease in clinical and histological signs of CIA (25). Expression lasted up to five weeks and was as least as efficient as repeated injections of the recombinant protein etanercept in controlling the disease. A similar study using a retroviral vector to deliver the trangene peri-articularly saw similar results and also observed a decrease in systemic levels of IgG2a antibodies to collagen type II (64). Electro-transfer of a plasmid encoding a soluble p75 TNF receptor:Fc fusion protein was also beneficial in a CIA model and was associated with a decrease in the levels of IL-1 β and IL-12 in the paw (26). Another study using electrotransfer of a plasmid with a doxycycline-regulated promoter to control expression of a dimeric soluble TNF receptor II molecule saw a therapeutic effect on CIA only when doxycycline was administered (65). In TNF- α transgenic mice, intra-articular delivery of soluble TNF receptor I by adenoassociated virus led to a decrease in synovial cell hyperplasia and lead to a decrease in cartilage and bone destruction (54).

Splenocytes from arthritic DBA-1 mice can passively transfer collagen type II-induced arthritis when injected into SCID recipients. If these splenocytes were first modified *ex vivo* using retroviral vectors to express soluble p75 tumor necrosis factor receptor, the SCID recipients did not develop arthritis, bone erosion, or joint inflammation (66, 67). Delivery of a rat TNF receptor:Fc fusion protein in a streptococcal cell wall-induced arthritis model by either plasmid or local or systemic adminstration of AAV vectors encoding the molecule led to decreased inflammation, pannus formation, bone and joint destruction, and mRNA expression of joint pro-inflammatory cytokines (22). Adenoviral delivery of a soluble TNF receptor type I-IgG fusion protein directly to rabbit knees with antigen-induced arthritis reduced cartilage matrix degradation and decreased leukocyte infiltration into the joint space, especially when administerd in conjunction with a soluble IL-1 type I receptor-IgG fusion protein (14). The above animal model data has led to the initiation of a phase I clinical trial using AAV vectors to deliver soluble TNF Receptor:Fc fusion protein (Targeted Genetics).

1.4.1.3. Inhibitors of IL-18

IL-18 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that is over-expressed in the synovium of RA patients and correlates with inflammation. Elevated levels of this cytokine are also observed in serum and synovial fluid. Over-expression of an IL-18 binding protein using an adenoviral vector was able to ameliorate arthritis in a CIA model, indicating neutralization of IL-18 may be an effective target in the future treatment of RA (68).

1.4.2. Immune Deviation

An imbalance between Th1 and Th2 cytokines is thought to play a role in the pathogenesis of several inflammatory diseases, including RA. Th1 cells secrete cytokines like IFN- γ that promote a pro-inflammatory environment, while Th2 cytokines secrete cytokines like

14

IL-4, IL-10, and IL-13 that down regulate Th1 activity. Skewing the immune response from a Th1 response to more of a Th2 response has been suggested as a therapeutic strategy in the treatment of RA. Other strategies aimed at altering the immune response in RA are also discussed.

1.4.2.1. IL-13

IL-13 inhibits activated monocytes/macrophages from secreting a variety of proinflammatory molecules. A possible role for this cytokine in the pathogenesis of RA was observed when adenoviral delivery of IL-13 to RA synovial tissues explants led to a decrease in IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-8, MCP-1, NAP-78, PGE₂, and MIP-1 α when compared to controls (69). Subsequent studies demonstrated that adenoviral delivery of IL-13 directly to ankle joints in a rat antigen-induced arthritis model significantly decreased paw size, bone destruction, vascularization, inflammatory cell infiltration, and inflammatory cytokine production (70). IL-13 over-expression during immune-complex-mediated arthritis significantly decreased chondrocyte death and MMP mediated cartilage destruction, despite the presence of enhanced inflammation (71).

1.4.2.2. IL-4

Adenoviral delivery of IL-4 to RA synovial tissue explants demonstrated decrease IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-8, MCP-1, and PGE₂ in the cultured medium (72). Intra-articular delivery of adenoviral vectors encoding IL-4 to CIA mice led to an enhanced onset of inflammation but less chondrocyte death and cartilage and bone erosion. Proteoglycan synthesis was enhanced and there was decreased MMP activity (73). IL-17, IL-12, cathepsin K and osteoprotegrin ligand mRNA levels were also reduced (74, 75). Kim *et. al.* observed similar effects on CIA upon local and systemic administration of adenoviral vectors encoding IL-4 (76). AAV-mediated delivery

of IL-4 has also proven beneficial in CIA (55, 56). Electro-transfer of an IL-4 encoding plasmid prior to CIA onset decreased synovitis and cartilage destruction, with an associated decrease in IL-1 β in the paw and an increased TIMP2:MMP2 ratio (30). Similar results were seen using either gene gun delivery or intra-dermal administration of plasmid encoding IL-4 (77). Both retroviral and adenoviral delivery of IL-4 in a rat antigen-induced arthritis model had beneficial effects (73, 78). Cell based therapies that deliver IL-4 in arthritis models have also been successful. Injection of fibroblast transfected with plasmid encoding IL-4 decreased histologic evidence of joint inflammation and destruction in a CIA model (79, 80). Likewise, collagen type II pulsed antigen presenting cells engineered to secret IL-4 down-regulated CIA (81).

1.4.2.3. IL-10

IL-10 has demonstrated benefit in several animal models of RA. Either intramuscular administration via electro-transfer or intra-dermal injection of plasmid encoding IL-10 had beneficial effects on CIA (32, 36). Similarly, systemic administration of a plasmid IL-10/liposome mixture decreased signs of CIA after a single intra-peritoneal injection (35).

Viral IL-10 (vIL-10) is homologous to human and mouse IL-10 but, while retaining its immunosuppressive function, lacks many of the immunostimulatory properties of IL-10, and therefore may be a superior treatment option (82). An adenoviral vector encoding vIL-10 was able to decrease CIA when delivered locally or systemically (15, 83, 84). Electrotransfer of viral IL-10 decreased histologic evidence of arthritis in an arthrogen collagen-induced arthritis model and was associated with decreased TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 transcripts in the joint (31). A tet-inducible vIL-10 transgene delivered by AAV was able to decrease macroscopic, radiology, and histologic signs of CIA only when doxycycline was administered (57).

1.4.2.4. TGF-β

TGF- β is a pleiotropic cytokine with many different effects on many different cell types and has been suggested to play a role in RA. While some of its effects, like immunosuppression, would appear to be beneficial for RA, it has also been associated with pro-inflammatory activity. Not surprisingly, data from animal models using gene transfer support both possibilities, making its true role in RA difficult to decipher. Splenocytes from CIA mice were isolated and infected ex vivo with a retroviral vector encoding TGF-β. These cells were then injected in the intraperitoneal cavity 5 days after arthritis onset. Without TGF- β expression, an exacerbation of arthritis is normally observed. However, TGF- β expressing splenocytes were able to inhibit this exacerbation and also resulted in a decrease in MMP2 activity and a transient reduction in anticollagen type II antibodies (85). In a rat streptococcal cell wall-induced arthritis model, intramuscular delivery of plasmid encoding TGF-B showed significant decreases in inflammatory cell infiltration, pannus formation, bone and joint destruction, and inflammatory cytokine production (28). In contrast to the reports above, another study found that injection of adenovirus encoding TGF- β into knees of rabbits with antigen-induced arthritis resulted in significant pathology in the knee joint and surrounding tissue, suggesting TGF- β therapy may not be suitable for treating arthritis in some models (86).

1.4.2.5. CTLA-4Ig

CTLA-4Ig fusion protein binds to the co-stimulatory molecules B7-1 and B7-2 present on antigen-presenting cells and blocks CD28/B7 interactions, resulting in decreased T cell activation. It has been shown to ameliorate several experimental autoimmune diseases, including CIA. A single intravenous injection of an adenovirus encoding CTLA-4Ig fusion protein suppressed established CIA as least as efficiently as repeated injections of monoclonal antibody to CTLA-4. Pathogenic cellular and humoral responses were also diminished in adenoviral vector treated group as compared to antibody treated and control groups (87). CIA could also be inhibited both histologically and clinically by intra-articular administration of a low dose of adenovirus encoding CTLA-4Ig fusion protein (88).

1.4.3. Promoting Apoptosis

One of the key features of RA is the hyper-proliferation of the synovial lining leading to pannus formation, which has been shown to contribute to cartilage invasiveness and bone destruction. Decreasing proliferation of these cells by promoting their apoptosis has been suggested as a treatment strategy for RA (89).

1.4.3.1. TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand

In a rabbit model of arthritis, intra-articular adenoviral delivery of TNF-related apoptosisinducing ligand (TRAIL) was able to increase apoptosis in the syovial cell lining, decrease inflammatory cell infiltration, and promote new matrix deposition (90). CIA mice injected with collagen type II-pulsed antigen presenting cells engineered to express TRAIL under control of a doxycycline inducible promoter decreased the incidence of arthritis and infiltration of T cells in the joint only in the presence of doxycycline. *In situ* TUNEL staining demonstrated TRAILinduced apoptosis of activated T cells in the spleen (91).

1.4.3.2. Fas ligand

Injection of adenovirus expressing Fas ligand (FasL) into joints of CIA mice induced apoptosis and ameliorated CIA. IFN- γ production by collagen-specific T cells was also reduced (92). *Ex vivo* modified T cells engineered to express FasL were injected into human RA synovial tissue that had been implanted in SCID mice. Analysis of the tissue following treatment demonstrated that synoviocytes and mononuclear cells present in the tissue had been eliminated

by apoptosis through a Fas/FasL interaction (93). Similar results were observed when adenovirus encoding FasL was injected directly into the implanted tissue (94). Dendritic cells modified to by adenoviral vectors to express FasL were able to suppress CIA when systemically injected and also demonstrated decreased IFN- γ production from spleen-derived lymphocytes and decreased T-cell proliferation in response to collagen stimulation (95).

1.4.3.3. Fas-associated death domain protein

Fas-associated death domain protein (FADD) also plays a key role in Fas-mediated apoptosis of synovial cells. It was found that adenoviral vector expression FADD could induce apoptosis in synoviocytes both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, suggesting this strategy may be effective in the treatment of RA (96).

1.4.4. Anti-angiogenis

Hyper-proliferation of the synovial lining is also associated with neo-vascularization in the local environment of the joint. This angiogenesis is necessary for the development and maintenance of the pannus and also provides nutrients required for the survival and proliferation of infiltrating inflammatory cells (97, 98). A peptide targeted to the integrins present in the inflamed synovium and associated with angiogenesis was fused to an anti-apoptotic peptide. Systemic administration of this fusion peptide in a CIA model resulted in decreased clinical arthritis and increased apoptosis of synovial blood vessels (99). 3T3 fibroblasts modified with retroviral vectors to express angiostatin were able to decrease pannus formation and cartilage erosion when injected into knee joints of mice with CIA. Arthritis-associated angiogenesis was also inhibited (100). AAV and HIV vector-mediated delivery of angiostatin to CIA knee joints were similarly beneficial (48, 58). The potent anti-angiogenic factor endostatin was able to decrease arthritis and reduce blood vessel density in a human TNF-transgenic mouse model of arthritis when delivered to knee joints using a lentiviral vector (47).

Tie2 has also been demonstrated to play a role in angiogenesis in arthritis. Adenoviral delivery of a soluble receptor for Tie2 resulted in a decreased incidence and severity of CIA, inhibition of angiogenesis, and was associated with decreased bone destruction that appeared to result from a decrease in RANKL (101). VEGF is another angiogenic factor that promotes synovitis and bone destruction in arthritis. When soluble VEGF receptor I was administered via adenoviral vectors to CIA mice, disease activity was suppressed significantly (102). Thrombospondins (TSP1 and 2) have also been shown to inhibit angiogenesis and also decrease pro-inflammatory cytokine production in animal models of arthritis (103, 104). In addition, adenoviral gene transfer of a urokinase plasminogen inhibitor was also able to inhibit angiogenesis in a CIA model (105).

1.4.5. Targeting Matrix Degradation Enzymes

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) degrade extra-cellular matrix components and have been demonstrated to contribute to cartilage degradation in RA. Ribozymes and an anti-sense construct targeting the destruction of MMP-1 delivered to RA synovial fibroblasts via retroviral vectors decreased MMP-1 production and reduced the invasiveness of the fibroblasts in a SCID mouse model of RA, suggesting this may be an effective approach to inhibiting cartilage destruction in RA (106, 107).

Another strategy that has proven successful is to increase the ratio of tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases (TIMPs) to MMPs. In a rat antigen-induced arthritis model, intramuscular injection of naked DNA encoding TIMP-4 completely abolished the development of the disease (33). Likewise, adenoviral delivery of TIMP-1 and TIMP-3 to RA synovial
fibroblasts significantly decreased their invasiveness both in vitro and in an in vivo SCID mouse model of RA. These molecules were found to act by both decreasing MMP production and reducing cell proliferation (108).

1.4.6. Targeting NFκB

The transcription factor NF κ B plays a significant role in the activation of many cytokines that contribute to the pathogenesis of RA. As such, inhibition of this factor could lead to therapeutic benefit in RA. Injection of decoy oligodeoxynucleotides with high-affinity for NF κ B into ankle joints of CIA rats significantly decreased joint swelling and joint destruction. The levels of the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α and IL-1 β were also decreased in the treated joints (109). Another group found that inhibiting NF κ B in RA synovial fibroblasts using an adenovirus to deliver a dominant negative inhibitor of NF κ B led to an increase in apoptosis upon stimulation with TNF α . These cells are normally resisitant to apoptosis when stimulated with TNF α , suggesting that this strategy may be beneficial in the treatment of RA (110).

1.4.7. Other candidate genes

Other molecules that have been demonstrated to play a role in arthritis using gene transfer in various *in vitro* or animal models are Csk (inhibitor of Src activity that suppresses bone destruction in rat adjuvant arthritis), cathepsin L (targeted destruction of cathepsin L by ribozymes is beneficial in SCID/RA tissue coimplantation model), fibronectin (inhibits leukocyte infiltration and suppresses inflammation in CIA), galectin-1 (suppresses CIA via T cell apoptosis), IFN- β (ameliorates CIA by suppressing IFN- γ , TNF, and IL-12 production), p16INK (induction of p16INK in rat adjuvant arthritis prevented pathology), p21 (adenoviral delivery ameliorated rat adjuvant arthritis), SOCS3 (adenoviral delivery of SOCS3 was beneficial in CIA), soluble CR1 (delivery by retrovirally infected syngeneic cells or naked DNA suppressed CIA), superoxide dismutase and catalase (amelioration of antigen-induced arthritis in rats and CIA in mice), and Ras (dominant negative ras suppresses bone destruction in rat adjuvant arthritis). (29, 34, 111-120)

1.5. Future of Gene Therapy for Arthritis

Much progress has been made in the past several years in the use of gene therapy for the treatment of arthritis. However, there is much room for improvement. Future studies will look at improving targeted delivery of vectors, regulating transgene expression, and improving the safety and efficacy of the vectors already in use. Results from clinical trials will hopefully solidify the idea that gene therapy is the future in the treatment of RA.

1.6. AAV biology

1.6.1. AAV structure and genome

Adeno-associated virus is a small, non-enveloped, single-stranded DNA virus with broad tissue tropism. It is a non-pathogenic virus belonging to the *Parvoviridae* family and has a 4.68kb genome. In human and non-human primate tissues eleven different serotypes of AAV (1-11) have been isolated and characterized. Serotypes are defined by the inability of antibodies against a specific viral capsid to neutralize the viral capsid of another serotype. If a specific isolate can be neutralized by existing serum to a serotype but still contains differences within the sequence of the viral capsid, it is considered a sub-type or variant of that serotype. In addition, mutations can be made to an existing viral capsid, altering the ability of existing antibodies to neutralize the virus. Many of these mutants have not been tested against a panel of antibodies to all known serotypes and are generally termed hybrid serotypes. AAV has also been isolated from several other species, including cow, chicken, sheep, snake, lizard, and goat (121). Of the eleven serotypes, AAV2 is the best characterized.

Wild type AAV normally requires a helper virus such as adenovirus or herpesvirus to produce active infection. The viral genome consists of two viral genes, *rep* and *cap*, flanked on both sides by a 145 base pair inverted terminal repeat (ITR). The viral ITRs are the only *cis*-acting elements necessary for viral replication and packaging. Four rep proteins are necessary for viral replication (Rep78, Rep68, Rep52, and Rep40). Two promoters and alternative splicing are used to generate the viral Rep proteins. Another promoter drives expression of the three viral capsid proteins (VP1, VP2, and VP3), which are made through the use of alternative splicing and alternative translation start codons. The three proteins are combined in a ratio of 1:1:20 of VP1, VP2, and VP3, respectively, to generate a virus with an icosahedral capsid that is 26nm in diameter (122, 123).

1.6.2. Site-specific integration

In the absence of helper virus, latent infection can be established by site specific integration into the AAVS1 locus of human chromosome 19 (124, 125). The host and viral requirements for integration have been defined. A 34bp sequence on chromosome 19 is sufficient to mediate integration (126, 127). For the virus, Rep protein expression and a sequence in the p5 promoter region are required (128-130). Integration has been associated with duplications, deletions, and amplification at the AAVSI locus (131, 132).

Although site-specific integration has been observed in cultured cells, no study has ever demonstrated site-specific integration in human tissues. There is one report of an integration event in the AAVS1 locus in non-human primates (133). In fact, it appears that wild type AAV (similar to recombinant AAV) exists mainly in circular double-stranded episomes in *in vivo* tissue samples. Out of 175 tissues tested (tonsil, spleen, and lung), only 9 tested positive for AAV. No samples were found to have integration of the AAV genome into chromosome 19. Only one sample demonstrated an integration event, which was in chromosome 1 (134). A large scale *in vitro* analysis in normal human fibroblast cells using a shuttle vector system to identify vector-chromosome integration junctions identified many hot spots for AAV integration in the human genome, including chromosome 19 (135). Portal vein injection of AAV, however, did not appear to predispose mice to tumor formation in a large scale study (136). Another study in HeLa cells revealed that at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 100, 80% of cell lines had AAVSI rearrangements and half of those had integrants. Virtually all integrants appeared to be site-specific (132). Regardless, there is conflicting literature about the frequency and nature of the integration of wild-type AAV both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

1.6.3. Recombinant AAV vectors

Recombinant AAV vectors have been developed for use in gene transfer studies. Vectors are typically produced by the 293 triple transfection method. 293 cells are transfected with three plasmids. One plasmid contains the *rep* and *cap* genes and another contains a transgene flanked by viral ITRs. The viral ITRs contain the signals necessary for packaging of the transgene into the viral capsid. The third plasmid encodes the adenoviral genes necessary for helper virus function. The virus is then harvested from the cells and then purified. The resulting virus is replication incompetent and carries the transgene of choice.

The packaging limit for a single AAV virion is about 5kb, which hinders the ability to use AAV in gene transfer studies, as many genes are much larger than this. However, transsplicing, in which a gene is split into two and tagged with splice donor and acceptor sites, has recently become more efficient and expanded the capacity of AAV to 10kb. Following coinfection, viral genome recombination and splicing allow a full-length gene product to be made. Using this method, both adult and aged *mdx* mice, which have a dystrophic phenotype, demonstrated amelioration of the disease following delivery of the 6kb mini-dystrophin gene to skeletal muscle (137). This approach may help to expand the diseases that recombinant AAV vectors can be used to treat.

Because recombinant vectors lack the *rep* gene, site-specific integration does not occur. Instead, long-term expression appears to be mediated by circular episomal concatamers of double-stranded viral DNA (138). In animal studies, transgene expression from AAV2 vectors has been observed for up to 6 years in rhesus macaques following intramuscular administration (139).

Random integration events into the host chromosome are always of concern in the field of gene therapy because of the possibility of disruption of potential oncogenes, which could lead to the development of cancer. Therefore, determining the frequency of its occurrence is of paramount importance if a vector is to be successfully used in gene therapy.

The relative contribution of episomal and integrated AAV vector genomes to stable transgene expression was examined in an *in vivo* mouse model. Mice were infected with recombinant AAV vectors by portal vein injection, followed by a 2/3 partial hepatectomy 6 weeks to 12 months later. If the vector had integrated stably, transgene expression would be expected to have returned to levels present prior to surgery after subsequent hepatocellular regeneration. However, in this study transgene levels were reduced by 90%, indicating that episomal forms of the vector are primarily responsible for long-term hepatocyte expression *in vivo* (140). Nonetheless, the AAV viral ITRs do appear capable of playing a role in random integration. Adenovirus/AAV hybrid vectors have been developed in which the AAV ITRs flank the transgene. These vectors were demonstrated to integrate randomly in the genome in a AAV ITR-dependent manner (141, 142). Although random integration is not thought to occur with

recombinant AAV vectors, this study suggests that under the right circumstances (i.e. adenovirus co-infection) it may be possible.

1.6.4. Clinical trials with AAV

At least 25 clinical trials using recombinant AAV have been completed, initiated, or proposed. Diseases under study include hemophilia, cystic fibrosis, Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, Canavan disease, and arthritis, among others (143). To date, all trials have utilized AAV2, although future studies are likely to include other serotypes.

1.6.5. AAV tropism

The first step in AAV infection is viral binding to the cell surface via high affinity cellular receptors. Different serotypes of AAV infect different cell types based on the availability of their respective receptors and co-receptors. This is demonstrated by the wide variability in the tropism of the different serotypes of AAV in different cell types and in different species. Several examples are discussed below.

1.6.5.1. Intraspecies variation

AAV6 gave more efficient transduction of mouse epithelial cells in both large and small airways than AAV2 (144). When injected into day 15 fetuses *in utero*, AAV5 encoding luciferase provided higher expression than AAV2 when the mice were examined 15 months after birth (145). Following sub-retinal injection in mice, AAV5 proved more efficient in transducing photoreceptor cells than AAV2 (146). AAV2, AAV4, and AAV5 demonstrated different tropism after injection into the mouse central nervous system. AAV4 and 5 gave 10-fold more transgene positive ependymal cells than AAV2 afer injection into the lateral ventricle of mice. After striatal injection, AAV4 demonstrated mainly ependymal cell transgene expression, but no expression was detected in the parenchyma. In contrast AAV2 and 5 both had transgene expression in parenchymal cells following striatal injection, with AAV2 transgene expression confined mainly to neurons, while for AAV5 transgene expression was detected in both neurons and astrocytes. In addition, 15 weeks after injection, AAV5 gave 5000-fold higher expression than AAV2 (147).

There were distinct patterns of transduction in the gerbil hippocampus using either AAV2 or AAV5, with AAV2 infecting pyramidal and granular cells and AAV5 infecting primarily granular cells (148). Differential transduction and cell tropism was also observed after injection of AAV serotypes 1, 2, and 5 into different regions of the rat brain (149). AAV3 could infect human myeloid and megakaryocytic cells that were resistant to infection with AAV2 (150).

A thorough examination of AAV2 transduction in primary human cells demonstrated significant cell-specific differences in transduction and duration of transgene expression. In particular, skeletal muscle and hair-follicle cells appeared suited for long-term expression of AAV. In some cell types, expression improved over time. In other cell types, expression went down over time. There was an inverse relationship between long-term trangene expression and the proportion of cells in the G2/M phase, consistent with the idea that most of the viral genome is present as episomes that are diluted out between cells as they divide (151).

There was also significant donor variation in AAV2 transduction in bone marrow derived CD34-positive cells of healthy volunteers. There was significant variability in transgene expression depending on the level of cellular differentiation. This has implications for the use of AAV in gene therapy involving hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells (152).

1.6.5.2. Interspecies variation

Mouse and human airway epithelia demonstrate species-specific differences in AAV transduction, highlighting that the serotype of AAV best suited for animal model studies may not

be the same serotype that will work best in human and nonhuman primate models. AAV2 and AAV5 gave approximately equal transduction of human airway epithelia, while AAV5 gave much higher transduction than AAV2 in mouse lung (153). Cross-packaging of AAV2 vector genomes with viral capsids from different serotypes demonstrated that the resulting viruses enabled transduction with broad and differing specificity. In addition, it was readily apparent that different target tissues of rats and mice had a different hierarchy of serotypes for efficient transduction (154).

1.6.6. Viral Receptors

Membrane associated heparan sulfate proteoglycan (HSPG) is the primary attachment receptor for AAV2, although other proteoglycans may be involved as well (155, 156). Fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 (FGFR1), $\alpha_v\beta_5$ integrin, and the hepatocyte growth factor receptor c-Met have all been identified as co-receptors for AAV2 (157-159). Receptors for some other AAV serotypes have also been identified (Table 1). Unlike AAV2, AAV4 and AAV5 are insensitive to heparin competition, suggesting they enter cells via a distinct receptor. Both viruses have been demonstrated to bind to sialic acid, although the tropism of these viruses is distinct. For AAV5, binding to α_2 ,3-linked sialic acid is required for efficient transduction (160). Kaludov et. al. demonstrated that α_2 ,3 O-linked sialic acid is required of AAV4 binding, while α_2 ,3 N-linked sialic acid is required for AAV5 binding, could account for the differences in tropism between these two viruses (161). Platelet derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR) has also been identified as a cellular receptor for AAV5 (162). The remainder of the discussion on the infectious entry pathway of AAV will focus on AAV2. Table 1. Receptors for Different Serotypes of AAV.

Virus	Receptor	Co-receptor
AAV2	Heparan Sulfate Proteoglycan	$\alpha_{v}\beta_{5}$ integrin, fibroblast growth factor receptor type 1 (FGFR), and hepatocyte growth factor receptor (HGFR)
AAV4	α 2,3 O-linked sialic acid	
AAV5	α 2,3 N-linked sialic acid, α 2,6-linked sialic acid	PDGFRα

1.6.7. Viral entry and intracellular trafficking

1.6.7.1. Receptor-mediated endocytosis

Entry of AAV into HeLa cells is dependent on dynamin, a GTPase involved in the clathrin-mediated internalization of plasma membrane receptors and their ligands, indicating that the primary pathway of AAV entry into cells is endocytosis via clathrin-coated pits (163, 164). Internalization of AAV2 also requires activation of the small GTP-binding protein Rac1. Subsequent activation of PI3K is necessary to initiate intracellular trafficking of AAV2 to the nucleus via microfilaments and microtubules (165).

1.6.7.2. Endosomal Trafficking

Once the virus enters the cell via endocytosis, the exact nature of its path to the nucleus is somewhat controversial. Bafilomycin A1 is a specific inhibitor of the vacuolar protein pump that inhibits acidification of the endosome. In HeLa and 293 cells, the presence of bafilomycin A1 significantly impaired AAV transduction, demonstrating the importance of the acidification of the late endosome for viral escape into the cytoplasm (164, 166). Likewise, ammonium chloride, which increases the pH of intracellular organelles, prevented gene transduction when

present during the first 30 minutes after endocytosis, again demonstrating a requirement for an acidic environment for escape into the cytoplasm (164). However, in the glioma cell line LN-229, which, like HeLa and 293 cells, is highly permissive for AAV transduction, bafilomycin A1 had little effect. This is despite the fact that viral localization within the cell appears identical to that of HeLa and 293 cells, with perinuclear localization occurring by 1hr after infection (167). This suggests that in glioma cells the infectious entry pathway is independent of late endosomal acidification. It should be noted that within 30 minutes after infection in HeLa and LN-229 cells some virus can also be seen in the trans-Golgi, an effect that was seen only at low multiplicity of infections (MOIs) (167). AAV5 has also been observed to traffic to the trans-Golgi in HeLa cells (168).

In another study in HeLa cells, AAV was observed to enter the cell rapidly and localized to early endosomes. The virus then escaped quickly from the early endosomes and entered the cytoplasm, where it quickly accumulated perinuclearly (169). Real time single molecule imaging of Cy5 labeled AAV particles in HeLa cells also revealed that virus was endocytosed quickly and became localized in endosomes. The virus moved in a directed fashion towards the nucleus dependent on the microtubule motor proteins kinesin and dynein, although a significant fraction of virus was also found to be free-floating in the cytoplasm shortly after infection (170).

To clarify these somewhat contradictory data, further studies using imaging and subcellular fractionation techniques were performed to examine the intracellular trafficking of AAV2 in HeLa cells in further detail. AAV2 was found to be directed to either late endosomes or recycling endosomes in a dose-dependent fashion. At low MOI, most of the AAV could be found in the late endosomal compartment. At higher MOIs, most of the virus was found in recycling endosomes (171). This suggests that the route of viral trafficking is dependent on the amount of virus that enters the cell.

The amount of virus entering each cell would be dependent on several factors, the most important of which are the level of viral receptor on the cell surface and the rate of endocytosis. Differences in receptor levels and endocytosis rates, therefore, could account for the differences in viral trafficking observed between different cells infected at the same multiplicity of infection (i.e. HeLa and LN-229 cells). The importance of endocytic processing of AAV is highlighted by studies of AAV infection of mouse 3T3 fibroblasts, which are less permissive for AAV transduction. In these cells, it has been demonstrated that virus fails to enter the nucleus due to altered endocytic processing (172). In fact, direct labeling and tracking of single-stranded AAV genomes using BrdU demonstrated that intracellular trafficking, not second-strand synthesis, appeared to be rate-limiting for AAV transduction in HeLa cells (173). Differences in endosomal processing and nuclear trafficking of AAV2 were also observed in human airway epithelia depending on whether it was internalized on the apical or basolateral surface (174).

In HeLa cells, both AAV2 and AAV5 capsids appear to be substrates for ubiquitination and subsequent degradation by the proteasome. However, it appears that the capsid must first be modified in the endosome before it can be conjugated with ubiquitin, as intact virions are not substrates for ubiquitination *in vitro*. The exact nature of this modification remains unknown (175). The proteasome inhibitor zLLL increased transduction in HeLa cells up to 50-fold, resulting in an accumulation of viral genomes within the cell (166).

1.6.7.3. Nuclear trafficking

Following escape into the cytosol, AAV accumulates perinuclearly as early as 15-30 minutes after induction of endocytosis (164, 170). In general, translocation into the nucleus

appears to be a slow process. Most of the intact virus was observed in a peri-nuclear location and within nuclear invaginations but not in the nucleus. Viral genomes, meanwhile were readily visible within the nucleus, suggesting that uncoating probably occurs before or during nuclear entry (176). However, there are reports of intact virus entering the nucleus prior to uncoating (164). This may be possible because the nuclear pore size is approximately the same as the diameter of AAV, which may allow for diffusion of some intact virus across the nuclear membrane. In general, transport of virus into the nucleus appears to be an active process, that like trafficking within the cytoplasm, is dependent on dynein and kinesin. Although microtubules and their associated motor proteins were not previously known to be present in the nucleoplasm, it has been demonstrated that tubular structures formed by invagination of the nuclear membrane exist and even transect the nucleus. Because the core of these channels is continuous with the cytoplasm, it is possible that microtubules could polymerize within them (170).

In the presence of adenovirus intact AAV particles can rapidly enter the nucleus soon after infection. Nuclear transport in the presence of adenovirus appears to be independent of the nuclear pore complex (NPC), as the NPC inhibitor thapsigargan had no effect on translocation of AAV to the nucleus (169). This is consistent with studies using intact, purified nuclei from both permissive and less permissive cell types in which AAV was observed to enter nuclei in a time and temperature dependent manner. This process was also independent of the nuclear pore complex and intact virus could enter the nucleus. The purified nuclei appear to have all the machinery necessary for uncoating and second-strand synthesis (177).

Uncoating itself must not be understated, however, as in mouse liver, AAV transduction appears to be limited by the rate of uncoating of the virus particles in the nucleus (178). The

VP1 capsid protein contains phospholipaseA2 (PLA2) activity that is required for efficient transduction of HeLa cells. Mutations in this region do not affect viral packaging, cell binding or entry, but appear to affect a step after perinuclear accumulation of the virus but prior to early gene expression, perhaps uncoating (179).

Once the viral genome is in the nucleus, second-strand synthesis must occur before transcription and subsequent gene expression can occur. The AAV ITR contains a self-priming mechanism, which, in combination with cellular factors, facilitates second-strand synthesis and results in a double-stranded template that is nicked on one end. Several genotoxic agents have been shown to increase AAV transduction by increasing second-strand synthesis, suggesting that this is a rate-limiting step in AAV transduction (180, 181). Self-complementary or double-stranded AAV vectors, which bypass the need for second-strand synthesis, have been developed and provide for rapid and efficient transduction in several cell types both *in vitro* and *in vivo* that is superior to single-stranded vectors (52, 182, 183). Self-complementary duplex strand AAV vectors have also demonstrated better transgene expression than single-stranded vectors in mouse muscle *in vivo*, especially at early time periods (184).

Although second-strand synthesis has been suggested to be rate-limiting for stable and persistent expression from recombinant AAV vectors *in vitro* and *in vivo*, there is evidence that complementary strands can also be generated not by synthesis but by intracellular recruitment of plus and minus single stranded AAV genomes. It appears that these forms may be primarily responsible for stable *in vivo* transduction and that intermolecular joining, not genome amplification, is responsible for concatemer formation in hepatocytes *in vivo* (185).

1.6.7.4. Summary

The pathway of AAV infection has been examined in many cell types by several different methods. Many factors, including MOI, cell type, receptor expression, etc., appear to affect the pathway of AAV infection. The data gathered to date are summarized below (Figure 1). In brief, AAV binds to it primary receptor (HSPG) and co-receptor on the cell surface and is internalized by receptor-mediated endocytosis via clathrin-coated pits. Rac1 and PI3K activity are required for intra-cellular movement towards the nucleus. Viral movement within the cell is dependent on microtubules. At low MOI, most of the virus traffics to the late endosomes. At high MOI, virus preferentially traffics to the recycling endosomes. There is evidence that virus can escape from early, late, and recycling endosomes. The primary signal for escape into the cytoplasm appears to be acidification of the endosome, although other factors may play a role. Once the virus escapes into the cytoplasm it becomes ubiquitinated and can be degraded by the proteasome. Presumably, some virus evades the proteasome and traffics to the nucleus by a mechanism that appears to be independent of the nuclear pore complex. The virus becomes uncoated, most likely during nuclear transport, a process that is also dependent on the microtubule network of proteins. Once the viral genome is within the nucleus, a double-stranded form of the genome must be generated, either by second strand synthesis or binding to a complementary stranded genome, before transcription can occur.



Figure 1: Summary of the pathway of AAV infection.

1.6.8. Antibodies to AAV

1.6.8.1. Prevalence of antibodies to AAV

One concern about the use of viral vectors in gene therapy is the formation of neutralizing antibodies to the vector, which could prevent successful administration or readministration. This is especially a concern for AAV, because although it is a non-pathogenic virus, seropositivity is widespread. Anti-AAV antibodies were found in 80% of normal human subjects, while 18% had neutralizing antibodies (186). In another study, anti-AAV antibodies were present in 96% of patients, with 35% having neutralizing antibodies (187). Antibodies are present in populations across Europe, Asia, and North America, indicating worldwide infection. The presence of anti-AAV antibodies peaks in children and subsequently declines. Another peak occurs after age 30. Interestingly, pregnant women also have a higher titer of anti-AAV antibodies (188).

1.6.8.2. Effects of AAV antibodies on transduction

Several studies have been performed to examine the effect of the presence of anti-AAV antibodies on successful AAV transduction. Passive human antibody administration (pooled intravenous immunoglobulin samples) to SCID mice was able to prevent liver transduction by AAV at even very low titers, suggesting that alternative routes of administration or use of different AAV serotypes from primate or non-primate sources may be necessary if repeated administration of the vector is desired (189). The feasibility of this approach was tested in the rat brain where presence of circulating antibodies to wild-type AAV2 could prevent successful gene transfer using recombinant AAV2, but did not prevent recombinant AAV5-mediated transduction (190). Another possibility is the use of polyethylene glycol to coat the capsid (PEGylation), which has been demonstrated to prevent neutralization of adenovirus and allow transgene expression upon readministration of the vector. Using tresyl chloride PEGylation of AAV, levels of transgene expression were comparable to naïve animals after intravenous readministration of virus, but not after readministration intramuscularly. Therefore this approach may be most successful for AAV transgenes targeted to the liver (191). Another approach is to alter the capsid itself so it is resistant to neutralization. In fact, mutations in the AAV2 capsid have been identified that lead to reduced affinity and neutralization effects of anti-AAV serum antibodies (186, 192).

There are several factors that appear to influence the exact nature of the immune response to AAV vectors. The route of administration determined the T-cell independent humoral

36

responses to AAV vectors in mice (193). In another study, non-human primates were injected with wild type AAV intramuscularly, intravenously, or intranasally. Only animals injected intramuscularly or intravenously developed a humoral response, although co-infection with helper adenovirus led to a humoral response when administered intranasally along with AAV. Cell-mediated responses to the AAV capsid were only seen in the presence of helper adenovirus (133).

Neutralizing antibodies to AAV persisted for up to one year following intramuscular administration of the vector in mice and non-human primates. The antibody response was T-cell dependent. Re-administration of AAV led to a 4-20 fold reduction in transgene levels in the treated animals. However, this diminution could be effectively prevented by administering a CD4 T cell blocking antibody at the time of the first injection, presumably by avoiding activation of memory B cells (194). In contrast, when AAV is delivered to the liver by intra-portal infusion after the mice were initially immunized with AAV by intravenous injection, no transgene expression could be detected, even if the mice were immunosuppressed with anti-CD40 or anti-CD4 antibodies prior to re-administration of the virus (186). These results also suggest that the route of administration has an effect on the nature of the antibody response to the virus.

In the rabbit airway, repeated delivery of AAV2 continued to result in significant transgene expression, despite high titers of neutralizing antibodies in the serum (195). This is in contrast to another report in which transduction of rabbit airway was minimal and the presence of neutralizing antibodies correlated with an inability to successfully re-administer the virus (196). This difference has been attributed to possible airway trauma because of the technique used or augmentation of the immune response due to contaminating wild type AAV. In the mouse airway, if anti-CD40 ligand antibody and a soluble CTLA4-immunoglobulin fusion

protein were given at the time of primary exposure to the AAV vector, neutralizing antibody production was prevented and the vector could be successfully re-administered (197).

1.6.8.3. Immune response to the transgene

Lastly, the development of an immune response against the transgene itself must also be considered. The immune response to AAV vectors may also depend on the tissue in which the transgene is expressed. The use of AAV vectors with liver-specific promoters appeared to increase transduction in murine liver and decrease formation of neutralizing antibodies to the transgene. In a murine model of Fabry disease, mice treated with these vectors developed tolerance to the transgene, human α -galactosidase A. These mice expressed the transgene at therapeutic levels for up to a year (198).

1.6.8.4. Summary

The studies described above demonstrate the complexity of the immune response to AAV vectors. The route of administration appears to be the main determinant of the response to the vector. However, modifications to the virus (i.e. by mutations) or modulation of the immune response with other agents show promise in ensuring the successful use of AAV in gene therapy.

1.6.9. Controlling expression from AAV vectors

For many gene transfer applications, it is desired to have expression of the transgene only in certain tissues. In other instances regulated expression is important. Both examples are discussed below.

1.6.9.1. Cell type specific promoters

Tissue-specific expression can be achieved with the use of tissue-specific promoters. For example, injection of AAV2 with neuron-specific enolase or PDGF-beta chain promoters led to neuron specific trangene expression in the rat spinal cord, with an absence of detectable glial cell

transduction (199). Use of a PDGF-beta chain promoter led to more expression in dopaminergic neurons and their projections in the rat striatum than using the conventional CMV promoter. Incorporation of the woodchuck post-transcriptional regulatory element (WPRE) also increased transduction (200). AAV2 with expression driven by a myelin-forming promoter demonstrated oligodendrocyte-specific transgene expression both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. After stereotactic injection into mouse brains, expression in oligodendrocytes was primarily confined to the white matter (201, 202).

1.6.9.2. Regulated expression

AAV vectors with regulated expression have several advantages over traditional AAV vectors. For diseases with a recurring/remitting course, expression can be induced during active disease and repressed during remission. Regulated expression also helps to prevent any deleterious side effects that may result from continuous expression of the transgene.

In a murine model of β -thalesemia, mice receiving intramuscular injections of AAV encoding erythropoietin with expression driven from the constituitive CMV promoter developed polycythemia, leading to decreased survival. Only using an AAV vector with expression regulated by administration of the small molecule drug rapamycin could improvements be observed. Still, the animals required a strict titering of rapamycin levels to achieve optimal levels of erythropoietin (203). This highlights the importance of regulation of transgene expression when using gene transfer vectors.

Tetracycline regulated AAV vectors have also been developed. These vectors can either be designed to be turned off in the presence of tetracycline, or be turned on. AAV vectors designed to be turned off in the presence off tetracycline successfully transduced HeLa cells *in vitro* and rat brains *in vivo*, with large increases in transgene expression observed only in the absence of the antibiotic (204). Similar success was attained following intramuscular coinjection of AAV vectors in mice, one encoding erythropoietin and the other encoding the tetracycline transcriptional activator (205).

The main problem with vectors that are turned off in the presence of tetracycline is the requirement for the constant presence of antibiotic when it is desired to turn transgene expression off. Although tetracycline is relatively safe, long-term pharmacologic effects of the drug are a concern. Comparatively, vectors that are turned on in the presence of tetracycline may be more applicable in the clinical setting, especially for diseases that require periods of repeated and intermittent treatment, such as neurodegenerative diseases or RA. In a rat model, stereotactic injections of this "tet-on" AAV vector into the rat brain led to an 80-fold induction of transgene expression upon addition of doxycycline to the diet. Although removal of the antibiotic resulted in a rapid decrease in transgene expression (3 days), induciblility after readministration of the antibiotic took up to 14 days, indicating this vector may not be suitable for diseases in which rapid on/off switching of transgene expression is desired (206).

Lipopolysaccaharride (LPS) also appears to regulate AAV transgene expression. In a rat model of arthritis induced by LPS, it was observed that the inflammation associated with LPS administration significantly and repeatedly enhanced AAV transgene expression in the synovium. Regulation at the level of the CMV promoter, which also drives expression from our AAV vectors, has been implicated in this process (207).

Similarly, in a rabbit model examining AAV transduction of the corneal endothelium, inducible and regulated transgene expression was observed. Upon injection into the ocular anterior chamber of the eye, AAV (with transgene expression controlled by a CMV promoter) demonstrated very little corneal endothelial cell transduction. However, upon administration of

LPS, expression increased dramatically. Upon resolution of inflammation, transgene expression returned to baseline. A second injection of LPS again resulted in a significant increase in transgene expression in the corneal endothelium (208).

1.6.10. Role of the AAV ITR in transgene expression

The AAV ITRs have also been demonstrated to play a role in driving transgene expression. A baculoviral vector with a neuron specific promoter was modified to include AAV inverted terminal repeats (ITRs) flanking a luciferase expression cassette. The resulting vector increased transgene expression in the rat brain from only transient expression to expression lasting longer than 90 days (209). Flanking expression cassettes with AAV ITRs led to increased expression following injection into developing *Xenopus laevis* embryos (210). Injection of genes flanked with AAV ITRs into one-celled zebrafish embryos also resulted in uniform gene expression in the F0 generation and stable transmission to subsequent generations (211). The ITR by itself can also initiate mRNA expression from viral vector templates. The region responsible has been mapped to a 37-nucleotide stretch in the A/D elements of the ITR. This residual transcription may also limit the use of regulated expression cassettes for controlled expression from AAV vectors *in vivo* (212).

1.6.11. Modifying the tropism of AAV by modifying the capsid

AAV can infect a wide range of cell types at varying efficiency. Ideally, AAV vectors could be modified so that directed delivery of genes can be achieved. However, viral receptors like HSPG are widespread and therefore make targeted delivery difficult. In contrast, other cell types lack viral receptors and are resistant to infection. The main viral proteins responsible for binding to cellular viral receptors are the capsid proteins. This virus-cell interaction is the first step of viral infection and is necessary for efficient transgene delivery to the cell. Modification

of the viral capsid has proven important for targeting of AAV to nonpermissive cells, tissues, and organs. The biggest obstacles to this approach have been that capsid mutations often affect viral particle assembly, uncoating of the virus, and/or viral infection rates.

The region of the capsid necessary for heparin binding has been mapped to regions around 509-520 and 580-590. Heparin binding was completely eliminated by insertion of an RGD-4C peptide into two locations in the capsid (at positions 520 and 584). The resulting virus contained novel tropism and could infect cells expressing the cellular integrin receptor, to which the RGD epitope binds (213, 214). Similarly, others found that mutations to R585 and R588 of the capsid eliminated heparin binding (215). Another study defined several capsid mutations that were important for viral transduction and antibody neutralization (216). By inserting a single chain antibody for CD34, a cell surface marker for hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells, into the AAV capsid, a CD34-positive human myoleukemia cell line previously refractory to AAV infection could be efficiently transduced (217). A targeting peptide, L14, which is able to recognize an integrin receptor, was inserted into the capsid, allowing transduction of cells previously resistant to AAV2 infection (218). Another group was able to introduce mutations in the capsid that introduced both affinity for the NMDA receptor and cytoplasmic dynein, allowing both targeting to neuronal axons and facilitating retrograde transport of the virus, providing an efficient and noninvasive method for introducing transgenes into the brain for treatment of neurological disorders (219). AAV mosaics incorporating Protein A into their capsid, along with targeting antibodies, allowed specific transduction of cell types previously resistant to AAV transduction (220).

Endothelial cell targeting peptides were identified by phage display and subsequently inserted into the AAV capsid. The resultant virus specifically targeted endothelial cells both *in*

vitro and *in vivo* (221). Likewise, a insertion of a peptide specific for the human luteinizing hormone receptor targeted ovarian cancer cells in an HSPG-independent manner (222). Introducing a ligand for the low-density lipoprotein receptor (LDL-R) into the capsid of AAV2 allowed targeting to murine islets *in vitro* and hepatocytes *in vivo*, both of which express LDL-R (223).

Using a combinatorial approach to insert random peptides into the capsid at a site known to be amenable to insertions, it was possible to create AAV vectors that could infect cells previously resistant to AAV infection and independent of the wild-type viral receptor, HSPG (224). If AAV is to become a widely used gene transfer vector, this approach highlights the wide adaptability of these vectors for specific targeting to many different cell types.

Targeting of AAV vectors to cells resistant to transduction has also been possible by taking advantage of the high affinity interaction of streptavidin and biotin. The AAV capsid could be labeled with biotin without affecting its natural tropism. By incubating the virus with targeting peptide/streptavidin fusion proteins, the virus could be efficiently targeted to cell types that were previously resistant to AAV transduction, while still retaining natural tropism as well (225).

Modifying the AAV2 capsid by inserting an immunoglobulin binding domain, followed by coupling to various antibodies, could efficiently re-direct AAV2 to cell types previously not permissive for AAV transduction (226). Insertion of tumor targeting peptides into the AAV capsid was able to alter the tropism of the virus to rhabdomyosarcoma cells expressing a receptor for the peptide (227). Likewise, insertion of the serpin receptor ligand into the N-terminus of VP1 or VP2 could alter the tropism of the virus (228). Megakaryocyte cell lines non-permissive for AAV transduction could be targeted with the use of a bispecific Fab antibody, with one arm specific for the AAV capsid and the other for an integrin present on the megakaryocyte lines. Importantly, the targeting substantially reduced the natural tropism of the virus (229).

1.7. Agents that increase AAV transduction

As mentioned above, AAV infects different cell types to varying degrees. Often times, higher expression is desired than what is observed following administration of the virus alone. To this end, several agents have been examined for their ability to increase AAV transduction.

1.7.1. Proteasome inhibitors

Two separate classes of proteasome inhibitors, tripeptidyl aldehydes and anthracycline derivatives, can synergistically augment AAV transduction in human airway epithelia, suggesting these different classes of inhibitors modulate different proteasome functions that mediate AAV transduction (230). In polarized human airway epithelia, the proteasome inhibitor LLnL was able to increase transgene expression after apical infection with AAV2 or AAV5 vectors. Interestingly, basal infection was unaffected by the presence of the proteasome inhibitor. Both wild type or self-complimentary vectors provided similar expression levels, suggesting that second-strand synthesis is not a rate-limiting step of AAV transduction following apical infection of polarized human airway epithelia (231).

Proteasome inhibitors also increase transgene expression in human intestinal epithelial cells *in vitro* up to 400-fold (232). A dual therapeutic use of proteasome inhibitors in human cystic fibrosis airway epithelia infected with AAV has been observed. Not only was there an increase in CFTR transgene expression, but there was also a simultaneous inhibition of ENaC currents that was independent of vector administration (233).

1.7.2. DNA damaging agents

44

The DNA damaging minor groove binding drugs Hoechst 33258 and Hoechst 33342 increased AAV transgene expression in HEK293 and COS-1 cells. The effect was independent of the presence of AAV particles, as plasmid transfected cells demonstrated similar effects. However, the presence of viral ITRs in the plasmid construct was necessary, as their removal completely abrogated the effects of these agents (234). UV-irradiation can also increase AAV transduction in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes, articular chondrocytes, and mesenchymal stem cells (235-237). Genotoxic agents such as etoposide and γ -irradiation were able to increase AAV-mediated transduction of hepatocellular carcinoma cells in vitro, although only yirradiation increased tumor transduction in vivo (238). y-rays were also able to increase transduction of a human maxillary sinus cancer cell line by increasing the rate of second-strand synthesis (239). DNA damaging agents such as γ -irradiation, UV irradiation, cisplatinum, and tritiated thymidine significantly increased AAV2 transduction in primary human foreskin fibroblasts (240). The DNA synthesis inhibitors aphidicolin and hydroxyurea and topoisomerase inhibitors such as etoposide or camptothecin also increased AAV transduction dramatically in primary human fibroblasts (241).

Ataxia telangiectasia is caused by a genetic defect in the *ATM* gene and results in increased sensitivity of cells to DNA damaging agents like γ -irradiation. Fibroblasts isolated from patients with ATM deficiency had dramatically increased AAV transduction compared to normal fibroblasts. The mechanism appeared to be independent of endocytosis or nuclear trafficking. Instead, ATM deficient cells demonstrated increased circular and integrated forms of the viral genome (242).

1.7.3. Adenovirus enhances AAV transduction

Adenovirus infection increases AAV transduction dramatically by increasing second strand synthesis (180, 181). More specifically, adenoviral proteins E4 ORF6 and E1b 55 kDa protein have been demonstrated to be responsible for mediating this effect in a p53-independent manner (243). The presence of the 34 kDa protein from E4 ORF6 appears to lead to a degradation of cyclin A, which disrupts cell cycle progression and leads to increased AAV transduction (244). Others have suggested that although adenovirus can increase the amount of transgene expression initially, over time expression in the absence of adenovirus will be equal to the adenovirus treated group, indicating a delay in the double strand conversion of AAV genomes rather than an absolute requirement for adenovirus (141). Although adenovirus protein E4 ORF6 and UV irradiation both appear to increase AAV transduction, they do so by different mechanisms. UV irradiation increases the circular form of the viral genome, while E4 ORF6 increases replication form intermediates (245).

1.7.4. Tyrosine phosphatase activation

Phosphorylated forms of the cellular protein FKBP52 have been demonstrated to inhibit viral second-strand synthesis both in HeLa cells *in vitro* and in murine hepatocytes *in vivo* (246, 247). The cellular protein T cell protein tyrosine phosphatase (TC-PTP) can dephosphorylate FKBP52 and subsequently leads to increases in viral second-strand synthesis and in AAV transduction in both human cell lines and primary murine hematopoetic cells from TC-PTP transgenic mice *in vitro* (248, 249). Both FKBP52 knockout mice and TC-PTP transgenic mice demonstrate increased hepatic transduction following intravenous administration of AAV. With this in mind, it has been possible to increase single-stranded AAV transgene expression both *in vitro* and *in vivo* by co-infecting a self-complementary AAV vector encoding TC-PTP by increasing viral second-strand synthesis (250).

1.7.5. Tyrosine kinase inhibitors

Tyrphostin, an epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor, was able to increase AAV transduction in several cell lines *in vitro*, acting by decreasing phosphorylation of single-stranded D sequence-binding protein (ssD-BP) and leading to increased transgene expression (251). More specifically, in a transformed human lung epithelial cell line, tyrphostin appeared to act by upregulating the stress response protein kinase pathways p38 and JNK, resulting in increased transcription from linear vector DNA templates (252).

1.7.6. AAV/vector complexes

Complexing AAV vectors encoding the human insulin gene with calcium phosphate was demonstrated to enhance insulin secretion and blood glucose control in a streptozocin-induced diabetes model after injection into the liver parenchyma (253). Similarly, calcium phosphate also increased AAV transduction of human airway epithelia *in vitro* and in mouse lungs *in vivo* (254). Conjugation of AAV to polymer matrix microparticles was also able to increase AAV transduction both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (255). The addition of the polycation protamine sulfate increased AAV transduction of the hepatocyte cell line HepG2, apparently by conferring a positive charge on the viral particle, thereby leading to more adsorption of the virus on the negatively charged cells (256). Liposomes were also able to increase AAV transduction *in vitro* in a human glioma cell line (257).

1.7.7. Oxidative Stress

Oxidative stress, whether in the form of chronic ethanol exposure or ischemia-reperfusion injury, increased AAV-mediated trangene expression in rat liver in an NFκB-dependent fashion (258). Reactive oxygen species can also increase AAV transduction. Hydroxide radicals appear to modulate tyrosine phosphatase pathways involved in AAV tranduction in HeLa cells, as demonstrated by the ability of sodium orthovanadate to prevent increased transduction in the presence of hydrogen peroxide (259). Interestingly, the antioxidant molecule and anti-HIV drug pyrrolidinedithiocarbamate (PDTC) synergistically increased the augmentation of AAV transduction in UV-irradiated or H_2O_2 treated HeLa cells (260).

1.7.8. Other agents that increase AAV transduction

Several other agents can increase AAV transduction. Co-infusion of the AAV2 with mannitol, combined with ultraslow micro-perfusion, resulted in up to a 300% increase in transduction in the rat brain (261). Perfluorochemical liquid enhances AAV2-mediated transgene expression in rodent lungs up to 26-fold (262). Hyaluronidase, an enzyme that dissociates the extracellular matrix, enhances AAV vector diffusion and subsequent transduction in rat muscle (263). CpG oligodeoxynucleotides are able to increase AAV transduction in primary B cell chronic lymphoid leukemia cells independent of the use of single-stranded or self-complementary vectors (264).

1.8. Statement of the problem

Rheumatoid arthritis and juvenile rheumatoid arthritis (JRA) are among the leading causes of disability in the developed world, affecting nearly 1% of the population. There remains no cure for these diseases and current treatments are only modestly effective at slowing disease progression and providing symptomatic relief. In addition, current treatments are often delivered systemically and require frequent administration. They are also associated with significant side effects. Local treatments often have fewer side effects but also require frequent administration. Gene transfer has the potential to overcome these obstacles.

Utilizing gene transfer approaches for the treatment of RA is particularly appealing because the joint is readily accessible by intra-articular injection. One attractive vector is the single-stranded recombinant adeno-associated virus, a small, non-enveloped DNA parvovirus. It has been shown to deliver transgenes to a wide variety of tissues, has low immunogenicity, and is associated with long-term transgene expression. In our studies, the fibroblast-like synoviocytes are being targeted for AAV-mediated transgene delivery because of the prominent role they play in cartilage and bone destruction in RA. Unfortunately, while human FLS are permissive for AAV infection, transgene expression is relatively low, potentially limiting its use as a viable treatment for RA. Several agents have been found to increase transgene expression from AAV vectors and among them are LPS and proteasome inhibitors. For example, the inflammation associated with LPS administration increased AAV-mediated transgene expression in both a rat model of arthritis and in the corneal endothelium. The specific effect of inflammation and proteasome inhibition on AAV-mediated transgene expression in FLS has not been examined and is the focus of this dissertation.

We hypothesized that both the inflammatory mediators present in the joint in rheumatoid arthritis and proteasome inhibition would increase AAV-mediated transgene expression fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Our results demonstrate that both inflammatory cytokines and proteasome inhibitors dramatically increase AAV-mediated transgene expression in FLS. Remarkably, these agents were also able to regulate transgene expression from the vector. Clinical trials using one class of proteasome inhibitors have been successful in the treatment of multiple myeloma (265, 266). Therefore, it may be possible that they could be used in conjunction with AAV vectors in the treatment of RA. However, proteasome inhibition can be associated with undesirable side effects. More promising is the finding that inflammatory cytokines that are present in the joint could also regulate transgene expression in FLS. Since the main site of inflammation in RA is the joint, this would make local administration of virus particularly appealing. This is important because the local inflammatory environment of the joint space may actually promote transgene expression. It has the potential to dramatically affect the course of disease while at the same time minimizing the risk of deleterious side effects often associated with systemic administration of viral gene transfer vectors. It also suggests an ability of the vector to auto-regulate transgene expression, with expression being turned on during active disease, and then turned off once inflammation is brought under control.

2. Inflammatory cytokines regulate transgene expression in fibroblast-like synoviocytes infected with adeno-associated virus

2.1. Abstract

2.1.1. Objective

An ideal gene transfer vector for chronic inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA) would provide local transgene expression only when the disease is active. To determine whether adeno-associated virus (AAV) possesses this ability, the effects of inflammatory cytokines on transgene expression were evaluated in human RA fibroblast-like synoviocytes (FLS).

2.1.2. Methods

Human fibroblast-like synoviocytes (FLS) were infected with AAV in the presence or absence of inflammatory cytokines or synovial fluid obtained from patients with RA. Transgene expression was monitored by either ELISA or flow cytometry. Transgene mRNA was measured by quantitative RT-PCR.

2.1.3. Results

Inflammatory cytokines increased transgene expression in FLS by 10 to 1,000 fold. Synovial fluid from patients with RA, but not fluid from patients without arthritis, was also able to increase expression in synoviocytes. Protein expression correlated with transgene mRNA levels. The enhanced expression required the continued presence of cytokines as, upon removal, transgene expression returned to baseline. Expression could be repeatedly re-induced by re-exposure to cytokines. The effect was not promoter specific and was demonstrated to be PI3K and NF κ B-dependent. However, these two effects were independent of one another.

2.1.4. Conclusion

These results suggest that expression of a therapeutic transgene can be controlled by the presence of inflammation following AAV gene transfer, making it an attractive vector for chronic inflammatory diseases such as RA.

2.2. Introduction

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a common inflammatory disorder, with a prevalence of approximately 0.5-1.0% in the adult population. It can cause significant pathology and functional impairment in affected individuals (4, 6). The most successful treatment strategies for RA to date are aimed at neutralizing the effects of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α and IL-1 β (267, 268). However, based on criteria developed by the American College of Rheumatology (ACR), less than half of patients show improvement of at least 50% in their ACR scores (12). Gene transfer strategies have the potential to overcome some of these limitations and studies looking at the efficacy of viral and non-viral vectors for transfer of therapeutic molecules have been extensively studied in animal models of arthritis (269, 270). One approach that has been suggested for the treatment of RA is the local over-expression of anti-inflammatory molecules in the joint itself, which could potentially avoid side effects associated with systemic administration. Because the joint is readily accessible by intra-articular injection, gene transfer may be a feasible option in the treatment of RA. Gene transfer using adenoviral vectors has been shown to be effective in animal models of arthritis (14, 84, 92, 271).

One of the more attractive vectors for gene transfer is adeno-associated virus (AAV). AAV is a small, non-enveloped single stranded DNA parvovirus that causes no known human pathology. AAV has low immunogenicity and mediates long-term gene expression, which are essential if gene transfer is to become a viable treatment option for chronic inflammatory diseases such as RA. Several serotypes have been identified in primates, with AAV2 being the prototype for most gene transfer studies (50). AAV vectors have been designed that are able to package double stranded viral genomes, bypassing a rate-limiting step of viral transduction (second-strand synthesis) and allowing rapid and highly efficient transduction in several cell types both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (52).

TNF α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 play a prominent role in the pathogenesis of RA (7, 9, 10). TNF α and IL-1 β both induce large increases in IL-6 production from RA fibroblast-like synoviocytes (FLS) (272). However, because RA FLS only express the gp130 subunit of the IL-6 receptor, soluble IL-6 receptor must be supplied for trans-signaling to occur (273). Since any gene transfer vector targeting inflamed synovium might be influenced by pro-inflammatory cytokines present in the joint, the present study examined the effects of IL-1 β , TNF α , and IL-6 on transgene expression in human RA FLS infected with AAV.

2.3. Materials and Methods

2.3.1. AAV production

Single stranded (ss) and double stranded (ds) AAV vectors encoding the cDNA of the soluble TNF receptor type II (p75)-human Fcγ1 fusion protein (sTNFR-Ig), human IL-10, or enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) were constructed and virus was produced and titered as previously described (274). Briefly, AAV serotype-2 was made by the 293/triple transfection method. Helper functions were provided by a plasmid containing the necessary adenoviral

genes. Virus was purified by heparin affinity chromatography and titered by DNA slot blot analysis using a transgene specific biotinylated probe. Transgene expression from the vectors was driven by either the CMV promoter/CMV enhancer or the chicken beta actin promoter/CMV enhancer, as indicated. In order for efficient packaging of sTNFR-Ig into dsAAV it was necessary to truncate the C-terminal 300bp of the Fc region. The molecule was still able to dimerize (Figure 2) and was able to neutralize TNF α similar to the full-length molecule (Figure 3). The majority of both the full length and truncated molecules were present as dimers. A small amount of the truncated molecule was also present in monomer form. Supernatants from COS7 transfected cells expressing full-length sTNFRII-Ig fusion protein were able to completely inhibit TNF α mediated apoptosis to a dilution of 1:256. Supernatants from COS7 cells expressing the truncated molecule were able to complete neutralize TNF α activity to a dilution of 1:128, indicating that while this molecule may not be quite as efficient at neutralizing TNF α as the full length molecule, it retains biologic activity.



Figure 2: Dimerization of full length and truncated sTNFRII-Ig fusion protein.

Supernatants from COS7 cells tranfected with plasmids expressing either full length or truncated sTNFRII-Ig fusion protein were resolved on a 10-20% Tris-glycine gel under non-reducing conditions. Western blot was performed using a biotinylated antibody directed against sTNFRII (0.3ug/ml). Streptavidin-Horse Radish Peroxidase conjugate (Zymed) was added at a 1:2500 dilution and the blot was subsequently developed using the Pierce Supersignal West Femto Maximum Sensitivity Substrate according to the manufacturer's instructions.



Figure 3: Ability of full length and truncated sTNFRII-Ig fusion proteins to prevent TNF α -mediated apoptosis of mouse L929 cells.

Increasing dilutions of supernatants from COS7 cells transfected with plasmids expressing either full length or truncated sTNFRII-Ig fusion protein were used to monitor their ability to prevent apoptosis of L929 cells through neutralization of TNF α .

2.3.2. Cell culture and AAV infection

Several human RA FLS primary cell lines were isolated from RA patients. Human RA synovial tissues, obtained during joint replacement surgery, were finely chopped, washed with sterile PBS, resuspended in 4mg/ml of collagenase (Worthington Biochemical Corporation, NJ) and incubated in a 37° C CO₂ humidified incubator overnight. After washing with PBS, dissociated cells were resuspended in RPMI supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum and adherent cells were passaged in culture for 2-4 weeks. Adherent cells lines were shown to have the phenotype of fibroblast-like synoviocytes (CD90⁺, CD14⁻) by flow cytometry (275).

Hs69 dermal fibroblasts, COS7 monkey kidney fibroblasts, 293 cells, HeLa cells, Saos-2 osteosarcoma cells, and MRC5 lung fibroblasts were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). Indicated cells were plated at a density of 5×10^4 cells in 24-well plates

(Falcon) in the presence or absence of TNF α (10ng/ml) (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN), IL-1 β (1ng/ml) (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN), and/or soluble IL-6 receptor (50ng/ml) (Research Diagnostics, Inc., Flanders, NJ). The cells were then infected with 1x10⁴ particles/cell of AAV for 6 hours in a 300 μ l volume, washed twice with PBS, and incubated with fresh media containing the indicated cytokines. Supernatants were collected at the indicated time points and transgene expression was monitored by ELISA (for sTNFR-Ig and IL-10) or flow cytometry (for EGFP) and compared to uninfected controls. Testing of synovial fluid samples was performed as above with the following exceptions. 1x10⁴ cells were seeded in a 96 well plate and cells were incubated with 1:4 dilutions of synovial fluids obtained either from patients diagnosed with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis or from patients who underwent surgical procedures for an orthopedic injury. The cells were infected in a 100 μ l volume.

2.3.3. Flow cytometry

Cells were trypsinized, resuspended in PBS, pelleted, and resuspended in 0.5 ml buffer (0.2% BSA, 0.012% sodium azide in PBS). Samples were analyzed using the FACSAria flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) and FloJo software (Tree Star, San Mateo, CA).

2.3.4. ELISA

ELISA analysis was performed using anti-human IL-10 or anti-human TNF receptor type II (CD120b) monoclonal and biotinylated antibodies (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.3.5. **Quantitative PCR**

RNA was isolated using the RNAqueous Kit (Ambion, Austin, TX). RNA (500ng) was used as a template for Superscript RT to synthesize cDNA (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Two microliters of cDNA was used as template for quantitative PCR using the MxP3000 real time
PCR system (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA). Transgene copy number was normalized to 18S rRNA copy number. Primers sequences used were: sTNFR-Ig 5'GAATGCAAGCATGGATGCAGTCTG3' and 5'CGGTGGGCATGTGTGAGTTTTG3'; 18S rRNA 5'CGCAAATTACCCACTCCCGAC3' and 5'GCCCGCTCCCAAGATCCAACTA3' (Integrated DNA Technologies, Coralville, IA).

2.3.6. PI3K and NF_KB inhibition

PI3K inhibition was achieved with 1µM wortmannin (Biosource International, Camarillo, CA). Cells were maintained in the presence of wortmannin for the entire length of the experiments, unless otherwise indicated.

In order to inhibit NF κ B, Hs69 dermal fibroblasts were infected with a retrovirus encoding a super I κ B repressor and containing a puromycin resistance gene (276). Following one week of selection in 2 μ g/ml puromycin, cells were expanded and tested for NF κ b activation. Cells were transfected with a plasmid with the luciferase reporter gene under control of an NF κ B responsive element (kindly provided by Dr. Jay Kolls) using the Fugene 6 transfection reagent as described by the manufacturer (Roche Diagnostics, Basel, Switzerland). 48 hours later the cells were assayed for luciferase activity using the Promega Bright-Glo Luciferase Assay System according to the manufacturer's instructions (Promega, Madison, WI). Luciferase units were measured using a Packard microplate scintillation and luminescence counter.

2.3.7. Immunohistochemistry

Cells were seeded on coverslips in tissue culture dishes. At the time of analysis cells were washed five times with PBS and then fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS for 20 minutes in the dark. Cells were washed five times with ice cold PBS and incubated with 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS and incubated for 20 minutes in the dark. Cells were washed again five

times with ice cold PBS and then blocked for 2 hours with 5% goat serum in 0.15% glycine, 1% BSA in PBS. Cells were washed five times with ice cold PBS and the viral particles were stained with a mouse monoclonal anti-AAV antibody (clone A20) that detects only intact capsids (ARP American Research Products, Belmont, MA) at a 1:80 dilution. Cells were incubated in the dark for 1 hour at room temperature and then washed five times with ice cold PBS. For detection, a secondary goat anti-mouse IgG antibody conjugated to Alexa Fluor 568 (Molecular Probes, Invitrogen Corporation, Carlsbad, CA) was added at a 1:200 dilution in 0.15% glycine, 1% BSA in PBS and the cells were incubated in the dark for 1 hour at room temperature. Cells were washed five times with ice cold PBS and the nuclei were counterstained with a 1:500 dilution of the nuclear dye DRAQ5 (Biostatus, England) in PBS for 30 minutes. Cells were washed five times with ice cold PBS and the coverslips were placed onto slides containing a drop of gelvatol mounting medium. The cells were examined using an Olympus Fluoview 500 Confocal Microscope.

2.3.8. Cell transfection

293 cells were electroporated using a Biorad Gene Pulser. 800µl of a 293 cell suspension $(2.6 \times 10^6 \text{ cells/ml in RPMI})$ was placed in a 0.4cm cuvette. 10µg of plasmid DNA was added and the cuvette was incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature. The cells were then electorporated at 250 Volts and 960 µF capacitance. The cells were then transferred to 10ml of prewarmed RPMI and plated in a 35mm cell culture dish. 48hrs later the antibiotic G418 was added to a final concentration of 800µg/ml. The pAAV IL-10 plasmid was the same plasmid used to make the dsAAV (IL-10) virus as described above. pEGFP was obtained from Clonetech.

2.4. Results

2.4.1. Inflammatory Cytokines Increase AAV-mediated Transgene Expression in Human RA FLS

To determine the potential effects of inflammatory cytokines on AAV mediated transgene expression in synoviocytes, human RA FLS were infected with either ssAAV or dsAAV encoding EGFP in the presence of IL-1 β , TNF α and/or sIL-6R. The addition of inflammatory cytokines consistently increased both the number of cells expressing EGFP and the intensity of expression. Various concentrations and time courses of exposure to cytokines were tested. We found that 10ng/ml TNF α , 1ng/ml IL-1 β , and 50ng/ml sIL-6R gave the best results. In addition, the largest increases in transgene expression were seen after at least 5 days of cytokine exposure. Of all the possible permutations of cytokine combinations tested, IL-1 β alone, or all three cytokines in combination, gave the largest increases in EGFP expression (Figure 4). Similar results were observed using a second human RA FLS cell line, and an osteoarthritis (OA) FLS cell line (Figure 5).



Figure 4: Inflammatory cytokines act synergistically to increase EGFP expression from RA fibroblasts infected with single stranded (ss) or double stranded (ds) AAV.

RA FLS were incubated with the indicated cytokines for 5 days. On day 3, FLS were infected with 1x10⁴ particles/cell AAV-EGFP driven by either the CMV or the chicken b-actin (CB) promoter. EGFP expression was determined by flow cytometry by comparison to uninfected cells 48 hours after infection and the data was analyzed using FloJo software. The data are representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 5: The effect of cytokines on dsAAV (sTNFRII) transgene expression in fibroblast-like synoviocytes isolated from both RA (H21, H55) and OA (H37) patients.

 $5x10^4$ RA or OA FLS were incubated in the presence or absence of inflammatory cytokines for 72 hours prior to infection with ds AAV (sTNFRII) as described in the Materials and Methods. The indicated cytokines were added back and 48 hours after infection the supernatants were collected. Transgene levels were measured by ELISA.

The cytokine-induced enhancement of expression was not due to increased attachment or entry of virus into the cell, as similar results were obtained when the addition of cytokines to the cell cultures was performed 3 days after infection (Figure 6). To rule out any promoter-specific effects on transgene expression, dsAAV encoding EGFP with expression driven by the chicken beta actin (CB) promoter was also tested. EGFP expression from this virus also increased dramatically (Figure 4).



Figure 6: The effect of cytokines on ds AAV transgene expression when added three days after infection.

 $5x10^4$ RA FLS were seeded in a 24 well tissue culture dish. 72 hours later the cells were infected with ds AAV (sTNFRII) as described in the Materials and Methods. Three days later inflammatory cytokines (TNF α , IL-1 β , and sIL-6R) were added at the concentrations previously described. Supernatants were collected daily and transgene expression was measured by ELISA.

IL-17, another inflammatory cytokine involved in the pathogenesis of RA, was also tested and had no effects on transgene expression from rAAV vectors, either alone or in combination with any of the other cytokines tested above (Figure 7). Unless otherwise indicated, subsequent experiments were performed by incubating FLS with cytokines for 72hrs prior to infection with AAV.



Figure 7: IL-17A has no effect on ds AAV transgene expression in human dermal fibroblasts.

To determine whether similar effects could be observed using therapeutically relevant transgenes, we constructed AAV vectors encoding human IL-10 (Figure 8A). Supernatants were collected 48 hours after infection and transgene levels were measured by ELISA. Once again, inflammatory cytokines increased transgene expression in AAV-infected cells. As before, the combination of all three cytokines had the maximal effect on transgene expression, increasing expression approximately 8-fold. Similar experiments were performed using dsAAV encoding soluble TNF receptor type II (p75)-human $Fc\gamma1$ fusion protein (sTNFR-Ig) with similar results (data not shown). Although an increase in transgene expression was also observed using ssAAV (data not shown), dsAAV consistently gave a log-fold higher expression than its ssAAV

⁵x10⁴ dermal fibroblasts were seeded in a 24 well tissue culture dish and incubated for 72 hours in the presence of the indicated cytokines. 72 hours later cells were infected with ds AAV (IL-10) as described in the Materials and Methods. After infection, the cells were exposed to the indicated cytokines for 48 hours, at which time the supernatants were collected and transgene expression was measured by ELISA.

counterpart. To determine if the inflammatory environment of the joint would also be able to increase AAV transgene expression, similar experiments were performed using synovial fluid isolated either from patients diagnosed with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis or from patients who underwent a surgical procedure for orthopedic injury (Figure 8B). Synovial fluid from patients with arthritis increased AAV transgene expression 2 to 14-fold, while synovial fluid from patients with arthritis had no effect on transgene expression. The levels of TNF α (16.2 +/- 5.4 pg/ml), IL-1 β (10.4 +/- 6.6 pg/ml), and especially IL-6 (2409 +/- 978 pg/ml) were higher in the inflammatory synovial fluids compared to the controls (all cytokines < 8pg/ml). In addition, the concentration of IL-10 was less than 10 pg/ml in all samples tested (data not shown), indicating that the IL-10 measured by ELISA was delivered by AAV and was not due to IL-10 present in the synovial fluids.



Figure 8: Inflammatory cytokines (A) and arthritic synovial fluid (B) increase human IL-10 expression from RA FLS infected with dsAAV.

RA FLS were exposed to cytokines or synovial fluid (SF) for 5 days. Synovial fluids were either from patients diagnosed with arthritis (Inflammatory) or from patients who underwent surgery for an orthopedic injury (Non-inflammatory). On day 3, the cells were infected with $1x10^4$ particles/cell AAV (encoding human IL-10) and then re-exposed to indicated cytokines or synovial fluids. Supernatants were collected 48 hours after infection and transgene levels were determined by ELISA. Fold increase in expression was obtained by comparison to FLS infected with dsAAV in the absence of any cytokines or synovial fluid. The data represent the mean and standard deviation of three replicates per group and are representative of three independent experiments (* indicates p<.01 compared to each non-inflammatory control by paired t-test).

The effect is not due to any effects the inflammatory cytokines might have on cell proliferation. Cells were counted at the conclusion of the assay and no significant differences were observed between cells treated with or without cytokines (Figure 9).



Figure 9: Inflammatory cytokines do not effect cell proliferation.

Cells were counted using a hemacytometer at the conclusion of the experiment. No significant differences were observed between groups, two of which are represented above.

Next, we examined the effects of inflammatory cytokines on mRNA levels. 48 hours after infection mRNA levels of the transgene were measured by quantitative RT-PCR and correlated with increases in protein levels (Figure 10). TNF α and IL-1 β addition gave a 5-fold increase in transgene mRNA levels, while the combination of all three inflammatory cytokines gave a 40-fold increase in mRNA levels.



Figure 10: Transgene mRNA levels correlate with increases in protein levels following cytokine exposure.

RA FLS were incubated with the indicated cytokines for 5 days. On day 3, FLS were infected with 1x10⁴ particles/cell AAV (encoding sTNFR-Ig). (A) Supernatants were collected 48 hours after infection and transgene levels were measured by ELISA. The data represent the mean and standard deviation of three replicates per group. (B) Transgene mRNA levels were determined using quantitative PCR for sTNFR-Ig with normalization to 18S rRNA. The data are representative of three independent experiments.

2.4.2. AAV Transgene Expression Can Be Regulated By Inflammatory Cytokines

Because the inflamed joint is chronically exposed to high levels of inflammatory mediators, we sought to determine the effect on AAV transgene expression of longer-term exposure to cytokines. Exposure to any 2 cytokines led to a peak in transgene expression on day 2 after infection, followed by a steady-state expression until the conclusion of the analysis on day 12 (Figure 11A). However, when FLS were exposed to the combination of all three inflammatory cytokines, transgene expression increased after day 7 by an additional 5-10 fold. This was a consistent finding observed in three repetitions of this experiment.

Expression of the transgene was dependent on continued exposure to cytokines, as cytokine removal resulted in return of transgene expression to near basal levels within 3 days

Figure 11B). Furthermore, transgene expression could be re-induced by re-exposure to cytokines, demonstrating the ability of the cytokines to regulate transgene expression. This is important because it raises the possibility that the inflammatory environment of the joint could significantly increase the level of a therapeutic transgene delivered by AAV. However, once the inflammation is brought under control, the level of expression of the transgene would return to much lower levels. This self-regulatory mechanism is a feature that may make AAV especially suited for the treatment of inflammatory diseases like RA.



Figure 11: AAV-mediated transgene expression is regulated by inflammatory cytokines.

(A) RA FLS were infected with AAV on day 0 and exposed to cytokines on day 2. Supernatants were collected daily until day 12 and transgene expression was measured by ELISA. (B) RA FLS were exposed to cytokines for 5 days. On day 3 the cells were infected with AAV. Cytokines were then removed (-) and added (+) at indicated time points after AAV infection. Supernatants were collected every 24 hours and transgene expression was measured by ELISA. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

2.4.3. The Effect of Inflammatory Cytokines on AAV Mediated Transgene Expression is PI3K-dependent

In order to explore the mechanism by which inflammatory cytokines act to increase transgene expression, we first sought to examine the role of PI3K, an enzyme whose activation has previously been suggested to be required for efficient trafficking of AAV to the nucleus (165). FLS were infected with dsAAV-sTNFR-Ig. Three days after infection, cytokines were added with or without the PI3K inhibitor wortmannin (1 μ M). Wortmannin prevented increased transgene expression in response to inflammatory cytokines (Figure 12A) and did so in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 13). This suggests that the effect of the cytokines on transgene expression occurs downstream of viral entry into the cell. The effect of wortmannin was reversible, as its removal three days after infection, followed by re-exposure to cytokines on day six, led to increased transgene expression (Figure 12B).



Figure 12: The effects of cytokines on AAV-mediated transgene expression are PI3K-dependent.

(A) RA FLS were infected on day 0 with $1x10^4$ particles/cell AAV (sTNFR-Ig). TNF α , IL-1 β , and sIL-6R +/wortmannin (1 μ M) were added on day 3 after infection. Supernatants were collected daily and transgene expression was monitored by ELISA. (B) RA FLS were incubated with cytokines and wortmannin for 72 hrs prior to infection with AAV on day 0, and incubated in the continued presence of cytokines and wortmannin until day 3, when both were removed. On day 6 cytokines alone were added back for the remainder of the experiment. Supernatants were collected daily throughout the experiment and transgene expression was determined by ELISA. These results are representative of three separate experiments.



Figure 13: The effect of wortmannin on cytokine-mediated increases in dsAAV transgene expression is dose-dependent.

 $5x10^4$ RA FLS (H55) were seeded in a 24 well plate in the presence of the indicated cytokines and varying concentrations of wortmannin (0 μ M to 10 μ M). 72 hours later the cells were infected with dsAAV (sTNFRII) as previously described. The cells were exposed to cytokines and wortmannin for an additional 48 hours and the supernatants were collected for measurement of transgene levels by ELISA.

2.4.4. The Effect of Inflammatory Cytokines on AAV Mediated Transgene Expression is

NFκB-dependent

Next, we sought to determine if the transcription factor NF κ B played any role in the effect of cytokines on AAV transgene expression. The AAV vectors used in our experiments, unless otherwise noted, contain the CMV promoter and enhancer to drive transcription of the transgene. There are four consensus binding sites for NF κ B in the CMV promoter and enhancer regions. NF κ B activity is required for efficient transcription and gene expression from

constructs containing the CMV promoter and enhancer both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (277). However, binding sites for other transcription factors are also present, including AP1, SP1, and MDBP (278). Dermal fibroblasts were infected with a retrovirus encoding a super I κ B inhibitor, in which the I κ B α molecule is mutated. The mutation prevents the molecule from being phosphorylated by I κ B kinase and subsequently degraded, which is normally required for the translocation of NF κ B to the nucleus (279). To confirm that NF κ B was inhibited, the cells were transfected with a reporter plasmid containing an NF κ B responsive element and encoding luciferase. 48 hours after transfection, luciferase activity was measured. The cells containing the inhibitor had approximately 10-fold lower luciferase activity, indicating that NF κ B activation was impaired (Figure 14).



Figure 14: Inhibition of NFkB in dermal fibroblasts (Hs69) by the super IkB inhibitor.

Dermal fibroblasts expressing the super $I\kappa B$ inhibitor and control fibroblasts were transiently transfected with either a negative control plasmid (pEGFP) or a plasmid containing an NF κB responsive element driving luciferase expression (pNF κB Luciferase). 48 hours after transfection the cells were harvested and luciferase activity was measured using Promega's Bright-Glo Luciferase Assay System. These results are representative of two separate experiments.

After confirming that NF κ B activation was inhibited, we wanted to determine if inflammatory cytokines could still increase AAV transgene expression in this cell line. The cells were infected with dsAAV in the presence or absence of inflammatory cytokines and transgene expression was measured by ELISA. The results demonstrate that inhibition of NF κ B activation almost completely abolishes the increase in transgene expression normally observed in the presence of cytokines (Figure 15). This suggests that inflammatory cytokines are able to increase transgene expression through activation of NF κ B. NF κ B activation could lead to increased trangene expression in one of two distinct ways. It could bind to the NF κ B binding sites on the CMV promoter and enhancer and drive transcription of the transgene or NF κ B could activate other genes that subsequently act to increase transgene expression via other mechanisms. Further experiments will have to be performed to determine the precise role of NF κ B in this process.



Figure 15: The effect of NFKB inhibition on the ability of inflammatory cytokines to increase AAV transgene expression in Hs69 dermal fibroblasts.

Dermal fibroblasts expressing a super $I\kappa B$ inhibtor (Hs69 NF κB INH) or normal dermal fibroblasts (Hs69) were exposed to cytokines (CYTO) and infected with dsAAV encoding IL-10 as described in the materials and methods. Transgene levels were measured by ELISA 48 hours after infection. These results are representative of three separate experiments.

2.4.5. NFκB and PI3K play independent roles in the cytokine-mediated increase in AAV transgene expression

The above studies demonstrate that both the PI3K pathway and activation of NF κ B appear to play a role in the cytokine-mediated increases in AAV transgene expression in fibroblasts. These molecules could play independent roles in increasing AAV transgene expression in response to cytokines or they could act in concert. Activation of the PI3K pathway leads to the activation of NF κ B in some cell types, while in other cells NF κ B is unaffected by the activation of the PI3K pathway (280-283). To determine if the PI3K inhibitor wortmannin could also inhibit NF κ B activation dermal fibroblasts were transfected with a plasmid encoding an NF κ B responsive luciferase reporter gene in the presence or absence of wortmannin. 48 hours later the cells were harvested and luciferase activity was measured. The results clearly demonstrate that wortmannin clearly does not inhibit NF κ B in dermal fibroblasts (Figure 16). If anything, treatment of the cells with wortmannin leads to activation of NF κ B. This suggests that the PI3K pathway and NF κ B mediate cytokine-mediated increases in AAV transgene expression in fibroblasts by separate mechanisms.



Figure 16: Wortmannin does not inhibit NFkB in dermal fibroblasts.

Dermal fibroblasts were pre-treated for 24hrs with $1\mu M$ wortmannin. The cells were then transfected with either a negative control plasmid (pEGFP) or a plasmid encoding an NFkB responsive luciferase reporter gene in the continued presence or absence wortmannin. 48 hours later the cells were harvested and luciferase activity was measured using Promega's Bright-Glo Luciferase Reporter System. Dermal fibroblasts expressing an inhibitor of NFkB were also tested as a control. These results represent one experiment.

2.4.6. Inflammatory cytokines promote uncoating of the virus

In order to further elucidate the mechanism of cytokine-mediated increases in AAV transgene expression, the intracellular localization of the virus was examined in the presence or absence of inflammatory cytokines by staining the dermal fibroblasts with an anti-AAV antibody specific for intact viral particles. Confocal microscopy revealed that while the untreated cells demonstrated staining throughout the cytoplasm, primarily in the perinuclear area, intact particles were almost completely absent in the cytokine treated cells (Figure 17). This suggests

that the cytokines promote uncoating of the virus. Whether or not this is directly related to increases in AAV transgene expression requires further exploration.



Figure 17: Inflammatory cytokines promote uncoating of AAV.

Dermal fibroblasts were incubated on coverslips in the absence (A) or presence (B) of TNF α , IL-1 β , and sIL-6R for 72 hours prior to infection with dsAAV (as described in Materials and Methods). 24 hours after infection the cells were fixed and stained with a mouse monoclonal anti-AAV antibody specific for intact capsids. For detection, a secondary goat anti-mouse antibody conjugated to Alexa Fluor 568 was used (red). The cells were counterstained with the nucleic acid dye DRAQ5 (blue).

2.4.7. The effect of cytokines on AAV trangene expression is not restricted to fibroblasts

While fibroblasts are only minimally infected by recombinant AAV vectors, other cell types are more readily infectible. To determine if more permissive cell types were also susceptible to the effects of inflammatory cytokines, a panel of different cell lines was examined. Most of the cell lines tested were permissive for AAV infection, as demonstrated by the high level of transgene expression observed even in the absence of cytokines (Figure 18). These cells all demonstrated less than 2-fold induction of AAV transgene expression upon cytokine addition. Only one cell line, HEK 293 cells, appear, like human RA FLS and dermal fibroblasts, to be

minimally infected by AAV. These cells were isolated from human embryonic kidney and have an epithelial morphology, although these cells are not fully characterized. Like the fibroblasts, 293 cells also demonstrated an approximate 8-fold increase in AAV trangene expression upon exposure to cytokines. Interestingly, COS7 cells, a SV40 transformed monkey kidney fibroblast line, and MRC5 cells, a normal lung fibroblast line, appear to be permissive for AAV infection. Some fibroblasts, therefore, may not be susceptible to the effects of cytokines. Clearly different types of fibroblasts display wide variablilty in their ability to be infected with AAV. Cytokines, meanwhile, appear to improve transduction of cell types that are minimally infected by AAV.



Figure 18: Effect of cytokines on AAV transduction in different cell lines.

293, HeLa, and Saos-2 cells were exposed to TNF α , IL-1 β , and sIL-6R and COS7 and MRC5 cells were exposed to IL-1 β for 72 hours prior to infection with dsAAV encoding human IL-10 (as described in Materials and Methods). Following infection, the cells were re-exposed to cytokines and supernatants were collected 48 hours later. Transgene expression was determined by ELISA. These results represent one experiment, which has only been repeated three times for the 293 cells.

2.4.8. Inflammatory cytokines increase gene expression from stably transfected cells

To provide more insight into the mechanism of inflammatory cytokine mediated increases in AAV transgene expression, we sought to determine if viral infection was a requirement for this phenomenon. 293 cells were stably transfected with the plasmid used to make the virus, which contains the transgene with the CMV promoter/enhancer flanked by the viral ITRs. Cytokines were able to increase gene expression up to 10-fold (Figure 19), similar to what was observed in AAV-infected cells (see above).



Figure 19: Inflammatory cytokines increase gene expression from stably transfected 293 cells.

293 cells were electroporated with either the plasmid used to construct the dsAAV (IL-10) or a pEGFP (encoding EGFP) control plasmid. Cells were selected for 2 weeks with the anitbiotic G418. $5x10^4$ cells were seeded into 24 well plates in the presence or absence of inflammatory cytokines. After 5 days, the supernatants were collected and tested for IL-10 expression by ELISA. This experiment is representative of two separate experiments.

2.5. Discussion

Although gene transfer is an attractive choice for the treatment of many diseases, including RA, there are many obstacles that must be overcome for it to become a viable treatment option. Obtaining long-term expression and regulation of transgene expression are two of the key demands that have proven especially difficult in regards to gene transfer. Other researchers have successfully regulated transgene expression in the treatment of retinal degeneration and collagen-induced arthritis using tetracycline inducible AAV vectors (57, 284). Previously an inflammation-inducible adenoviral expression system for local treatment of the

joint was developed with similar goals in mind (41). Another approach that has been successful is the use of proteasome inhibitors such as zLLL, which we have shown to increase transgene expression several fold in human, but not mouse, FLS (275). The expression was regulatable in that removal and re-addition of the inhibitor led to repeated increases in transgene expression. Ideally, gene transfer vectors could auto-regulate transgene expression, with expression being turned on during active disease, and then turned off once inflammation is brought under control. This feature is especially desired for treatment of inflammatory diseases like RA that are characterized by repeated disease flares, with intervening periods of relative quiescence. Our studies suggest that AAV possesses these qualities. Transgene expression can be repeatedly re-induced upon addition and removal of inflammatory cytokines.

AAV has been used with some success in the treatment of cystic fibrosis and hemophilia B (285, 286). Unfortunately, AAV, while capable of transducing peri-articular tissues, only minimally transduces both mouse and human synovium (287). For local treatment to be effective using AAV, new methods must be developed to increase transduction of synovium. Thus far, clinical trials have only utilized single stranded versions of AAV. Our data suggest that for inflammatory diseases such as RA, double stranded versions of AAV may prove more effective, especially if they are to be administered locally in the joint.

The ability of proteasome inhibitors to increase transgene expression in FLS also appears to be significantly more effective if double stranded AAV is used (see Chapter 3). Zhang et. al. found a dual therapeutic use of proteasome inhibition in human cystic fibrosis airway epithelia (233). Not only did they observe an increase in CFTR transgene expression, but they also saw a simultaneous inhibition of ENaC currents that was independent of vector administration. In a similar fashion, inflammatory cytokines also appear to have a dual role. They increase AAV transgene expression in FLS dramatically and are also capable of regulating expression. This makes the local inflammatory environment of the joint in RA ideally suited for providing high levels of transgene expression from AAV vectors.

Our results also suggest that TNF α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 may be primarily responsible for the increase in AAV transgene expression observed in the synovium *in vivo* in the presence of inflammation induced by LPS in a rat model of arthritis (207). The presence of inflammation in a human TNFα-transgenic mouse model of arthritis also correlated with increases in the level of transgene expression from AAV vectors (235). Transducibility by AAV is species-specific and mouse fibroblasts are resistant to transduction. In contrast, human fibroblasts are transducible in the presence of either proteasome inhibitor or inflammatory cytokines. Therefore, our findings in human FLS have relevance to the clinical setting. The fact that only synovial fluid from patients with arthritis increases AAV transgene expression also suggests that this phenomenon may occur in vivo. Regulation at the level of the CMV promoter, which also drives expression from our AAV vectors, has been implicated in this process. It was also suggested that inflammation-induced activation of NF κ B and its subsequent binding to the four consensus binding sites in the CMV promoter and enhancer may be responsible for the observed effects. However, we observed similar findings in vitro using AAV vectors under control of the chicken beta actin promoter, suggesting that the effect might not be promoter specific. This did not rule out a role for the CMV enhancer, which is present in both vectors and does contain NFkB elements. We did find that the effect of cytokines could be prevented in cells expressing a super IkB repressor that prevents actiation of NFkB. Therefore, NFkB activation is required for inflammatory cytokines to increase AAV transgene expression. NFkB could act by either

binding directly the promoter/enhancer to turn on transcription of the transgene or by inducing other cellular factors that lead to the increase.

In addition, the proteasome inhibitor zLLL, which is known to inhibit NF κ B activation (288), also increases AAV transgene expression in FLS (275), suggesting that other underlying mechanisms, such as effects on mRNA stability, may be at work. Our results showed that transgene mRNA levels increased significantly upon cytokine stimulation, but further studies will need to be performed to determine if the effect is on mRNA synthesis, stability, or degradation. One possibility is that the rise in transgene mRNA could be secondary to altered viral trafficking and/or uncoating and not at the transcriptional or post-transcriptional level. In fact, we observed significant loss of intact capsids in the cytoplasm following cytokine exposure, suggesting an effect on uncoating of the virus.

Interestingly, AAV infection did not appear to be a requirement for inflammatory cytokines to increase transgene expression. Cells stably transfected with plasmid DNA containing the viral genome also demonstrated similar increases in gene expression following exposure to cytokines. This suggests that although cytokines promote uncoating of the virus, their primary effect may be at a step after the viral DNA has entered the nucleus, possibly transcription, translation, or post-translational processing. It should be noted that stably transfected cells have incorporated the plasmid DNA into the host genome, while the viral DNA in AAV-infected cells is thought to remain episomal. What effect this may have on the assay remains unclear. In addition, the viral ITRs may be involved in this phenomenom and their role requires further exploration.

The combination of all three inflammatory cytokines appears to increase transgene expression from FLS even further at later time points or upon secondary stimulation. Why this is

84

observed only when all three cytokines are present remains unclear but suggests that long-term exposure of FLS to multiple inflammatory mediators, while contributing to the pathological features of RA, may actually have beneficial effects on AAV transgene expression. This phenomenon could relate to the apparent delay in maximal expression of up to 30 days to 3 months observed *in vivo* with AAV in other studies (54, 139). This again highlights the potential benefits that AAV may have over other gene transfer vectors in the treatment of RA. More studies examining control of expression from AAV vectors will have to be performed to elucidate the mechanisms of this phenomenon.

Expression from AAV vectors has been improved in other cells by modifying the tropism of the virus through manipulation of the AAV capsid protein (149, 221). Our data suggests that most FLS are in fact infected with AAV2, but that some cellular process is inhibiting the ability of the viral transgene to be maximally expressed. One possibility is that nuclear trafficking of AAV is enhanced under inflammatory conditions. In fact, impaired nuclear trafficking of AAV has been shown to limit transduction in murine 3T3 fibroblasts (172). In addition, the PI3K pathway has been demonstrated to be necessary for intracellular movement of AAV to the nucleus (165). TNF α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 have all be shown to activate PI3K in various cell types (289-291) and it is possible that PI3K activation could lead to increased trafficking of AAV to the nucleus, with subsequent increases in transgene expression. This hypothesis is supported by our data demonstrating that inhibition of PI3K by wortmannin blocks the increase in AAV transgene expression in response to inflammatory cytokines. Our observation that IL-17 does not increase transgene expression also supports this hypothesis. It has recently been demonstrated that this cytokine does not activate PI3K in human airway epithelium (292). However, the observation that removal of cytokines returns transgene expression to normal

suggests that other mechanisms are likely also involved. The observation that PI3K activation plays a key role in the level of transgene expression from AAV infected FLS suggests a new strategy that may improve AAV expression in other cell types. It should be noted that wortmannin and NF κ B inhibition act independently of each other, as treatment of dermal fibroblasts with wortmannin did not inhibit NF κ B activation, as measured by an NF κ B responsive luciferase reporter gene.

Our results demonstrate that inflammatory cytokines have a remarkable ability to regulate transgene expression in human RA FLS, especially using dsAAV vectors. This could have broad clinical implications, as dsAAV vectors encoding transgenes like sTNFR-Ig could be injected locally in the joint. Inflammatory mediators in the synovial fluid would then increase the expression of the therapeutic transgene. The regulatory nature of AAV transgene expression by inflammation could provide an additional level of control, with transgene expression only turned on during active disease and turned off once disease is brought under control and the level of inflammatory mediators decreases.

3. The proteasome inhibitor zLLL regulates AAV transgene expression in fibroblastlike synoviocytes

3.1. Introduction

Protein degradation is an important part of cellular homeostasis. In eukaryotes, protein degradation occurs in several parts of the cell, including the cytoplasm, nucleus, membrane, endoplasmic reticulum, and lysosomes. Lysosomal degradation by cathepsins and intramembrane proteolysis are important in many celluar processes. However, lysosomes only account for approximately 10-20% of cellular protein degradation. The ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) accounts for 80-90% of protein degradation and is the focus of this discussion (265). In this system, proteins are covalently tagged with ubiquitin by the ubiquitin-conjugating

enzymes E1, E2, and E3. The poly-ubiquitin tag targets the protein for degradation by the 26S proteasome, a giant protease. Through ATP-dependent and independent steps, the protein is sequentially unfolded and cleaved into peptides and amino acids that can be re-utilized by the cells (293).

The 26S proteasome is made up of a catalytic 20S structure containing the proteolytic core and a 19S cap structure that contains regulatory functions. The 20S core is made up of 4 heptameric stacked rings of α and β type subunits. Eukaryotic proteasomes have 3 major peptidase activities, chymotrypsin-like, trypsin-like, and caspase-like (293).

The UPS is important in many cellular processes and, therefore, the proteasome has become an attractive drug target. Several classes of proteasome inhibitors have been discovered and are summarized in Table 2. One peptide boronate in particular, bortezomib, is the first proteasome inhibitor evaluated in clinical trials and was recently approved for use in the treatment of multiple myeloma (294). It also shows promise in the treatment of other hematologic and solid malignancies. The primary clinical toxicities were thrombocytopenia and electrolyte abnormalities, although both were manageable (295, 296).

Peptide aldehydes such as N-acetyl-Leu-Leu-Norleucinal (calpain inhibitor I) and Nacetyl-Leu-Leu-Leucinal (zLLL or MG132) reversibly inhibit the 20S proteasome and act by modifying the catalytic hydroxyl group of threonine by forming a hemi-acetal bond. They inhibit the chymotrypsin-like activity of the proteasome and decrease cytosolic protein degradation (297). Peptide boronates form tetrahedral adducts with an N-terminal threonine of the 20S proteasome. Peptide vinyl sulfones covalently modify a catalytic threonine present in the β proteasome subunits (265). Peptide epoxyketones act on a catalytic N-terminal threonine residue of the proteasome to form an irreversible morpholino derivative (298). Lactacystin inhibits chymotryptic activity of the proteasome by covalently binding to an N-terminal threonine of the β 5 proteasome subunit via an ester bond (299).

Table 2.	Types of	proteasome	inhibitors	and their	· mechanism	of action.
----------	----------	------------	------------	-----------	-------------	------------

Туре	Members of Class	Mechanism	
Peptide Aldehydes	MG132 (zLLL)	Modify catalytic hydroxyl	
	Calpain Inhibitor I	group of 20S proteasome by	
		forming a hemiacetal bond	
Peptide Boronates	Bortezomib	Form tetrahedral adduct with	
	MG262	active site N-terminal	
		threonine of 20S proteasome	
Peptide Vinyl Sulfones	NLVS	Covalently modify catalytic	
	YLVS	threonine of β subunits	
Lactacystin and Derivatives	Lactacystin	Covalently binds N-terminal	
	Clasto-lactacystin-β-lactone	threonine of $\beta 5$ subunit and	
		forms an ester bond	
Peptide Epoxyketones	Dihydroeponemycin	Form an irreversible	
	Epoxomicin	morpholino derivative with N-	
		terminal threonine of	
		proteasome	

The use of proteasome inhibitors results in accumulation of protein aggregates into "aggresomes", which consist of ubiquitinated proteins and components of the 20S proteasome. Proteasome inhibition can also inhibit NF κ B activity and, if maintained long enough, will eventually lead to cellular apoptosis (293).

In HeLa cells, both AAV2 and AAV5 capsids appear to be substrates for ubiquitination and subsequent degradation by the proteasome. However, it appears that the capsid must first be modified in the endosome before it can be conjugated with ubiquitin, as intact virions are not substrates for ubiquitination in vitro. The exact nature of this modification remains unknown (175). This finding led to several other studies examining the role of the UPS system in AAV transduction of several cell types.

Two separate classes of proteasome inhibitors, tripeptidyl aldehydes and anthracycline derivatives, can synergistically augment AAV transduction in human airway epithelia, suggesting these different classes of inhibitors modulate different proteasome functions that mediate AAV transduction (230). In polarized human airway epithelia, the proteasome inhibitor LLnL was able to increase transgene expression after apical infection with AAV2 or AAV5 vectors. Interestingly, basal infection was unaffected by the presence of the proteasome inhibitor. Both wild type or self-complimentary vectors provided similar expression levels, suggesting that second-strand synthesis is not a rate-limiting step of AAV transduction following apical infection of polarized human airway epithelia (231). *In vivo*, proteasome inhibitors increased transduction in the mouse lung from undetectable to 10% expression in epithelial cells of the large bronchioles of the lungs. Liver expression also increased 10-fold upon proteasome inhibition. Muscle transduction, however, was unaffected, suggesting cell type specific effects of proteasome inhibition (174).

Proteasome inhibitors also increase transgene expression in human intestinal epithelial cells *in vitro* up to 400-fold (232). A dual therapeutic use of proteasome inhibitors in human cystic fibrosis airway epithelia infected with AAV has been observed. Not only was there an increase in CFTR transgene expression, but there was also a simultaneous inhibition of ENaC currents that was independent of vector administration (233). The following studies examine the role of proteasome inhibition on AAV-mediated transgene expression in fibroblast-like synoviocytes.

3.2. Materials and methods

3.2.1. Isolation of fibroblast-like synoviocytes (FLS)

FLS were isolated as described in the materials and methods section of chapter 2.

3.2.2. AAV production

The vectors AAV (mIL-4), encoding the murine IL-4 cDNA, AAV(mIL-10), encoding the murine IL-10 cDNA, and AAV(EGFP), encoding the green fluorescent protein (GFP) cDNA, were driven by the CMV promoter. All AAV constructs were derived from AAV2 and were generated by either 293/triple transfection or B50/hybrid method (300). Adenovirus helper functions were supplemented by pAdORF6, a plasmid construct carrying all essential adenovirus helper genes (300). Transfection was carried out using the standard calcium phosphate precipitation method. AAV vector preps were purified by CsCl gradient centrifugation (301). The genome titers of vector preps were determined by the real time quantitative PCR method (300), whereas the transducing titers of vector preps were assayed on 84-31 cells as described elsewhere (302). Virus was stored at -80°C in buffer containing 20 mM Tris pH 7.4, 1 mM MgCl2, 150 mM NaCl, and 10% (v/v) glycerol.

3.2.3. Recombinant adenovirus

Ad(BgIII) is an E1a-E3-deleted replication-defective adenovirus type 5 backbone vector lacking a transgene and was generously provided by J.A. Bluestone and J.M. Leiden. Recombinant adenovirus was produced and propagated in 293 cells and purified by cesium chloride density centrifugation, as previously described (303, 304). Virus plaques were purified three times before the production of seed stocks, and their identities were confirmed by restriction endonuclease digestion and DNA sequence analysis. Viral titers (particles per ml) were calculated by OD260X10¹² following lysis of viral stocks in 0.1% SDS, 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4), and 1 mM EDTA at 56°C for 10 min. Virus was stored at -80°C in buffer containing 10 mM Tris pH 7.4, 1 mM MgCl₂, 10% (v/v) glycerol.

3.2.4. *In vitro* infection

Infection of cells was carried out as described in the materials and methods section of chapter 2. In some cases, carbobenzoxy-L-leucyl-L-leucyl-L-leucinal (zLLL, also called MG-132, purchased from Calbiochem, La Jolla, CA) was added for 24 hours either at the time of infection or at later time points. zLLL was prepared as a 20 mM stock solution in DMSO and diluted in RPMI containing 10% fetal calf serum prior to use at a working concentration of 20 or 40µM as indicated.

3.2.5. Assays for mIL-4 and mIL-10

Concentrations of mIL-4 and mIL-10 in cell supernatants were determined by enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), as previously described (56). Plates were washed and developed with ABTS peroxidase substrate (Kirkegaard & Perry) and read at 410 nm with a Kinetic Microplate Reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA). Assays were performed in duplicate wells and the results averaged. In all cases, duplicates differed by <5%.

3.2.6. Flow cytometry

Flow cytometry was performed as described in the materials and methods section of chapter 2.

3.2.7. Analysis of nuclear and cytoplasmic AAV DNA

Human fibroblast-like synoviocytes infected with 1×10^4 particles per cell of rAAV(IL-10) were collected at various time points, washed with PBS, and resuspended in 0.5ml lysing buffer (1.3M sucrose, 20 mM MgCl₂, 4 mM Tris, 4.2% Triton X-100) and 1.5ml ice cold water and incubated on ice for 10min. The nuclei were pelleted by spinning at 1400rpm for 15min at 4°. The supernatant containing the cytoplasmic fraction was transferred to a new tube and the nuclear pellet was washed with 2 ml PBS. Both tubes were spun again at 1400rpm for 15min. The cytoplasmic fraction was transferred to a new tube and 25µl of RNaseA (200 U/ml) was added. Viral nuclear DNA was isolated using a Qiagen plasmid maxi kit. After isolation, both the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions were treated with 50µl Proteinase K (Invitrogen, 10mg/ml) and incubated at 50°C for 1 hour. The samples were cooled to room temperature and 10µl of glycogen (Boehringer Mannheim, 20mg/ml) was added. The DNA was precipitated with isopropanol, washed with 70% ethanol, air-dried, and resuspended in water. Successful isolation of the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions was confirmed using a cytoplasmic phosphatase assay and western blotting for histone H3, as previously described (172), and by PCR. Cytoplasmic and nuclear DNA fractions were applied to nitrocellulose using a Bio-Dot SF Microfiltration Apparatus (Biorad). A 500 bp biotinylated probe specific for a region within the mouse IL-10 transgene was prepared using the Random Prime DNA Labeling System with biotin-14-dCTP Hybridization, washing, and blocking were performed according to the (Invitrogen). manufacturers instructions. A 1:2000 dilution of SA-HRP (Zymed) was applied. Supersignal West Femto Maximum Sensitivity Substrate (Pierce) was added and the blot was exposed to X-OMAT film (Kodak).

3.2.8. Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry for intact AAV particles was performed as described in the materials and methods section of chapter 2.

3.3. Results

3.3.1. The proteasome inhibitor zLLL increases AAV transgene expression in fibroblast-like synoviocytes

92
For local treatment of arthritis to be successful using AAV, the cells lining the joint must be efficiently transduced by the vector. The synovial lining normally consists of a 2-3 cell layer thick tissue made up of macrophage-like and fibroblast-like synoviocytes. During arthritis, these cells proliferate to form a pannus of tissue that secrete molecules that contribute to cartilage invasion and bone destruction. In particular, the role of fibroblast-like synoviocytes in this process has been thoroughly studied. The role of macrophage-like synoviocytes in this process is less well defined, primarily because of the difficulty of isolating and maintaining these cells in culture. Fibroblast-like synoviocytes were isolated from human RA tissue and the ability of both ssAAV and dsAAV to transduce these cells was examined. Both transduced the cells only minimally, although dsAAV provide for significantly more transduction than ssAAV (Figure 20A and B). The addition of the proteasome inhibitor zLLL increased transgene expression dramatically with both vectors, from 2.3% to 23% for ssAAV and from 15.7% to 72.2% for dsAAV (Figure 20C and D), although transgene expression returned to baseline several days after removal of the inhibitor (data not shown).



Figure 20: The proteasome inhibitor zLLL increases AAV-mediated transgene expression in fibroblast-like synoviocytes.

Human RA FLS were infected with either ssAAV or dsAAV encoding GFP at $1x10^4$ particles/cell. The proteasome inhibitor zLLL (20µM) was added, as indicated, for 24 hours and then washed out. Cells were then analyzed by flow cytometry 24 hours later. The left part of each panel shows a field of cells as visualized by light microscopy. The right part of each panel represents the same field, this time as visualized by fluorescent light. GFP positive cells are green. The percent positive cells, as measured by flow cytometry, are indicated. This experiment is representative of three separate experiments.

3.3.2. Proteasome inhibitor can regulate transgene expression in human RA FLS in vitro

We were surprised to observe that the zLLL-induced increase in transgene expression was transient, such that after removal, expression returned to baseline. This is inconsistent with the proposed mechanism of action of zLLL, that of increasing viral trafficking to the nucleus, as transgene expression should be stable once the viral genome reaches the nucleus and sufficient second strand synthesis occurs. To further explore this finding, synovial cells were re-exposed to zLLL following the loss of transgene expression, this time using a ssAAV vector encoding mouse IL-10. Transgene expression could be repeatedly induced by re-exposure to zLLL (Figure 21A). In each case, expression peaked 2-3 days following exposure to zLLL and then dropped off. We were able to re-induce transgene expression as far out as 32 days after infection. This is in contrast to co-infection with Ad(BgIII), a recombinant adenovirus lacking a transgene, which resulted in a stable increase in transgene product (Figure 21B).



Figure 21: zLLL can regulate rAAV-mediated transduction of RA FLS in vitro.

RA FLS were infected with $1x10^4$ particles/cell of ssAAV(mIL-10) in the presence or absence of A) 20 μ M zLLL or B) 100 particles/cell of the recombinant adenovirus, Ad(BgIII), which lacks a transgene. Arrows indicate exposure to zLLL or adenovirus (Ad). The supernatants were assayed by ELISA for mIL-10 on the days indicated. Each time point represents the amount of transgene product secreted into the supernatant over a 24 hour period.

3.3.3. Proteasome inhibition leads to increased trafficking of AAV viral DNA to the nucleus

Since proteasome inhibitors are known to increase nuclear trafficking of AAV DNA in some cell types, the effect of zLLL on AAV transport was investigated. Cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions were isolated from AAV-infected cells at various time points prior and after exposure to zLLL and the fractions were analyzed for the presence of AAV DNA (Figure 22). The majority of the AAV DNA was located in the nucleus within 4 hours of infection. However, at 3 days post-infection, increased DNA was noted in the cytoplasm, apparently due to trafficking of AAV DNA between the nucleus and the cytoplasm. Addition of zLLL led to a transient loss of AAV DNA from the cytoplasm that was maximal at 24 hours and was followed by a return of AAV DNA to the cytoplasm. A second exposure to zLLL 7 days later again resulted in a similar transient loss of cytoplasmic AAV DNA. This observation supports the role of proteasome inhibitor in enhancing transport of AAV DNA to the nucleus. However, there was no obvious correlation between nuclear DNA and either RNA or protein levels of the transgene product. For instance, transgene DNA levels in the nucleus were similar before and after a second exposure to zLLL (Figure 22) even though amount of transgene product was markedly different (Figure 21).



Figure 22: Effect of zLLL on AAV DNA trafficking.

RA FLS were infected with $1x10^4$ particles per cell of AAV(IL-10). zLLL was added 3 days after infection and again 7 days later. Cytoplasmic and nuclear DNA was isolated at the indicated time points. The first two time points are relative to the time of infection and all subsequent time points are relative to the addition of zLLL. Slot blot analysis using a transgene-specific biotinylated probe was used to detect the viral DNA in each fraction. The probe did not bind to DNA from non-infected cells (not shown). The studies were repeated to ensure reproducibility, with similar findings.

3.3.4. Proteasome inhibition leads to aggregation of intact AAV particles in the perinuclear area

Next we wanted to determine if proteasome inhibition had any effect on the intracellular localization of intact AAV viral particles. AAV-infected cells were treated with the proteasome inhibitor zLLL. 24 hours after zLLL removal the cells were fixed and stained for intact AAV particles. Treatment with the proteasome inhibitor led to a distinct and intense primarily perinuclear staining (Figure 23). The intense staining is not surprising because normally the AAV capsid is ubiquitinated and subsequently degraded by the proteasome (175). Inhibition of the proteasome would naturally lead to a buildup of ubiquitinated proteins. Proteasome inhibition has also been reported to lead to the formation of aggresomes and sequestosomes, which are

formed as depots for storage of ubiquitinated proteins when proteasome function is impaired (305). It seems likely that the viral particles are being stored within these aggregates. Intracellular localization of intact AAV particles was examined over several rounds of proteasome inhibition. The total number of aggregates clearly decreased over time, but intact particles were detected at all time points examined (data not shown). Rarely could any intact particles be observed in the nucleus, consistent with previous studies suggesting that uncoating occurs prior to or during nuclear translocation of the virus (176).



Figure 23: Effect of zLLL on cellular localization of intact AAV particles.

Dermal fibroblasts were seeded onto coverslips. The next day, cells were infected with $1x10^4$ particles/cell of dsAAV (sTNFR-Fc) as described. 24 hours later zLLL (20µM) was added, as indicated. The next day cells were fixed and stained for intact AAV particles as described in the materials and methods.

3.3.5. NFKB inhibition does not prevent the effects of zLLL on AAV transgene expression in dermal fibroblasts

Although zLLL has been demonstrated to inhibit NF κ B, we wanted to confirm that inhibition of this transcription factor did not affect the ability of zLLL to increase AAV-mediated transgene expression. A retroviral vector was used to deliver a super I κ B inhibitor to dermal fibroblasts and inhibition of NF κ B was demonstrated using an NF κ B reporter plasmid (see chapter 2). The cells were then infected with dsAAV and the ability of zLLL to increase transgene expression was examined. NF κ B inhibition had no effect on the ability of zLLL to increase transgene expression (Figure 24). This suggests that proteasome inhibition with zLLL increases AAV-mediated transgene expression in an NF κ B-independent manner.



Figure 24: Effect of NF_KB inhibition on ability of zLLL to increase AAV trangene expression in dermal fibroblasts.

Hs69 dermal fibroblasts were seeded in a 24 well plate at $5x10^4$ cells per well. The following day the cells were infected with dsAAV (IL-10). 24 hours later the proteasome inhibitor zLLL (20µM) was added. zLLL was removed the next day and supernatants were collected 48 hours later. Transgene expression was measured by ELISA. This is a preliminary result and the experiment has been performed only two times.

3.4. Discussion

The proteasome represents the major non-lysosomal process for degradation of proteins by ATP/ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis. The majority of proteins in mammalian cells are hydrolyzed by a distinct pathway that requires ATP and the proteasome particle. In this pathway, which is present in both the nucleus and the cytosol, most substrates are first marked for degradation by covalent linkage to multiple molecules of ubiquitin (306). This includes certain transcription factors and rate-limiting enzymes. In our studies using human FLS, we saw accumulation of the majority of AAV viral DNA in the nucleus within 4 hours after infection. Interestingly, three days after infection there appeared to be a shift of some of the viral DNA back to the cytoplasm. This is similar to the effect that Xiao et. al. saw in AAV-infected HeLa cells in the presence of adenovirus co-infection (169). Although they dismissed this observation as being due to disruption of nuclei caused by adenovirus cytopathology, our data suggest that this phenomenon may be real. Even more suggestive is the fact that multiple additions of zLLL appear to shift AAV viral DNA from the cytoplasm back to the nucleus soon after addition, with some viral DNA once again returning to the cytoplasm after 48hrs. However, it is also possible that zLLL could also disrupt the nuclei as well. This may be especially relevant because the viral particles appear to be localized in a primarily peri-nuclear location. For example, during isolation of the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of the cell zLLL may make the nucleus "sticky," leading to the appearance of viral DNA in the nuclear fraction.

This shifting effect might account for some, but not all of the increase in transgene seen upon zLLL addition, since 72 hrs after proteasome inhibition, when maximum transgene protein is observed, the levels of viral DNA in the nucleus are comparable to the levels present prior to zLLL addition. Our data shows that zLLL also effects transgene expression at the level of gene transcription and/or mRNA stability. Since nuclear translocation of AAV has previously been shown to be independent of the nuclear pore complex, one possibility is that AAV virons and/or DNA are stored in a perinuclear compartment that may fuse with the nuclear envelope upon zLLL addition, thereby releasing its contents into the nucleus. In the same fashion, a mechanism for transporting the viral DNA back out of the nucleus could also exist. The sequestration of viral particles into aggresomes could somehow contribute to this phenomenon, but further studies on the nuclear trafficking of AAV in human FLS and other cell types are needed to fully understand these observations.

The present study demonstrates that the AAV-mediated transgene expression in human RA FLS can be dramatically enhanced by proteasome inhibition. The most striking observation was that transgene expression could be regulated by repeated exposure to proteasome inhibitors. This was surprising, in light of previous studies suggesting that proteasome inhibitors enhance AAV-mediated transgene expression by increasing nuclear accumulation of AAV particles and DNA (174, 307). While nuclear transport of AAV is likely to partly explain the effect of proteasome inhibitors acted solely by increasing nuclear accumulation of AAV DNA, then once the cells were exposed to the proteasome inhibitor expression is likely to be relatively stable. However, proteasome inhibitors induced a transient and repeatable increase in transgene expression. The effect was observed even when the proteasome inhibitor was added 2 weeks after infection, suggesting a point of action downstream of binding and internalization of the AAV particle.

Douar et. al. demonstrated a 25-50-fold increase in transduction efficiency of HepG2 and HeLa cells in the presence of zLLL (307) and concluded that a significant portion of AAV particles are degraded by the proteasome. It is unclear, however, how the proteasome could degrade intact viral particles, as they are too large to fit into the proteasome structure and would need to first be degraded into proteins that could be ubiquitinated. Proteasome inhibitors may however increase the concentration of a protein that enhances nuclear transport or AAV. Thus, one possibility is that the AAV is harbored in a stable cytoplasmic compartment and that a portion is released and transported to the nucleus upon each exposure to the proteasome

inhibitor. However, this would not explain the transient nature of expression for the AAV that reached the nucleus, unless the AAV genome is unstable in the nucleus. A more likely explanation is that the AAV genome is transported to the nucleus in an inactive form until acted upon, either directly or indirectly, by the proteasome inhibitor. Proteasomes have been found to degrade numerous transcription factors, which is a likely mechanism to explain the results described here. Potential effects of proteasome inhibitors on protein regulators of gene transcription are of particular interest. For example, such molecules have been shown to influence NF κ B-dependent gene transcription by blocking the degradation of I κ B (308). Alterations in tumor suppressor genes, such as p53 (309) and PTEN (310) have also been described. The correlation of enhanced protein expression with increased transgene mRNA suggests an effect on transcription, although enhanced RNA stability is also a possibility. The effect was observed with different transgenes and different promoters, suggesting that this is not idiosyncratic but a general phenomenon. However, our results demonstrated that the effects of zLLL are NF κ B-independent. This indicates that if the effects of zLLL are at the level of a transcription factor, some other factor must be involved. Studies are currently underway to further elucidate the mechanism of action of proteasome inhibitors on AAV-mediated transgene expression in RA FLS.

As one of the key safety issues in the application of gene therapy is the ability to control and regulate transgene expression, the finding that proteasome inhibitors can regulate expression in AAV-transduced RA FLS *in vivo* suggests a possible approach to the use of AAV in arthritis. One potential complication to such an approach is that an arthritic joint is characterized by infiltration with inflammatory cells, including neutrophils, lymphocytes, and monocytes. While such cells are generally poorly permissive for AAV, it is possible that administration of AAV into an inflamed joint might lead to infection of these inflammatory cells, in addition to synoviocytes. It is unclear whether transgene expression in such cells would be influenced in the same way by proteasome inhibitors. The degree to which inflammatory cells in the joint are transduced by AAV, and the effect of proteasome inhibition on transgene expression in these cells, would need to be determined before such an approach should be tested in the clinical setting. Proteasome inhibitors have been administered to patients as an experimental therapy for cancer without substantial toxicity (311). Their use in a chronic disease such as RA would require further investigation.

4. Inter- and intra-species variation in transduction of fibroblast-like synoviocytes using different AAV serotypes

4.1. Introduction

AAV is a small parvovirus with broad tissue tropism. In human and non-human primate tissues eleven different serotypes of AAV (1-11) have been isolated and characterized. AAV has also been isolated from several other species, including cow, chicken, sheep, snake, lizard, and goat (121).

The first step in AAV infection is viral binding to the cell surface via high affinity cellular receptors. Different serotypes of AAV infect different cell types based on the availability of their respective receptors and co-receptors. Following infection, the virus must efficiently traffic to the nucleus before second-strand sythesis and transcription can occur. Defects in any point along this pathway can prevent efficient transduction of the cell. This is demonstrated by the wide variability in the tropism of the different serotypes of AAV in different cell types and in different species. These differences occur both between and within species.

Individual species demonstrate striking differences in transduction with different serotypes of AAV. AAV6 gave more efficient transduction of mouse epithelial cells in both

105

large and small airways than AAV2 (144). When injected into day 15 fetuses *in utero*, AAV5 encoding luciferase provided higher expression than AAV2 when the mice were examined 15 months after birth (145). Following sub-retinal injection in mice, AAV5 proved more efficient in transducing photoreceptor cells than AAV2 (146). AAV2, AAV4, and AAV5 demonstrated different tropism after injection into the mouse central nervous system. AAV4 and 5 gave 10-fold more transgene positive ependymal cells than AAV2 afer injection into the lateral ventricle of mice. After striatal injection, AAV4 demonstrated mainly ependymal cell transgene expression, but no expression was detected in the parenchyma. In contrast AAV2 and 5 both had transgene expression in parenchymal cells following striatal injection, with AAV2 transgene expression confined mainly to neurons, while for AAV5 transgene expression was detected in both neurons and astrocytes. In addition, 15 weeks after injection, AAV5 gave 5000-fold higher expression than AAV2 (147).

There were distinct patterns of transduction in the gerbil hippocampus using either AAV2 or AAV5, with AAV2 infecting pyramidal and granular cells and AAV5 infecting primarily granular cells (148). Differential transduction and cell tropism was also observed after injection of AAV serotypes 1, 2, and 5 into different regions of the rat brain (149). AAV3 could infect human myeloid and megakaryocytic cells that were resistant to infection with AAV2 (150).

A thorough examination of AAV2 transduction in primary human cells demonstrated significant cell-specific differences in transduction and duration of transgene expression. In particular, skeletal muscle and hair-follicle cells appeared suited for long-term expression of AAV. In some cell types, expression improved over time. In other cell types, expression went down over time. There was an inverse relationship between long-term trangene expression and

the proportion of cells in the G2/M phase, consistent with the idea that most of the viral genome is present as episomes that are diluted out between cells as they divide (151).

There was also significant donor variation in AAV2 transduction in bone marrow derived CD34-positive cells of healthy volunteers. There was significant variability in transgene expression depending on the level of cellular differentiation. This has implications for the use of AAV in gene therapy involving hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells (152).

Just as there are variations in the tropism of different serotypes of AAV within an individual species, an individual serotype of AAV can display different tissue specificity between species. This is important because the results of gene transfer studies in animal models using AAV may suggest one serotype is more suitable for study than another. However, the corresponding human tissue may or may not display similar transduction with the serotype under consideration. This is especially important if the vector is being developed for use in clinical trials for the treatment of human diseases.

Mouse and human airway epithelia demonstrate species-specific differences in AAV transduction, highlighting that the serotype of AAV best suited for animal model studies may not be the same serotype that will work best in human and nonhuman primate models. AAV2 and AAV5 gave approximately equal transduction of human airway epithelia, while AAV5 gave much higher transduction than AAV2 in mouse lung (153). Cross-packaging of AAV2 vector genomes with viral capsids from different serotypes demonstrated that the resulting viruses enabled transduction with broad and differing specificity. In addition, it was readily apparent that different target tissues of rats and mice had a different hierarchy of serotypes for efficient transduction (154).

Bovine AAV behaves in a similar fashion. In a murine salivary gland model bovine AAV gave 11 times more efficient transduction than AAV2 (312). This suggests that development of new vectors for gene transfer using AAV from different species may deomonstrate success, especially in models where the target cells are less permissive for AAV infection. The following studies were designed to examine the transduction of fibroblast-like synoviocytes isolated from different species with different serotypes of AAV, including the novel serotype AAV2.5.

4.2. Materials and Methods

4.2.1. Cell isolation and culture

Human RA FLS, mouse FLS, rabbit FLS, and horse FLS were all isolated as previously described (275, 287, 313, 314).

4.2.2. AAV infection

Cells were seeded at a density of 5×10^4 cells per well in a 24 well tissue culture plate in RPMI media. The next day the cells were infected with 1×10^4 particles per cell of dsAAV encoding EGFP with expression driven by the CMV promoter in a total volume of 0.4 ml. After a 6 hour infection, the cells were washed twice with PBS and fresh RPMI media was added. dsAAV was produced as described in the materials and methods section of chapter 2. The following day the proteasome inhibitor zLLL (Calbiochem) was added to the indicated cells at a 20 μ M concentration. zLLL was removed 24 hours later, the cells were washed twice with PBS, and 1 ml of fresh media was added. The next day the cells were trypsinized and analyzed by flow cytometry for EGFP expression as described in the materials and methods section of chapter 2.

4.3. Results

The ability of 3 different serotypes of AAV (2, 2.5, and 5) to transduce fibroblast-like synoviocytes from human, mouse, horse, and rabbit was examined. AAV 2.5 is a chimeric virus in which the capsid of the virus differs by 5 amino acids from the capsid of AAV2. The virus was originally designed to improve transduction of muscle. The 5 differing amino acids in the chimeric virus contains the muscle-tropic residues of AAV1. The chimeric virus has demonstrated increased transduction of murine muscle and is currently in a phase I clinical trial for the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Interestingly, the immune response profile to this chimeric virus resembles that of AAV1, despite the limited changes to the AAV2 capsid (315).

Human RA FLS were only minimally transduced by all three serotypes of AAV tested (Figure 25). In order to amplify the gene expression for a better comparison of the transduction of FLS, the proteasome inhibitor zLLL was added. The effects of zLLL on AAV transgene expression are discussed in chapter 3. As expected, zLLL provided a much clearer picture of which serotype of AAV transduced the synoviocytes most efficiently. For human RA FLS, AAV2 provided the highest level of transgene expression (Figure 25). AAV2.5 provided the highest level of transgene expression (Figure 26 and Figure 27). Horse FLS, like human RA FLS, were transduced most efficiently by AAV2 (Figure 28). The proteasome inhibitor zLLL routinely increased transgene expression 3-7 fold in the FLS cell lines from all four species. It is also important to note that the effects of zLLL were similar with all three of the AAV serotypes tested. The level of expression from all four FLS cell lines using all 3 serotypes in the presence or absence of zLLL is summarized in Figure 29.

Interestingly, horse FLS provided the highest transgene expression by far with all 3 serotypes of AAV tested. Although most gene transfer studies performed to date in mouse and

rabbit models of arthritis have utilized AAV2 as a gene transfer vector, these results demonstrate that AAV2.5 may be better suited in these models, especially in models of local treatment where the FLS are the target cells for AAV transduction.







MFI 39.6		MFI 215
	AAV2.5	



Figure 25: Ability of different serotypes of AAV to transduce human RA FLS.

Cells were seeded at a density of $5x10^4$ cells per well in a 24 well tissue culture plate in RPMI media. The next day the cells were infected with $1x10^4$ particles per cell of dsAAV (EGFP) in a total volume of 0.4 ml. After a 6 hour infection, the cells were washed twice with PBS and fresh RPMI media was added. The following day the proteasome inhibitor zLLL was added to the indicated cells at a 20 μ M concentration. zLLL was removed 24 hours later, the cells were washed twice with PBS, and 1 ml of fresh media was added. The next day the cells were trypsinized and analyzed by flow cytometry for EGFP expression. The results are representative of at least two separate experiments.





MFI 132	AAV2	MFI 489
MFI 699	AAV2.5	MFI 2917
MFI 63.7	AAV5	MFI 123

Figure 26: Ability of different serotypes of AAV to transduce mouse FLS.

Cells were seeded at a density of $5x10^4$ cells per well in a 24 well tissue culture plate in RPMI media. The next day the cells were infected with $1x10^4$ particles per cell of dsAAV (EGFP) in a total volume of 0.4 ml. After a 6 hour infection, the cells were washed twice with PBS and fresh RPMI media was added. The following day the proteasome inhibitor zLLL was added to the indicated cells at a 20 μ M concentration. zLLL was removed 24 hours later, the cells were washed twice with PBS, and 1 ml of fresh media was added. The next day the cells were trypsinized and analyzed by flow cytometry for EGFP expression. The results are representative of at least two separate experiments.









AAV5



Figure 27: Ability of different serotypes of AAV to transduce rabbit FLS.

Cells were seeded at a density of $5x10^4$ cells per well in a 24 well tissue culture plate in RPMI media. The next day the cells were infected with $1x10^4$ particles per cell of dsAAV (EGFP) in a total volume of 0.4 ml. After a 6 hour infection, the cells were washed twice with PBS and fresh RPMI media was added. The following day the proteasome inhibitor zLLL was added to the indicated cells at a 20 μ M concentration. zLLL was removed 24 hours later, the cells were washed twice with PBS, and 1 ml of fresh media was added. The next day the cells were trypsinized and analyzed by flow cytometry for EGFP expression. The results are representative of at least two separate experiments.



+ zLLL



Figure 28: Ability of different serotypes of AAV to transduce horse FLS.

Cells were seeded at a density of $5x10^4$ cells per well in a 24 well tissue culture plate in RPMI media. The next day the cells were infected with $1x10^4$ particles per cell of dsAAV (EGFP) in a total volume of 0.4 ml. After a 6 hour infection, the cells were washed twice with PBS and fresh RPMI media was added. The following day the proteasome inhibitor zLLL was added to the indicated cells at a 20 μ M concentration. zLLL was removed 24 hours later, the cells were washed twice with PBS, and 1 ml of fresh media was added. The next day the cells were trypsinized and analyzed by flow cytometry for EGFP expression. The results are representative of at least two separate experiments.



Figure 29: Summary of ability of different serotypes of dsAAV to infect fibroblast-like synoviocytes from different species.

4.4. Discussion

For the local treatment of arthritis to be successful using AAV vectors, it is important to determine which serotype is best suited for intra-articular transduction of FLS. The current AAV vectors in clinical trials for intra-articular delivery arthritis are derived from AAV2. In our studies in human FLS, all 3 serotypes tested provided very low levels of transgene expression, although out of AAV2, 2.5, and 5, AAV2 was best suited for transgene delivery to human RA FLS.

While therapeutic levels of a transgene may be attainable even at such low expression levels, our results demonstrate that administration of the proteasome inhibitor zLLL can increase transgene expression significantly. This suggests that intra-articular administration of zLLL at

the time of gene transfer or during flares of arthritis could increase therapeutic transgene expression dramatically, possibly leading to much quicker resolution of disease symptoms. Intra-articular injection of zLLL was able to protect rat chondrocytes from mono-iodoacetate cytotoxicity by induction of the heat shock protein Hsp70 (316).

Our results also highlight the dramatic differences in the ability of different serotypes of AAV to infect the same cell type from different species. There are two considerations in the design of a gene transfer study using AAV where the choice of which serotype to use is particularly important. If the primary goal is to show efficacy of delivering a particular transgene for the treatment of a disease, then choosing a serotype that provides the highest level of transgene expression in the model under study is of utmost importance. However, it is important to realize that this serotype may not necessarily be the best suited for future studies that may examine delivery of the same transgene to human tissues. If the primary goal of a study is to obtain the highest level of transgene expression possible in human tissue, several serotypes should be screened for their ability to infect that tissue. In addition, other manipulations, either to the virus itself or to the infected cells, may improve transduction (discussed in chapter 1) and should be thoroughly examined before moving on to clinical trials. Clearly, for local models of mouse and rabbit arthritis using AAV, AAV2.5 provides the highest level of transgene expression. As discussed above, however, AAV2.5 would not be well suited for local treatment of human RA.

In our studies, horse FLS provided the highest level of transgene expression with all 3 serotypes of AAV, suggesting an equine model of arthritis would be ideal for examining the efficacy of intra-articular adiministration of AAV vectors. However, there is currently no *in vivo* model of equine arthritis, and the cost of maintaining such a model would likely be prohibitively

expensive. Alternatively, it appears that mouse models of intra-articular delivery of AAV should be performed with AAV2.5. This serotype will provide the highest level of transgene expression and will therefore likely yield the most conclusive results.

The proteasome inhibitor zLLL increased transgene expression from all 3 serotypes equally. The only difference between the AAV serotypes is the capsid of the virus. If the mechanism of action of zLLL is on the intracellular trafficking of AAV, this suggests that these three serotypes share the same pathway of infection, at least in this cell type. It is also possible that zLLL acts on a transcriptional or post-transcriptional level, as the viral genome encapsidated within all 3 viruses was identical. Second-strand sythesis is also not involved, as these vectors were self-complementary. Apical infection of polarized airway epithelia with both dsAAV2 and dsAAV5 in the presence or absence of the proteasome inhibitor LnLL gave similar results (231). This suggests that these viruses share an intra-cellular barrier to infection that can be overcome by inhibition of the proteasome.

5. Summary and Future Directions

Rheumatoid arthritis is a debilating disease affecting millions of people across the globe. RA is characterized by inflammation of the joint, with an overproliferation of the cells of the synovial lining, creating a pannus of tissue that invades the cartilage and destroys bone. Although there remains no cure for RA, there has been significant progress in the development of new therapies in recent years. The most successful of these therapies has been aimed at neutralizing the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α and IL-1 β . These cytokines contribute to the pathogenesis of RA by perpetuating cartilage and bone destruction. Current treatments are often given systemically, which can lead to the development of significant side effects. There have been reports of re-activation of tuberulosis and the development of lymphoma in patients taking anti-TNF α medications. Intra-articular administration of these drugs could prevent the development of systemic side effects, but the half-life of these agents is so short that the frequency of administration that would be required makes it unfeasible.

Gene therapy is increasingly becoming a viable treatment option for many diseases, including RA, and has the potential to overcome many of the limitations of more traditional treatment regimens. Intra-articular administration of gene transfer vectors would require few, if any, repeat administrations, thereby providing the benefits of local treatment without the drawback of systemic side effects. One of the most attractive vectors for gene transfer is AAV. It causes no known human pathology and has broad tissue tropism. It also has low immunogenicity and is associated with long-term gene expression. For RA in particular, the fibroblast-like synoviocytes lining the joint are being targeted for gene transfer because of the prominent role they play in the pathogenesis of RA. These cells are permissive for AAV transduction, but provide low levels of transgene expression. Our studies sought to find ways to improve AAV transduction of fibroblast-like synoviocytes, potentially making local gene transfer of AAV vectors to the joint a viable treatment option for RA.

We found that the inflammatory cytokines TNF α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 were able to increase transgene expression in FLS in a PI3K and NF κ B-dependent manner. Synovial fluid from RA patients, but not from controls, also increased AAV transgene expression in FLS, suggesting that the level of inflammatory cytokines present in the joint of RA patients is sufficient to increase expression from AAV vectors. The most striking result was that the inflammatory cytokines could regulate transgene expression in FLS. This indicates the local inflammatory environment of the arthritic joint can promote transgene expression. The therapeutic transgene can then act to decrease inflammation in the joint, at which time trangene expression would return to basal, low levels. During active flares of arthritis, transgene expression would again be turned on until the inflammation was brought under control. This self-regualtory control of transgene expression makes AAV particularly appealing as a gene transfer vector for inflammatory diseases such as RA.

The mechanism by which inflammatory cytokines increase AAV transgene expression in in FLS is a little less clear. Both PI3K and NFkB appear to play a role. Confocal microscopy revealed that the inflammatory cytokines promote uncoating of the virus. PI3K activity is required for efficient trafficking to the nucleus. The literature suggests the virus is uncoated prior to or during nuclear translocation. This suggests that inhibition of PI3K may prevent cytokines from promoting uncoating of the virus. Further studies will have to be performed to determine if this is indeed the case. NF κ B is a transcription factor and therefore likely plays a role at the transcriptional level. There are four consensus binding sites for NFkB on the CMV promoter and enhancer. When NF κ B is inhibited, inflammatory cytokines are unable to increase AAV transgene expression. While this suggests that the inflammatory cytokines act in an NFkB-dependent manner, it is also possible that the cytokines act further upstream in the infectious process, prior to transcription (i.e. uncoating). Even if the cytokines promote uncoating and efficient trafficking of the virus to the nucleus, global inhibition of NFkB would still be expected to prevent efficient transcription from the viral genome, since the CMV promoter is thought to be primarily under control of NFkB. Testing the effect of NFkB inhibition on the ability of cytokines to increase transgene expression from a virus with a different promoter (i.e. a chicken beta actin promoter) may shed more light on this phenomenon.

Proteasome inhibition was found to increase transgene expression in FLS, also in a regulatory fashion. Nearly 80% of cellular proteins are degraded by the ubiquitin/proteasome

123

system. Therefore, proteasome inhibiton would be expected to effect many cellular processes. Despite this fact, proteasome inhibitors have demonstrated success in the treatment of multiple myeloma. In addition, it may be possible to inject the proteasome inhibitor intra-articularly, thereby limiting systemic side effects. In our experiments, the proteasome inhibitor zLLL appeared to increase AAV transgene expression by both transcriptional effects and effects on the intracellular localization of AAV viral DNA. The global cellular effects of proteasome inhibition make it difficult to determine which of these mechanisms may be playing a more significant role, and requires futher examination. Interestingly, treatment of infected cells with zLLL appears to lead to the accumulation of viral particles in aggresomes. How this could affect levels of transgene expression has yet to be determined. The effect of zLLL does not involve the transcription factor NF κ B, as proteasome inhibition in cells with NF κ B inhibited still resulted in increases in AAV-mediated transgene expression. This is in contrast to the effect of cytokines mentioned above, which was NF κ B-dependent, indicating that cytokines and proteasome inhibitors increase AAV transgene expression by different mechanisms. The data gathered with regards to the mechanistic effects of cytokines and zLLL are summarized below in Table 3.

	CYTOKINES	zLLL
Regulation?	+	+
NFκB-dependent?	+	-
PI3K-dependent?	+	+/-
mRNA levels?	+	+
Effect on intact particles	Loss of intact particles	Accumulation in "aggresomes"

Table 3. Summary of mechanistic effects of cytokines and zLLL on AAV transgene expression.

To this point, the data suggest that cytokines and zLLL increase AAV transgene expression by separate mechanisms. The primary data that suggests this is the NF κ B dependency of the effects of cytokines, while the zLLL effect is NF κ B-independent. In addition, cytokines and zLLL have differing effects on the existence and location of intact particles within the cell. To determine if the location or amount of intact capsids within the cell is at all related to the increase in transgene expression, the effects of cytokines and zLLL should be tested at least 10 days after infection. At this time, trafficking within the cell would be presumed to be complete. In addition, there appears to be a general decrease in the number of intact capsids within the cell over time. If all the viral particles have been uncoated and cytokines and zLLL still exert effects on transgene expression (which we have observerved at these later time points), this would suggest that the primary effect is not due to the presence or absence of intact particles

and their location within the cell. From the data gathered to date I would expect that intact particles would no longer be visible within the cell at these later time points but we would still observe large increases in transgene expression.

Once the effect on intact particles has been ruled out as contributing to increases in transgene expression, the next step would be to determine the location of the viral DNA within the cell. This experiment could be done using *in situ* hybridization with a probe specific for the viral DNA, presumably to the viral ITR, promoter, or transgene (assuming it is a reporter gene and not a transgene that would be expected to also be present in the human genome, i.e. IL-10). This experiment would act to confirm our results that zLLL causes a shift of viral DNA from the peri-nuclear cytoplasm to the nucleus, with an eventual drifting back to the cytoplasm over time. If the effect we observed was an artifact of damage to the nuclear envelope caused by proteasome inhibition, it will be revealed in this experiment. In the same vain, we did not observe this effect upon addition of cytokines, and this experiment would confirm this as well. Co-staining with markers for intracellular compartments and/or the nuclear envelope should help to localize the viral DNA within the cell.

For the cytokine treated and untreated cells, I would hypothesize that the viral DNA would be located primarily in the nuclear compartment, with no changes in the quantity of viral DNA in the nucleus upon cytokine addition. This would suggest that the primary effect of cytokines is on transcription or a post-transcriptional step. For zLLL, I would hypothesize that we will confirm our data demonstrating a shift of viral DNA from the cytoplasm to the nucleus and back again. Proteasome inhibition no doubt is a warning signal to the cell that some type of damage is occurring. To prevent uncontrolled gene transcription, the cell may try to sequester DNA away from transcriptional machinery. For chromosomal DNA this might be done by

alterations to nucleosome and histone organization, thereby preventing transcription of some or all genes. For episomal elements like viral DNA, it is entirely possible that some mechanism exists to sequester the DNA just outside or within the nuclear membrane. If this is the case, it should be revealed by the *in situ* hybridization experiment. If *in situ* hybridization demonstrated no trafficking of viral DNA within the cell, this would suggest the effect is primarily on a transcriptional or post-transcriptional level. If this is the case, either transcription factors other than NF κ B are involved or the effect is at the level of mRNA stability or post-translational control.

The cytokine effect appears to be much more likely to be due to effects on gene transcription, as the dependency on NF κ B suggests. The same effect was also observed using a virus with the chicken beta actin promoter. However, the presence of the CMV enhancer in this construct still allows for NF κ B to have an effect. If the NF κ B sites in this virus were mutated and the cytokines still had an effect, this would suggest that the primary effect is either due to other transcription factors (mentioned above) or the viral ITRs. The role of the viral ITRs in this process is being actively pursued by our laboratory. If the viral ITRs play a role, we would expect a construct missing the ITRs to be unresponsive to inflammatory cytokines. I would hypothesize that the effect is dependent on the viral ITRs. Binding of factors to the ITRs may act alone or in concert with factors that bind to the promoter of a specific viral construct (i.e. CMV or CB actin). This could explain why the effect might be dependent on NF κ B, but yet might still be observed with a virus using another promoter (i.e. CB actin). To dissect the role of ITRs in more detail, the signaling pathways activated within the cell could be examined with phospho-specific antibodies to molecules such as Erk and Jnk, for example, and electrophoretic

mobility shift assays could be performed using the viral ITRs as substrates to attempt to determine what factors may bind to this region.

Similarly, the role of PI3K in this process could be examined further. The fact that wortmannin blocks increases in transgene expression in response to cytokines several days after infection (when trafficking would be presumed to be complete) suggests that although PI3K activity is required for efficient trafficking of the virus to the nucleus, it may also have effects on transcription, translation, or post-transcriptional processing as well. Alternatively, PI3K activity may be required for the activation of production of a factor that may bind to the viral ITR, as discussed above.

Several serotypes of AAV were tested for their ability to infect FLS from four different species: human, mouse, horse, and rabbit. AAV2 was found to be most suitable for transduction of human and horse FLS, while AAV2.5 provided the highest transgene expression in mouse and rabbit. Proteasome inhibition was able to increase trangene expression in all cell types infected with all 3 AAV serotypes. This suggests that zLLL acts either on a step in viral trafficking that is shared between all 3 serotypes or acts on a transcriptional or post-transcriptional level.

Several animal models of arthritis exist, many of which are mouse models. The most widely used mouse model is collagen-induced arthritis (CIA). Several gene transfer studies examining intra-articular injection of AAV vectors have been performed, most of which use AAV2. Our results suggest that AAV2.5 will provide higher transduction in mouse FLS, thereby allowing a better evaluation of the therapeutic effects of the particular transgene being examined.

Overall, our data show that both inflammatory cytokines and proteasome inhibitors can regulate AAV-mediated trangene expression in FLS. Therefore, AAV may be ideally suited for
local gene transfer to the joint as a therapy for RA. These studies have potential implications in the future treatment of RA using AAV vectors.

APPENDIX A

Publications

Traister, RS, and Hirsch, R. "Gene Therapy for Arthritis," Immunologic Research, in press.

Traister, RS, Fabre, S, Wang, Z, Xiao, X, and Hirsch, R. "Inflammatory cytokine regulation of transgene expression in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes infected with adeno-associated virus," Arthritis and Rheumatism, Vol. 54, No. 7, July 2006. pp. 2119-2126.

Jennings, K., Miyamae, T., Traister, R., Marinov, A., Katakura, S., Sowders, D., Trapnell, B., Wilson, J.M., Gao, G., and Hirsch, R., 2004. "Proteasome inhibition enhances AAV-mediated transgene expression in human synoviocytes in vitro and in vivo," Molecular Therapy, Vol. 11, No. 4, April 2005. pp. 600-607.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. Alamanos Y, Drosos AA. Epidemiology of adult rheumatoid arthritis. Autoimmun Rev 2005;4(3):130-6.

2. Pollard L, Choy EH, Scott DL. The consequences of rheumatoid arthritis: quality of life measures in the individual patient. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2005;23(5 Suppl 39):S43-52.

3. Fautrel B, Guillemin F. Cost of illness studies in rheumatic diseases. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2002;14(2):121-6.

4. Firestein GS. Evolving concepts of rheumatoid arthritis. Nature 2003;423(6937):356-61.

5. Mor A, Abramson SB, Pillinger MH. The fibroblast-like synovial cell in rheumatoid arthritis: a key player in inflammation and joint destruction. Clin Immunol 2005;115(2):118-28.

6. Weyand CM. New insights into the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2000;39 Suppl 1:3-8.

7. Goldring SR. Pathogenesis of bone and cartilage destruction in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2003;42 Suppl 2:ii11-6.

8. Kay J, Calabrese L. The role of interleukin-1 in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2004;43 Suppl 3:iii2-iii9.

9. Dayer JM. The pivotal role of interleukin-1 in the clinical manifestations of rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2003;42 Suppl 2:ii3-10.

10. Koch AE, Kunkel SL, Strieter RM. Cytokines in rheumatoid arthritis. J Investig Med 1995;43(1):28-38.

11. Smolen JS, Steiner G. Therapeutic strategies for rheumatoid arthritis. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2003;2(6):473-88.

12. Olsen NJ, Stein CM. New drugs for rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 2004;350(21):2167-79.

13. Bakker AC, Joosten LA, Arntz OJ, Helsen MM, Bendele AM, van de Loo FA, et al. Prevention of murine collagen-induced arthritis in the knee and ipsilateral paw by local expression of human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist protein in the knee. Arthritis Rheum 1997;40(5):893-900.

14. Ghivizzani SC, Lechman ER, Kang R, Tio C, Kolls J, Evans CH, et al. Direct adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of interleukin 1 and tumor necrosis factor alpha soluble receptors to rabbit knees with experimental arthritis has local and distal anti-arthritic effects. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998;95(8):4613-8.

15. Ma Y, Thornton S, Duwel LE, Boivin GP, Giannini EH, Leiden JM, et al. Inhibition of collagen-induced arthritis in mice by viral IL-10 gene transfer. J Immunol 1998;161(3):1516-24.

16. Kim SH, Lechman ER, Kim S, Nash J, Oligino TJ, Robbins PD. Ex vivo gene delivery of IL-1Ra and soluble TNF receptor confers a distal synergistic therapeutic effect in antigeninduced arthritis. Mol Ther 2002;6(5):591-600.

17. Lechman ER, Keravala A, Nash J, Kim SH, Mi Z, Robbins PD. The contralateral effect conferred by intra-articular adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of viral IL-10 is specific to the immunizing antigen. Gene Ther 2003;10(24):2029-35.

18. Evans CH, Robbins PD, Ghivizzani SC, Wasko MC, Tomaino MM, Kang R, et al. Gene transfer to human joints: progress toward a gene therapy of arthritis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102(24):8698-703.

 Otani K, Nita I, Macaulay W, Georgescu HI, Robbins PD, Evans CH. Suppression of antigen-induced arthritis in rabbits by ex vivo gene therapy. J Immunol 1996;156(9):3558-62.
 Pap T, Gay RE, Muller-Ladner U, Gay S. Ex vivo gene transfer in the years to come. Arthritis Res 2002;4(1):10-2.

21. Nita I, Ghivizzani SC, Galea-Lauri J, Bandara G, Georgescu HI, Robbins PD, et al. Direct gene delivery to synovium. An evaluation of potential vectors in vitro and in vivo. Arthritis Rheum 1996;39(5):820-8.

22. Chan JM, Villarreal G, Jin WW, Stepan T, Burstein H, Wahl SM. Intraarticular gene transfer of TNFR:Fc suppresses experimental arthritis with reduced systemic distribution of the gene product. Mol Ther 2002;6(6):727-36.

23. Ohashi S, Kubo T, Kishida T, Ikeda T, Takahashi K, Arai Y, et al. Successful genetic transduction in vivo into synovium by means of electroporation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002;293(5):1530-5.

24. Yovandich J, O'Malley B, Jr., Sikes M, Ledley FD. Gene transfer to synovial cells by intra-articular administration of plasmid DNA. Hum Gene Ther 1995;6(5):603-10.

25. Bloquel C, Bessis N, Boissier MC, Scherman D, Bigey P. Gene therapy of collageninduced arthritis by electrotransfer of human tumor necrosis factor-alpha soluble receptor I variants. Hum Gene Ther 2004;15(2):189-201.

26. Kim JM, Ho SH, Hahn W, Jeong JG, Park EJ, Lee HJ, et al. Electro-gene therapy of collagen-induced arthritis by using an expression plasmid for the soluble p75 tumor necrosis factor receptor-Fc fusion protein. Gene Ther 2003;10(15):1216-24.

27. Kim JM, Jeong JG, Ho SH, Hahn W, Park EJ, Kim S, et al. Protection against collageninduced arthritis by intramuscular gene therapy with an expression plasmid for the interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. Gene Ther 2003;10(18):1543-50.

28. Song XY, Gu M, Jin WW, Klinman DM, Wahl SM. Plasmid DNA encoding transforming growth factor-beta1 suppresses chronic disease in a streptococcal cell wall-induced arthritis model. J Clin Invest 1998;101(12):2615-21.

29. Dreja H, Annenkov A, Chernajovsky Y. Soluble complement receptor 1 (CD35) delivered by retrovirally infected syngeneic cells or by naked DNA injection prevents the progression of collagen-induced arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2000;43(8):1698-709.

30. Ho SH, Hahn W, Lee HJ, Kim DS, Jeong JG, Kim S, et al. Protection against collageninduced arthritis by electrotransfer of an expression plasmid for the interleukin-4. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004;321(4):759-66.

31. Kuroda T, Maruyama H, Shimotori M, Higuchi N, Kameda S, Tahara H, et al. Effects of viral interleukin 10 introduced by in vivo electroporation on arthrogen-induced arthritis in mice. J Rheumatol 2006;33(3):455-62.

32. Saidenberg-Kermanac'h N, Bessis N, Deleuze V, Bloquel C, Bureau M, Scherman D, et al. Efficacy of interleukin-10 gene electrotransfer into skeletal muscle in mice with collageninduced arthritis. J Gene Med 2003;5(2):164-71.

33. Celiker MY, Ramamurthy N, Xu JW, Wang M, Jiang Y, Greenwald R, et al. Inhibition of adjuvant-induced arthritis by systemic tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases 4 gene delivery. Arthritis Rheum 2002;46(12):3361-8.

34. Imagawa T, Watanabe S, Katakura S, Boivin GP, Hirsch R. Gene transfer of a fibronectin peptide inhibits leukocyte recruitment and suppresses inflammation in mouse collagen-induced arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2002;46(4):1102-8.

35. Fellowes R, Etheridge CJ, Coade S, Cooper RG, Stewart L, Miller AD, et al. Amelioration of established collagen induced arthritis by systemic IL-10 gene delivery. Gene Ther 2000;7(11):967-77.

36. Miyata M, Sasajima T, Sato H, Saito A, Saito A, Iriswa A, et al. Suppression of collagen induced arthritis in mice utilizing plasmid DNA encoding interleukin 10. J Rheumatol 2000;27(7):1601-5.

37. Adriaansen J, Vervoordeldonk MJ, Vanderbyl S, de Jong G, Tak PP. A novel approach for gene therapy: engraftment of fibroblasts containing the artificial chromosome expression system at the site of inflammation. J Gene Med 2006;8(1):63-71.

38. Barquinero J, Eixarch H, Perez-Melgosa M. Retroviral vectors: new applications for an old tool. Gene Ther 2004;11 Suppl 1:S3-9.

39. Goossens PH, Havenga MJ, Pieterman E, Lemckert AA, Breedveld FC, Bout A, et al. Infection efficiency of type 5 adenoviral vectors in synovial tissue can be enhanced with a type 16 fiber. Arthritis Rheum 2001;44(3):570-7.

40. Toh ML, Hong SS, van de Loo F, Franqueville L, Lindholm L, van den Berg W, et al. Enhancement of adenovirus-mediated gene delivery to rheumatoid arthritis synoviocytes and synovium by fiber modifications: role of arginine-glycine-aspartic acid (RGD)- and non-RGD-binding integrins. J Immunol 2005;175(11):7687-98.

41. van de Loo FA, de Hooge AS, Smeets RL, Bakker AC, Bennink MB, Arntz OJ, et al. An inflammation-inducible adenoviral expression system for local treatment of the arthritic joint. Gene Ther 2004;11(7):581-90.

42. Anson DS. The use of retroviral vectors for gene therapy-what are the risks? A review of retroviral pathogenesis and its relevance to retroviral vector-mediated gene delivery. Genet Vaccines Ther 2004;2(1):9.

43. Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Von Kalle C, Schmidt M, McCormack MP, Wulffraat N, Leboulch P, et al. LMO2-associated clonal T cell proliferation in two patients after gene therapy for SCID-X1. Science 2003;302(5644):415-9.

44. Kaiser J. Gene therapy. Panel urges limits on X-SCID trials. Science 2005;307(5715):1544-5.

45. Sauter SL, Gasmi M. FIV vector systems. Somat Cell Mol Genet 2001;26(1-6):99-129.

46. Lin YL, Noel D, Mettling C, Reant B, Clot J, Jorgensen C, et al. Feline immunodeficiency virus vectors for efficient transduction of primary human synoviocytes: application to an original model of rheumatoid arthritis. Hum Gene Ther 2004;15(6):588-96.

47. Yin G, Liu W, An P, Li P, Ding I, Planelles V, et al. Endostatin gene transfer inhibits joint angiogenesis and pannus formation in inflammatory arthritis. Mol Ther 2002;5(5 Pt 1):547-54.

48. Kato K, Miyake K, Igarashi T, Yoshino S, Shimada T. Human immunodeficiency virus vector-mediated intra-articular expression of angiostatin inhibits progression of collagen-induced arthritis in mice. Rheumatol Int 2005;25(7):522-9.

49. Gouze E, Pawliuk R, Pilapil C, Gouze JN, Fleet C, Palmer GD, et al. In vivo gene delivery to synovium by lentiviral vectors. Mol Ther 2002;5(4):397-404.

50. Lai CM, Lai YK, Rakoczy PE. Adenovirus and adeno-associated virus vectors. DNA Cell Biol 2002;21(12):895-913.

51. Ponnazhagan S, Erikson D, Kearns WG, Zhou SZ, Nahreini P, Wang XS, et al. Lack of site-specific integration of the recombinant adeno-associated virus 2 genomes in human cells. Hum Gene Ther 1997;8(3):275-84.

52. Wang Z, Ma HI, Li J, Sun L, Zhang J, Xiao X. Rapid and highly efficient transduction by double-stranded adeno-associated virus vectors in vitro and in vivo. Gene Ther 2003;10(26):2105-11.

53. Pan RY, Chen SL, Xiao X, Liu DW, Peng HJ, Tsao YP. Therapy and prevention of arthritis by recombinant adeno-associated virus vector with delivery of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. Arthritis Rheum 2000;43(2):289-97.

54. Zhang HG, Xie J, Yang P, Wang Y, Xu L, Liu D, et al. Adeno-associated virus production of soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor neutralizes tumor necrosis factor alpha and reduces arthritis. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11(17):2431-42.

55. Cottard V, Mulleman D, Bouille P, Mezzina M, Boissier MC, Bessis N. Adenoassociated virus-mediated delivery of IL-4 prevents collagen-induced arthritis. Gene Ther 2000;7(22):1930-9.

56. Watanabe S, Imagawa T, Boivin GP, Gao G, Wilson JM, Hirsch R. Adeno-associated virus mediates long-term gene transfer and delivery of chondroprotective IL-4 to murine synovium. Mol Ther 2000;2(2):147-52.

57. Apparailly F, Millet V, Noel D, Jacquet C, Sany J, Jorgensen C. Tetracycline-inducible interleukin-10 gene transfer mediated by an adeno-associated virus: application to experimental arthritis. Hum Gene Ther 2002;13(10):1179-88.

58. Takahashi H, Kato K, Miyake K, Hirai Y, Yoshino S, Shimada T. Adeno-associated virus vector-mediated anti-angiogenic gene therapy for collagen-induced arthritis in mice. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2005;23(4):455-61.

59. Conlon TJ, Flotte TR. Recombinant adeno-associated virus vectors for gene therapy. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2004;4(7):1093-101.

60. Jeong JG, Kim JM, Ho SH, Hahn W, Yu SS, Kim S. Electrotransfer of human IL-1Ra into skeletal muscles reduces the incidence of murine collagen-induced arthritis. J Gene Med 2004;6(10):1125-33.

61. Makarov SS, Olsen JC, Johnston WN, Anderle SK, Brown RR, Baldwin AS, Jr., et al. Suppression of experimental arthritis by gene transfer of interleukin 1 receptor antagonist cDNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93(1):402-6.

62. Muller-Ladner U, Roberts CR, Franklin BN, Gay RE, Robbins PD, Evans CH, et al. Human IL-1Ra gene transfer into human synovial fibroblasts is chondroprotective. J Immunol 1997;158(7):3492-8.

63. Smeets RL, van de Loo FA, Joosten LA, Arntz OJ, Bennink MB, Loesberg WA, et al. Effectiveness of the soluble form of the interleukin-1 receptor accessory protein as an inhibitor of interleukin-1 in collagen-induced arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2003;48(10):2949-58.

64. Mukherjee P, Wu B, Mayton L, Kim SH, Robbins PD, Wooley PH. TNF receptor gene therapy results in suppression of IgG2a anticollagen antibody in collagen induced arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2003;62(8):707-14.

65. Gould DJ, Bright C, Chernajovsky Y. Inhibition of established collagen-induced arthritis with a tumour necrosis factor-alpha inhibitor expressed from a self-contained doxycycline regulated plasmid. Arthritis Res Ther 2004;6(2):R103-13.

66. Chernajovsky Y, Adams G, Podhajcer OL, Mueller GM, Robbins PD, Feldmann M. Inhibition of transfer of collagen-induced arthritis into SCID mice by ex vivo infection of spleen

cells with retroviruses expressing soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor. Gene Ther 1995;2(10):731-5.

67. Mageed RA, Adams G, Woodrow D, Podhajcer OL, Chernajovsky Y. Prevention of collagen-induced arthritis by gene delivery of soluble p75 tumour necrosis factor receptor. Gene Ther 1998;5(12):1584-92.

68. Smeets RL, van de Loo FA, Arntz OJ, Bennink MB, Joosten LA, van den Berg WB. Adenoviral delivery of IL-18 binding protein C ameliorates collagen-induced arthritis in mice. Gene Ther 2003;10(12):1004-11.

69. Woods JM, Katschke KJ, Jr., Tokuhira M, Kurata H, Arai KI, Campbell PL, et al. Reduction of inflammatory cytokines and prostaglandin E2 by IL-13 gene therapy in rheumatoid arthritis synovium. J Immunol 2000;165(5):2755-63.

70. Woods JM, Amin MA, Katschke KJ, Jr., Volin MV, Ruth JH, Connors MA, et al. Interleukin-13 gene therapy reduces inflammation, vascularization, and bony destruction in rat adjuvant-induced arthritis. Hum Gene Ther 2002;13(3):381-93.

71. Nabbe KC, van Lent PL, Holthuysen AE, Sloetjes AW, Koch AE, Radstake TR, et al. Local IL-13 gene transfer prior to immune-complex arthritis inhibits chondrocyte death and matrix-metalloproteinase-mediated cartilage matrix degradation despite enhanced joint inflammation. Arthritis Res Ther 2005;7(2):R392-401.

72. Woods JM, Tokuhira M, Berry JC, Katschke KJ, Jr., Kurata H, Damergis JA, Jr., et al. Interleukin-4 adenoviral gene therapy reduces production of inflammatory cytokines and prostaglandin E2 by rheumatoid arthritis synovium ex vivo. J Investig Med 1999;47(6):285-92.

73. Woods JM, Katschke KJ, Volin MV, Ruth JH, Woodruff DC, Amin MA, et al. IL-4 adenoviral gene therapy reduces inflammation, proinflammatory cytokines, vascularization, and bony destruction in rat adjuvant-induced arthritis. J Immunol 2001;166(2):1214-22.

74. Lubberts E, Joosten LA, Chabaud M, van Den Bersselaar L, Oppers B, Coenen-De Roo CJ, et al. IL-4 gene therapy for collagen arthritis suppresses synovial IL-17 and osteoprotegerin ligand and prevents bone erosion. J Clin Invest 2000;105(12):1697-710.

75. Lubberts E, Joosten LA, van Den Bersselaar L, Helsen MM, Bakker AC, van Meurs JB, et al. Adenoviral vector-mediated overexpression of IL-4 in the knee joint of mice with collageninduced arthritis prevents cartilage destruction. J Immunol 1999;163(8):4546-56.

76. Kim SH, Evans CH, Kim S, Oligino T, Ghivizzani SC, Robbins PD. Gene therapy for established murine collagen-induced arthritis by local and systemic adenovirus-mediated delivery of interleukin-4. Arthritis Res 2000;2(4):293-302.

77. Kageyama Y, Koide Y, Uchijima M, Nagata T, Yoshida A, Taiki A, et al. Plasmid encoding interleukin-4 in the amelioration of murine collagen-induced arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2004;50(3):968-75.

78. Boyle DL, Nguyen KH, Zhuang S, Shi Y, McCormack JE, Chada S, et al. Intra-articular IL-4 gene therapy in arthritis: anti-inflammatory effect and enhanced th2activity. Gene Ther 1999;6(12):1911-8.

79. Bessis N, Cottard V, Saidenberg-Kermanach N, Lemeiter D, Fournier C, Boissier MC. Syngeneic fibroblasts transfected with a plasmid encoding interleukin-4 as non-viral vectors for anti-inflammatory gene therapy in collagen-induced arthritis. J Gene Med 2002;4(3):300-7.

80. Saidenberg-Kermanac'h N, Bessis N, Lemeiter D, de Vernejoul MC, Boissier MC, Cohen-Solal M. Interleukin-4 cellular gene therapy and osteoprotegerin decrease inflammation-associated bone resorption in collagen-induced arthritis. J Clin Immunol 2004;24(4):370-8.

81. Guery L, Chiocchia G, Batteux F, Boissier MC, Fournier C. Collagen II-pulsed antigenpresenting cells genetically modified to secrete IL-4 down-regulate collagen-induced arthritis. Gene Ther 2001;8(24):1855-62.

82. Moore KW, de Waal Malefyt R, Coffman RL, O'Garra A. Interleukin-10 and the interleukin-10 receptor. Annu Rev Immunol 2001;19:683-765.

83. Apparailly F, Verwaerde C, Jacquet C, Auriault C, Sany J, Jorgensen C. Adenovirusmediated transfer of viral IL-10 gene inhibits murine collagen-induced arthritis. J Immunol 1998;160(11):5213-20.

84. Whalen JD, Lechman EL, Carlos CA, Weiss K, Kovesdi I, Glorioso JC, et al. Adenoviral transfer of the viral IL-10 gene periarticularly to mouse paws suppresses development of collagen-induced arthritis in both injected and uninjected paws. J Immunol 1999;162(6):3625-32.

85. Chernajovsky Y, Adams G, Triantaphyllopoulos K, Ledda MF, Podhajcer OL. Pathogenic lymphoid cells engineered to express TGF beta 1 ameliorate disease in a collageninduced arthritis model. Gene Ther 1997;4(6):553-9.

86. Mi Z, Ghivizzani SC, Lechman E, Glorioso JC, Evans CH, Robbins PD. Adverse effects of adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of human transforming growth factor beta 1 into rabbit knees. Arthritis Res Ther 2003;5(3):R132-9.

87. Quattrocchi E, Dallman MJ, Feldmann M. Adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of CTLA-4Ig fusion protein in the suppression of experimental autoimmune arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2000;43(8):1688-97.

88. Ijima K, Murakami M, Okamoto H, Inobe M, Chikuma S, Saito I, et al. Successful gene therapy via intraarticular injection of adenovirus vector containing CTLA4IgG in a murine model of type II collagen-induced arthritis. Hum Gene Ther 2001;12(9):1063-77.

89. Peng SL. Fas (CD95)-related apoptosis and rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2006;45(1):26-30.

90. Yao Q, Wang S, Gambotto A, Glorioso JC, Evans CH, Robbins PD, et al. Intra-articular adenoviral-mediated gene transfer of trail induces apoptosis of arthritic rabbit synovium. Gene Ther 2003;10(12):1055-60.

91. Liu Z, Xu X, Hsu HC, Tousson A, Yang PA, Wu Q, et al. CII-DC-AdTRAIL cell gene therapy inhibits infiltration of CII-reactive T cells and CII-induced arthritis. J Clin Invest 2003;112(9):1332-41.

92. Zhang H, Yang Y, Horton JL, Samoilova EB, Judge TA, Turka LA, et al. Amelioration of collagen-induced arthritis by CD95 (Apo-1/Fas)-ligand gene transfer. J Clin Invest 1997;100(8):1951-7.

93. Okamoto K, Asahara H, Kobayashi T, Matsuno H, Hasunuma T, Kobata T, et al. Induction of apoptosis in the rheumatoid synovium by Fas ligand gene transfer. Gene Ther 1998;5(3):331-8.

94. Zhang H, Gao G, Clayburne G, Schumacher HR. Elimination of rheumatoid synovium in situ using a Fas ligand 'gene scalpel'. Arthritis Res Ther 2005;7(6):R1235-43.

95. Kim SH, Kim S, Oligino TJ, Robbins PD. Effective treatment of established mouse collagen-induced arthritis by systemic administration of dendritic cells genetically modified to express FasL. Mol Ther 2002;6(5):584-90.

96. Kobayashi T, Okamoto K, Kobata T, Hasunuma T, Kato T, Hamada H, et al. Novel gene therapy for rheumatoid arthritis by FADD gene transfer: induction of apoptosis of rheumatoid synoviocytes but not chondrocytes. Gene Ther 2000;7(6):527-33.

97. Colville-Nash PR, Scott DL. Angiogenesis and rheumatoid arthritis: pathogenic and therapeutic implications. Ann Rheum Dis 1992;51(7):919-25.

98. Kimball ES, Gross JL. Angiogenesis in pannus formation. Agents Actions 1991;34(3-4):329-31.

99. Gerlag DM, Borges E, Tak PP, Ellerby HM, Bredesen DE, Pasqualini R, et al. Suppression of murine collagen-induced arthritis by targeted apoptosis of synovial neovasculature. Arthritis Res 2001;3(6):357-61.

100. Kim JM, Ho SH, Park EJ, Hahn W, Cho H, Jeong JG, et al. Angiostatin gene transfer as an effective treatment strategy in murine collagen-induced arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2002;46(3):793-801.

101. Chen Y, Donnelly E, Kobayashi H, Debusk LM, Lin PC. Gene therapy targeting the Tie2 function ameliorates collagen-induced arthritis and protects against bone destruction. Arthritis Rheum 2005;52(5):1585-94.

102. Afuwape AO, Feldmann M, Paleolog EM. Adenoviral delivery of soluble VEGF receptor 1 (sFlt-1) abrogates disease activity in murine collagen-induced arthritis. Gene Ther 2003;10(23):1950-60.

103. Jou IM, Shiau AL, Chen SY, Wang CR, Shieh DB, Tsai CS, et al. Thrombospondin 1 as an effective gene therapeutic strategy in collagen-induced arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2005;52(1):339-44.

104. Park YW, Kang YM, Butterfield J, Detmar M, Goronzy JJ, Weyand CM. Thrombospondin 2 functions as an endogenous regulator of angiogenesis and inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis. Am J Pathol 2004;165(6):2087-98.

105. Apparailly F, Bouquet C, Millet V, Noel D, Jacquet C, Opolon P, et al. Adenovirusmediated gene transfer of urokinase plasminogen inhibitor inhibits angiogenesis in experimental arthritis. Gene Ther 2002;9(3):192-200.

106. Rutkauskaite E, Volkmer D, Shigeyama Y, Schedel J, Pap G, Muller-Ladner U, et al. Retroviral gene transfer of an antisense construct against membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase reduces the invasiveness of rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts. Arthritis Rheum 2005;52(7):2010-4.

107. Rutkauskaite E, Zacharias W, Schedel J, Muller-Ladner U, Mawrin C, Seemayer CA, et al. Ribozymes that inhibit the production of matrix metalloproteinase 1 reduce the invasiveness of rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts. Arthritis Rheum 2004;50(5):1448-56.

108. van der Laan WH, Quax PH, Seemayer CA, Huisman LG, Pieterman EJ, Grimbergen JM, et al. Cartilage degradation and invasion by rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts is inhibited by gene transfer of TIMP-1 and TIMP-3. Gene Ther 2003;10(3):234-42.

109. Tomita T, Takeuchi E, Tomita N, Morishita R, Kaneko M, Yamamoto K, et al. Suppressed severity of collagen-induced arthritis by in vivo transfection of nuclear factor kappaB decoy oligodeoxynucleotides as a gene therapy. Arthritis Rheum 1999;42(12):2532-42.

110. Zhang HG, Huang N, Liu D, Bilbao L, Zhang X, Yang P, et al. Gene therapy that inhibits nuclear translocation of nuclear factor kappaB results in tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis of human synovial fibroblasts. Arthritis Rheum 2000;43(5):1094-105.

111. Shouda T, Yoshida T, Hanada T, Wakioka T, Oishi M, Miyoshi K, et al. Induction of the cytokine signal regulator SOCS3/CIS3 as a therapeutic strategy for treating inflammatory arthritis. J Clin Invest 2001;108(12):1781-8.

112. Takayanagi H, Juji T, Miyazaki T, Iizuka H, Takahashi T, Isshiki M, et al. Suppression of arthritic bone destruction by adenovirus-mediated csk gene transfer to synoviocytes and osteoclasts. J Clin Invest 1999;104(2):137-46.

113. Yamamoto A, Fukuda A, Seto H, Miyazaki T, Kadono Y, Sawada Y, et al. Suppression of arthritic bone destruction by adenovirus-mediated dominant-negative Ras gene transfer to synoviocytes and osteoclasts. Arthritis Rheum 2003;48(9):2682-92.

114. Rabinovich GA, Daly G, Dreja H, Tailor H, Riera CM, Hirabayashi J, et al. Recombinant galectin-1 and its genetic delivery suppress collagen-induced arthritis via T cell apoptosis. J Exp Med 1999;190(3):385-98.

115. Schedel J, Seemayer CA, Pap T, Neidhart M, Kuchen S, Michel BA, et al. Targeting cathepsin L (CL) by specific ribozymes decreases CL protein synthesis and cartilage destruction in rheumatoid arthritis. Gene Ther 2004;11(13):1040-7.

116. Nonomura Y, Kohsaka H, Nasu K, Terada Y, Ikeda M, Miyasaka N. Suppression of arthritis by forced expression of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21(Cip1) gene into the joints. Int Immunol 2001;13(6):723-31.

117. Taniguchi K, Kohsaka H, Inoue N, Terada Y, Ito H, Hirokawa K, et al. Induction of the p16INK4a senescence gene as a new therapeutic strategy for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Nat Med 1999;5(7):760-7.

118. Triantaphyllopoulos KA, Williams RO, Tailor H, Chernajovsky Y. Amelioration of collagen-induced arthritis and suppression of interferon-gamma, interleukin-12, and tumor necrosis factor alpha production by interferon-beta gene therapy. Arthritis Rheum 1999;42(1):90-9.

119. Dai L, Claxson A, Marklund SL, Feakins R, Yousaf N, Chernajovsky Y, et al. Amelioration of antigen-induced arthritis in rats by transfer of extracellular superoxide dismutase and catalase genes. Gene Ther 2003;10(7):550-8.

120. Iyama S, Okamoto T, Sato T, Yamauchi N, Sato Y, Sasaki K, et al. Treatment of murine collagen-induced arthritis by ex vivo extracellular superoxide dismutase gene transfer. Arthritis Rheum 2001;44(9):2160-7.

121. Choi VW, McCarty DM, Samulski RJ. AAV hybrid serotypes: improved vectors for gene delivery. Curr Gene Ther 2005;5(3):299-310.

122. Berns KI, Linden RM. The cryptic life style of adeno-associated virus. Bioessays 1995;17(3):237-45.

123. Muzyczka N. Use of adeno-associated virus as a general transduction vector for mammalian cells. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 1992;158:97-129.

124. Kotin RM, Siniscalco M, Samulski RJ, Zhu XD, Hunter L, Laughlin CA, et al. Sitespecific integration by adeno-associated virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990;87(6):2211-5.

125. Samulski RJ, Zhu X, Xiao X, Brook JD, Housman DE, Epstein N, et al. Targeted integration of adeno-associated virus (AAV) into human chromosome 19. Embo J 1991;10(12):3941-50.

126. Giraud C, Winocour E, Berns KI. Site-specific integration by adeno-associated virus is directed by a cellular DNA sequence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994;91(21):10039-43.

127. Linden RM, Ward P, Giraud C, Winocour E, Berns KI. Site-specific integration by adeno-associated virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93(21):11288-94.

128. Philpott NJ, Giraud-Wali C, Dupuis C, Gomos J, Hamilton H, Berns KI, et al. Efficient integration of recombinant adeno-associated virus DNA vectors requires a p5-rep sequence in cis. J Virol 2002;76(11):5411-21.

129. Philpott NJ, Gomos J, Berns KI, Falck-Pedersen E. A p5 integration efficiency element mediates Rep-dependent integration into AAVS1 at chromosome 19. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002;99(19):12381-5.

130. Surosky RT, Urabe M, Godwin SG, McQuiston SA, Kurtzman GJ, Ozawa K, et al. Adeno-associated virus Rep proteins target DNA sequences to a unique locus in the human genome. J Virol 1997;71(10):7951-9.

131. Giraud C, Winocour E, Berns KI. Recombinant junctions formed by site-specific integration of adeno-associated virus into an episome. J Virol 1995;69(11):6917-24.

132. Hamilton H, Gomos J, Berns KI, Falck-Pedersen E. Adeno-associated virus site-specific integration and AAVS1 disruption. J Virol 2004;78(15):7874-82.

133. Hernandez YJ, Wang J, Kearns WG, Loiler S, Poirier A, Flotte TR. Latent adenoassociated virus infection elicits humoral but not cell-mediated immune responses in a nonhuman primate model. J Virol 1999;73(10):8549-58.

134. Schnepp BC, Jensen RL, Chen CL, Johnson PR, Clark KR. Characterization of adenoassociated virus genomes isolated from human tissues. J Virol 2005;79(23):14793-803.

135. Miller DG, Trobridge GD, Petek LM, Jacobs MA, Kaul R, Russell DW. Large-scale analysis of adeno-associated virus vector integration sites in normal human cells. J Virol 2005;79(17):11434-42.

136. Bell P, Wang L, Lebherz C, Flieder DB, Bove MS, Wu D, et al. No evidence for tumorigenesis of AAV vectors in a large-scale study in mice. Mol Ther 2005;12(2):299-306.
137. Lai Y, Yue Y, Liu M, Ghosh A, Engelhardt JF, Chamberlain JS, et al. Efficient in vivo gene expression by trans-splicing adeno-associated viral vectors. Nat Biotechnol 2005;23(11):1435-9.

138. Duan D, Sharma P, Yang J, Yue Y, Dudus L, Zhang Y, et al. Circular intermediates of recombinant adeno-associated virus have defined structural characteristics responsible for long-term episomal persistence in muscle tissue. J Virol 1998;72(11):8568-77.

139. Rivera VM, Gao GP, Grant RL, Schnell MA, Zoltick PW, Rozamus LW, et al. Longterm pharmacologically regulated expression of erythropoietin in primates following AAVmediated gene transfer. Blood 2005;105(4):1424-30.

140. Nakai H, Yant SR, Storm TA, Fuess S, Meuse L, Kay MA. Extrachromosomal recombinant adeno-associated virus vector genomes are primarily responsible for stable liver transduction in vivo. J Virol 2001;75(15):6969-76.

141. Afione SA, Wang J, Walsh S, Guggino WB, Flotte TR. Delayed expression of adenoassociated virus vector DNA. Intervirology 1999;42(4):213-20.

142. Shayakhmetov DM, Carlson CA, Stecher H, Li Q, Stamatoyannopoulos G, Lieber A. A high-capacity, capsid-modified hybrid adenovirus/adeno-associated virus vector for stable transduction of human hematopoietic cells. J Virol 2002;76(3):1135-43.

143. Carter BJ. Adeno-associated virus vectors in clinical trials. Hum Gene Ther 2005;16(5):541-50.

144. Halbert CL, Allen JM, Miller AD. Adeno-associated virus type 6 (AAV6) vectors mediate efficient transduction of airway epithelial cells in mouse lungs compared to that of AAV2 vectors. J Virol 2001;75(14):6615-24.

145. Lipshutz GS, Titre D, Brindle M, Bisconte AR, Contag CH, Gaensler KM. Comparison of gene expression after intraperitoneal delivery of AAV2 or AAV5 in utero. Mol Ther 2003;8(1):90-8.

146. Yang GS, Schmidt M, Yan Z, Lindbloom JD, Harding TC, Donahue BA, et al. Virusmediated transduction of murine retina with adeno-associated virus: effects of viral capsid and genome size. J Virol 2002;76(15):7651-60.

147. Davidson BL, Stein CS, Heth JA, Martins I, Kotin RM, Derksen TA, et al. Recombinant adeno-associated virus type 2, 4, and 5 vectors: transduction of variant cell types and regions in the mammalian central nervous system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000;97(7):3428-32.

148. Nomoto T, Okada T, Shimazaki K, Mizukami H, Matsushita T, Hanazono Y, et al. Distinct patterns of gene transfer to gerbil hippocampus with recombinant adeno-associated virus type 2 and 5. Neurosci Lett 2003;340(2):153-7.

149. Burger C, Gorbatyuk OS, Velardo MJ, Peden CS, Williams P, Zolotukhin S, et al. Recombinant AAV viral vectors pseudotyped with viral capsids from serotypes 1, 2, and 5 display differential efficiency and cell tropism after delivery to different regions of the central nervous system. Mol Ther 2004;10(2):302-17.

150. Handa A, Muramatsu S, Qiu J, Mizukami H, Brown KE. Adeno-associated virus (AAV)-3-based vectors transduce haematopoietic cells not susceptible to transduction with AAV-2based vectors. J Gen Virol 2000;81(Pt 8):2077-84.

151. Rohr UP, Kronenwett R, Grimm D, Kleinschmidt J, Haas R. Primary human cells differ in their susceptibility to rAAV-2-mediated gene transfer and duration of reporter gene expression. J Virol Methods 2002;105(2):265-75.

152. Ponnazhagan S, Mukherjee P, Wang XS, Qing K, Kube DM, Mah C, et al. Adenoassociated virus type 2-mediated transduction in primary human bone marrow-derived CD34+ hematopoietic progenitor cells: donor variation and correlation of transgene expression with cellular differentiation. J Virol 1997;71(11):8262-7.

153. Liu X, Yan Z, Luo M, Engelhardt JF. Species-specific differences in mouse and human airway epithelial biology of recombinant adeno-associated virus transduction. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2006;34(1):56-64.

154. Rabinowitz JE, Rolling F, Li C, Conrath H, Xiao W, Xiao X, et al. Cross-packaging of a single adeno-associated virus (AAV) type 2 vector genome into multiple AAV serotypes enables transduction with broad specificity. J Virol 2002;76(2):791-801.

155. Summerford C, Samulski RJ. Membrane-associated heparan sulfate proteoglycan is a receptor for adeno-associated virus type 2 virions. J Virol 1998;72(2):1438-45.

156. Boyle MP, Enke RA, Reynolds JB, Mogayzel PJ, Jr., Guggino WB, Zeitlin PL. Membrane-associated heparan sulfate is not required for rAAV-2 infection of human respiratory epithelia. Virol J 2006;3:29.

157. Qing K, Mah C, Hansen J, Zhou S, Dwarki V, Srivastava A. Human fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 is a co-receptor for infection by adeno-associated virus 2. Nat Med 1999;5(1):71-7.

158. Summerford C, Bartlett JS, Samulski RJ. AlphaVbeta5 integrin: a co-receptor for adenoassociated virus type 2 infection. Nat Med 1999;5(1):78-82.

159. Kashiwakura Y, Tamayose K, Iwabuchi K, Hirai Y, Shimada T, Matsumoto K, et al. Hepatocyte growth factor receptor is a coreceptor for adeno-associated virus type 2 infection. J Virol 2005;79(1):609-14.

160. Walters RW, Yi SM, Keshavjee S, Brown KE, Welsh MJ, Chiorini JA, et al. Binding of adeno-associated virus type 5 to 2,3-linked sialic acid is required for gene transfer. J Biol Chem 2001;276(23):20610-6.

161. Kaludov N, Brown KE, Walters RW, Zabner J, Chiorini JA. Adeno-associated virus serotype 4 (AAV4) and AAV5 both require sialic acid binding for hemagglutination and efficient transduction but differ in sialic acid linkage specificity. J Virol 2001;75(15):6884-93.

162. Di Pasquale G, Davidson BL, Stein CS, Martins I, Scudiero D, Monks A, et al.
Identification of PDGFR as a receptor for AAV-5 transduction. Nat Med 2003;9(10):1306-12.
163. Duan D, Li Q, Kao AW, Yue Y, Pessin JE, Engelhardt JF. Dynamin is required for recombinant adeno-associated virus type 2 infection. J Virol 1999;73(12):10371-6.

164. Bartlett JS, Wilcher R, Samulski RJ. Infectious entry pathway of adeno-associated virus and adeno-associated virus vectors. J Virol 2000;74(6):2777-85.

165. Sanlioglu S, Benson PK, Yang J, Atkinson EM, Reynolds T, Engelhardt JF. Endocytosis and nuclear trafficking of adeno-associated virus type 2 are controlled by rac1 and phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase activation. J Virol 2000;74(19):9184-96.

166. Douar AM, Poulard K, Stockholm D, Danos O. Intracellular trafficking of adenoassociated virus vectors: routing to the late endosomal compartment and proteasome degradation. J Virol 2001;75(4):1824-33.

167. Pajusola K, Gruchala M, Joch H, Luscher TF, Yla-Herttuala S, Bueler H. Cell-typespecific characteristics modulate the transduction efficiency of adeno-associated virus type 2 and restrain infection of endothelial cells. J Virol 2002;76(22):11530-40.

168. Bantel-Schaal U, Hub B, Kartenbeck J. Endocytosis of adeno-associated virus type 5
leads to accumulation of virus particles in the Golgi compartment. J Virol 2002;76(5):2340-9.
169. Xiao W, Warrington KH, Jr., Hearing P, Hughes J, Muzyczka N. Adenovirus-facilitated nuclear translocation of adeno-associated virus type 2. J Virol 2002;76(22):11505-17.

170. Seisenberger G, Ried MU, Endress T, Buning H, Hallek M, Brauchle C. Real-time single-molecule imaging of the infection pathway of an adeno-associated virus. Science 2001;294(5548):1929-32.

171. Ding W, Zhang LN, Yeaman C, Engelhardt JF. rAAV2 traffics through both the late and the recycling endosomes in a dose-dependent fashion. Mol Ther 2006;13(4):671-82.

172. Hansen J, Qing K, Kwon HJ, Mah C, Srivastava A. Impaired intracellular trafficking of adeno-associated virus type 2 vectors limits efficient transduction of murine fibroblasts. J Virol 2000;74(2):992-6.

173. Hauck B, Zhao W, High K, Xiao W. Intracellular viral processing, not single-stranded DNA accumulation, is crucial for recombinant adeno-associated virus transduction. J Virol 2004;78(24):13678-86.

174. Duan D, Yue Y, Yan Z, Yang J, Engelhardt JF. Endosomal processing limits gene transfer to polarized airway epithelia by adeno-associated virus. J Clin Invest 2000;105(11):1573-87.

175. Yan Z, Zak R, Luxton GW, Ritchie TC, Bantel-Schaal U, Engelhardt JF. Ubiquitination of both adeno-associated virus type 2 and 5 capsid proteins affects the transduction efficiency of recombinant vectors. J Virol 2002;76(5):2043-53.

176. Lux K, Goerlitz N, Schlemminger S, Perabo L, Goldnau D, Endell J, et al. Green fluorescent protein-tagged adeno-associated virus particles allow the study of cytosolic and nuclear trafficking. J Virol 2005;79(18):11776-87.

177. Hansen J, Qing K, Srivastava A. Infection of purified nuclei by adeno-associated virus 2. Mol Ther 2001;4(4):289-96.

178. Thomas CE, Storm TA, Huang Z, Kay MA. Rapid uncoating of vector genomes is the key to efficient liver transduction with pseudotyped adeno-associated virus vectors. J Virol 2004;78(6):3110-22.

179. Girod A, Wobus CE, Zadori Z, Ried M, Leike K, Tijssen P, et al. The VP1 capsid protein of adeno-associated virus type 2 is carrying a phospholipase A2 domain required for virus infectivity. J Gen Virol 2002;83(Pt 5):973-8.

180. Ferrari FK, Samulski T, Shenk T, Samulski RJ. Second-strand synthesis is a rate-limiting step for efficient transduction by recombinant adeno-associated virus vectors. J Virol 1996;70(5):3227-34.

181. Fisher KJ, Gao GP, Weitzman MD, DeMatteo R, Burda JF, Wilson JM. Transduction with recombinant adeno-associated virus for gene therapy is limited by leading-strand synthesis. J Virol 1996;70(1):520-32.

182. McCarty DM, Fu H, Monahan PE, Toulson CE, Naik P, Samulski RJ. Adeno-associated virus terminal repeat (TR) mutant generates self-complementary vectors to overcome the ratelimiting step to transduction in vivo. Gene Ther 2003;10(26):2112-8.

183. McCarty DM, Monahan PE, Samulski RJ. Self-complementary recombinant adenoassociated virus (scAAV) vectors promote efficient transduction independently of DNA synthesis. Gene Ther 2001;8(16):1248-54.

184. Ren C, Kumar S, Shaw DR, Ponnazhagan S. Genomic stability of self-complementary adeno-associated virus 2 during early stages of transduction in mouse muscle in vivo. Hum Gene Ther 2005;16(9):1047-57.

185. Nakai H, Storm TA, Kay MA. Recruitment of single-stranded recombinant adenoassociated virus vector genomes and intermolecular recombination are responsible for stable transduction of liver in vivo. J Virol 2000;74(20):9451-63.

186. Moskalenko M, Chen L, van Roey M, Donahue BA, Snyder RO, McArthur JG, et al. Epitope mapping of human anti-adeno-associated virus type 2 neutralizing antibodies: implications for gene therapy and virus structure. J Virol 2000;74(4):1761-6.

187. Chirmule N, Propert K, Magosin S, Qian Y, Qian R, Wilson J. Immune responses to adenovirus and adeno-associated virus in humans. Gene Ther 1999;6(9):1574-83.

188. Erles K, Sebokova P, Schlehofer JR. Update on the prevalence of serum antibodies (IgG and IgM) to adeno-associated virus (AAV). J Med Virol 1999;59(3):406-11.

189. Scallan CD, Jiang H, Liu T, Patarroyo-White S, Sommer JM, Zhou S, et al. Human immunoglobulin inhibits liver transduction by AAV vectors at low AAV2 neutralizing titers in SCID mice. Blood 2006;107(5):1810-7.

190. Peden CS, Burger C, Muzyczka N, Mandel RJ. Circulating anti-wild-type adenoassociated virus type 2 (AAV2) antibodies inhibit recombinant AAV2 (rAAV2)-mediated, but not rAAV5-mediated, gene transfer in the brain. J Virol 2004;78(12):6344-59.

191. Le HT, Yu QC, Wilson JM, Croyle MA. Utility of PEGylated recombinant adenoassociated viruses for gene transfer. J Control Release 2005;108(1):161-77.

192. Huttner NA, Girod A, Perabo L, Edbauer D, Kleinschmidt JA, Buning H, et al. Genetic modifications of the adeno-associated virus type 2 capsid reduce the affinity and the neutralizing effects of human serum antibodies. Gene Ther 2003;10(26):2139-47.

193. Xiao W, Chirmule N, Schnell MA, Tazelaar J, Hughes JV, Wilson JM. Route of administration determines induction of T-cell-independent humoral responses to adenoassociated virus vectors. Mol Ther 2000;1(4):323-9. 194. Chirmule N, Xiao W, Truneh A, Schnell MA, Hughes JV, Zoltick P, et al. Humoral immunity to adeno-associated virus type 2 vectors following administration to murine and nonhuman primate muscle. J Virol 2000;74(5):2420-5.

195. Beck SE, Jones LA, Chesnut K, Walsh SM, Reynolds TC, Carter BJ, et al. Repeated delivery of adeno-associated virus vectors to the rabbit airway. J Virol 1999;73(11):9446-55.

196. Halbert CL, Standaert TA, Aitken ML, Alexander IE, Russell DW, Miller AD. Transduction by adeno-associated virus vectors in the rabbit airway: efficiency, persistence, and readministration. J Virol 1997;71(8):5932-41.

197. Halbert CL, Standaert TA, Wilson CB, Miller AD. Successful readministration of adenoassociated virus vectors to the mouse lung requires transient immunosuppression during the initial exposure. J Virol 1998;72(12):9795-805.

198. Ziegler RJ, Lonning SM, Armentano D, Li C, Souza DW, Cherry M, et al. AAV2 vector harboring a liver-restricted promoter facilitates sustained expression of therapeutic levels of alpha-galactosidase A and the induction of immune tolerance in Fabry mice. Mol Ther 2004;9(2):231-40.

199. Peel AL, Zolotukhin S, Schrimsher GW, Muzyczka N, Reier PJ. Efficient transduction of green fluorescent protein in spinal cord neurons using adeno-associated virus vectors containing cell type-specific promoters. Gene Ther 1997;4(1):16-24.

200. Paterna JC, Moccetti T, Mura A, Feldon J, Bueler H. Influence of promoter and WHV post-transcriptional regulatory element on AAV-mediated transgene expression in the rat brain. Gene Ther 2000;7(15):1304-11.

201. Chen H, McCarty DM, Bruce AT, Suzuki K. Oligodendrocyte-specific gene expression in mouse brain: use of a myelin-forming cell type-specific promoter in an adeno-associated virus. J Neurosci Res 1999;55(4):504-13.

202. Chen H, McCarty DM, Bruce AT, Suzuki K, Suzuki K. Gene transfer and expression in oligodendrocytes under the control of myelin basic protein transcriptional control region mediated by adeno-associated virus. Gene Ther 1998;5(1):50-8.

203. Johnston J, Tazelaar J, Rivera VM, Clackson T, Gao GP, Wilson JM. Regulated expression of erythropoietin from an AAV vector safely improves the anemia of beta-thalassemia in a mouse model. Mol Ther 2003;7(4):493-7.

204. Haberman RP, McCown TJ, Samulski RJ. Inducible long-term gene expression in brain with adeno-associated virus gene transfer. Gene Ther 1998;5(12):1604-11.

205. Rendahl KG, Leff SE, Otten GR, Spratt SK, Bohl D, Van Roey M, et al. Regulation of gene expression in vivo following transduction by two separate rAAV vectors. Nat Biotechnol 1998;16(8):757-61.

206. Chtarto A, Bender HU, Hanemann CO, Kemp T, Lehtonen E, Levivier M, et al. Tetracycline-inducible transgene expression mediated by a single AAV vector. Gene Ther 2003;10(1):84-94.

207. Pan RY, Xiao X, Chen SL, Li J, Lin LC, Wang HJ, et al. Disease-inducible transgene expression from a recombinant adeno-associated virus vector in a rat arthritis model. J Virol 1999;73(4):3410-7.

208. Tsai ML, Chen SL, Chou PI, Wen LY, Tsai RJ, Tsao YP. Inducible adeno-associated virus vector-delivered transgene expression in corneal endothelium. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2002;43(3):751-7.

209. Wang CY, Wang S. Adeno-associated virus inverted terminal repeats improve neuronal transgene expression mediated by baculoviral vectors in rat brain. Hum Gene Ther 2005;16(10):1219-26.

210. Fu Y, Wang Y, Evans SM. Viral sequences enable efficient and tissue-specific expression of transgenes in Xenopus. Nat Biotechnol 1998;16(3):253-7.

211. Hsiao CD, Hsieh FJ, Tsai HJ. Enhanced expression and stable transmission of transgenes flanked by inverted terminal repeats from adeno-associated virus in zebrafish. Dev Dyn 2001;220(4):323-36.

212. Haberman RP, McCown TJ, Samulski RJ. Novel transcriptional regulatory signals in the adeno-associated virus terminal repeat A/D junction element. J Virol 2000;74(18):8732-9.

213. Shi X, Fang G, Shi W. Insertional mutagenesis at positions 520 and 584 of adeno-associated virus type 2 (AAV2) capsid gene and generation of AAV2 vectors with eliminated heparin-binding ability and introduced novel tropism. Hum Gene Ther 2006;17(3):353-61.
214. Shi W, Bartlett JS. RGD inclusion in VP3 provides adeno-associated virus type 2

(AAV2)-based vectors with a heparan sulfate-independent cell entry mechanism. Mol Ther 2003;7(4):515-25.

215. Opie SR, Warrington KH, Jr., Agbandje-McKenna M, Zolotukhin S, Muzyczka N. Identification of amino acid residues in the capsid proteins of adeno-associated virus type 2 that contribute to heparan sulfate proteoglycan binding. J Virol 2003;77(12):6995-7006.

216. Lochrie MA, Tatsuno GP, Christie B, McDonnell JW, Zhou S, Surosky R, et al. Mutations on the external surfaces of adeno-associated virus type 2 capsids that affect transduction and neutralization. J Virol 2006;80(2):821-34.

217. Yang Q, Mamounas M, Yu G, Kennedy S, Leaker B, Merson J, et al. Development of novel cell surface CD34-targeted recombinant adenoassociated virus vectors for gene therapy. Hum Gene Ther 1998;9(13):1929-37.

218. Girod A, Ried M, Wobus C, Lahm H, Leike K, Kleinschmidt J, et al. Genetic capsid modifications allow efficient re-targeting of adeno-associated virus type 2. Nat Med 1999;5(9):1052-6.

219. Xu J, Ma C, Bass C, Terwilliger EF. A combination of mutations enhances the neurotropism of AAV-2. Virology 2005;341(2):203-14.

220. Gigout L, Rebollo P, Clement N, Warrington KH, Jr., Muzyczka N, Linden RM, et al. Altering AAV tropism with mosaic viral capsids. Mol Ther 2005;11(6):856-65.

221. White SJ, Nicklin SA, Buning H, Brosnan MJ, Leike K, Papadakis ED, et al. Targeted gene delivery to vascular tissue in vivo by tropism-modified adeno-associated virus vectors. Circulation 2004;109(4):513-9.

222. Shi W, Arnold GS, Bartlett JS. Insertional mutagenesis of the adeno-associated virus type 2 (AAV2) capsid gene and generation of AAV2 vectors targeted to alternative cell-surface receptors. Hum Gene Ther 2001;12(14):1697-711.

223. Loiler SA, Conlon TJ, Song S, Tang Q, Warrington KH, Agarwal A, et al. Targeting recombinant adeno-associated virus vectors to enhance gene transfer to pancreatic islets and liver. Gene Ther 2003;10(18):1551-8.

224. Perabo L, Buning H, Kofler DM, Ried MU, Girod A, Wendtner CM, et al. In vitro selection of viral vectors with modified tropism: the adeno-associated virus display. Mol Ther 2003;8(1):151-7.

225. Ponnazhagan S, Mahendra G, Kumar S, Thompson JA, Castillas M, Jr. Conjugate-based targeting of recombinant adeno-associated virus type 2 vectors by using avidin-linked ligands. J Virol 2002;76(24):12900-7.

226. Ried MU, Girod A, Leike K, Buning H, Hallek M. Adeno-associated virus capsids displaying immunoglobulin-binding domains permit antibody-mediated vector retargeting to specific cell surface receptors. J Virol 2002;76(9):4559-66.

227. Grifman M, Trepel M, Speece P, Gilbert LB, Arap W, Pasqualini R, et al. Incorporation of tumor-targeting peptides into recombinant adeno-associated virus capsids. Mol Ther 2001;3(6):964-75.

228. Wu P, Xiao W, Conlon T, Hughes J, Agbandje-McKenna M, Ferkol T, et al. Mutational analysis of the adeno-associated virus type 2 (AAV2) capsid gene and construction of AAV2 vectors with altered tropism. J Virol 2000;74(18):8635-47.

229. Bartlett JS, Kleinschmidt J, Boucher RC, Samulski RJ. Targeted adeno-associated virus vector transduction of nonpermissive cells mediated by a bispecific F(ab'gamma)2 antibody. Nat Biotechnol 1999;17(2):181-6.

230. Yan Z, Zak R, Zhang Y, Ding W, Godwin S, Munson K, et al. Distinct classes of proteasome-modulating agents cooperatively augment recombinant adeno-associated virus type 2 and type 5-mediated transduction from the apical surfaces of human airway epithelia. J Virol 2004;78(6):2863-74.

231. Ding W, Yan Z, Zak R, Saavedra M, Rodman DM, Engelhardt JF. Second-strand genome conversion of adeno-associated virus type 2 (AAV-2) and AAV-5 is not rate limiting following apical infection of polarized human airway epithelia. J Virol 2003;77(13):7361-6.

232. Tang SC, Sambanis A, Sibley E. Proteasome modulating agents induce rAAV2-mediated transgene expression in human intestinal epithelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005;331(4):1392-400.

233. Zhang LN, Karp P, Gerard CJ, Pastor E, Laux D, Munson K, et al. Dual therapeutic utility of proteasome modulating agents for pharmaco-gene therapy of the cystic fibrosis airway. Mol Ther 2004;10(6):990-1002.

234. Li L, Yang L, Kotin RM. The DNA minor groove binding agents Hoechst 33258 and 33342 enhance recombinant adeno-associated virus (rAAV) transgene expression. J Gene Med 2005;7(4):420-31.

235. Goater J, Muller R, Kollias G, Firestein GS, Sanz I, O'Keefe RJ, et al. Empirical advantages of adeno associated viral vectors in vivo gene therapy for arthritis. J Rheumatol 2000;27(4):983-9.

236. Ito H, Goater JJ, Tiyapatanaputi P, Rubery PT, O'Keefe RJ, Schwarz EM. Light-activated gene transduction of recombinant adeno-associated virus in human mesenchymal stem cells. Gene Ther 2004;11(1):34-41.

237. Ulrich-Vinther M, Maloney MD, Goater JJ, Soballe K, Goldring MB, O'Keefe RJ, et al. Light-activated gene transduction enhances adeno-associated virus vector-mediated gene expression in human articular chondrocytes. Arthritis Rheum 2002;46(8):2095-104.

238. Peng D, Qian C, Sun Y, Barajas MA, Prieto J. Transduction of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) using recombinant adeno-associated virus (rAAV): in vitro and in vivo effects of genotoxic agents. J Hepatol 2000;32(6):975-85.

239. Kanazawa T, Urabe M, Mizukami H, Okada T, Kume A, Nishino H, et al. Gamma-rays enhance rAAV-mediated transgene expression and cytocidal effect of AAV-HSVtk/ganciclovir on cancer cells. Cancer Gene Ther 2001;8(2):99-106.

Alexander IE, Russell DW, Miller AD. DNA-damaging agents greatly increase the transduction of nondividing cells by adeno-associated virus vectors. J Virol 1994;68(12):8282-7.
Russell DW, Alexander IE, Miller AD. DNA synthesis and topoisomerase inhibitors increase transduction by adeno-associated virus vectors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995;92(12):5719-23.

242. Sanlioglu S, Benson P, Engelhardt JF. Loss of ATM function enhances recombinant adeno-associated virus transduction and integration through pathways similar to UV irradiation. Virology 2000;268(1):68-78.

243. Trahair TN, Alexander IE, Rowe PB, Smythe JA. The adenovirus E4 ORF6 and E1b 55 kDa proteins cooperate in a p53-independent manner to enhance transduction by recombinant adeno-associated virus vectors. J Gen Virol 2000;81(Pt 12):2983-91.

244. Grifman M, Chen NN, Gao GP, Cathomen T, Wilson JM, Weitzman MD. Overexpression of cyclin A inhibits augmentation of recombinant adeno-associated virus transduction by the adenovirus E4orf6 protein. J Virol 1999;73(12):10010-9.

245. Sanlioglu S, Duan D, Engelhardt JF. Two independent molecular pathways for recombinant adeno-associated virus genome conversion occur after UV-C and E4orf6 augmentation of transduction. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10(4):591-602.

246. Qing K, Wang XS, Kube DM, Ponnazhagan S, Bajpai A, Srivastava A. Role of tyrosine phosphorylation of a cellular protein in adeno-associated virus 2-mediated transgene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997;94(20):10879-84.

247. Qing K, Hansen J, Weigel-Kelley KA, Tan M, Zhou S, Srivastava A. Adeno-associated virus type 2-mediated gene transfer: role of cellular FKBP52 protein in transgene expression. J Virol 2001;75(19):8968-76.

248. Zhong L, Li W, Yang Z, Chen L, Li Y, Qing K, et al. Improved transduction of primary murine hepatocytes by recombinant adeno-associated virus 2 vectors in vivo. Gene Ther 2004;11(14):1165-9.

249. Qing K, Khuntirat B, Mah C, Kube DM, Wang XS, Ponnazhagan S, et al. Adenoassociated virus type 2-mediated gene transfer: correlation of tyrosine phosphorylation of the cellular single-stranded D sequence-binding protein with transgene expression in human cells in vitro and murine tissues in vivo. J Virol 1998;72(2):1593-9.

250. Zhong L, Chen L, Li Y, Qing K, Weigel-Kelley KA, Chan RJ, et al. Self-complementary adeno-associated virus 2 (AAV)-T cell protein tyrosine phosphatase vectors as helper viruses to improve transduction efficiency of conventional single-stranded AAV vectors in vitro and in vivo. Mol Ther 2004;10(5):950-7.

251. Mah C, Qing K, Khuntirat B, Ponnazhagan S, Wang XS, Kube DM, et al. Adenoassociated virus type 2-mediated gene transfer: role of epidermal growth factor receptor protein tyrosine kinase in transgene expression. J Virol 1998;72(12):9835-43.

252. Smith AD, Collaco RF, Trempe JP. Enhancement of recombinant adeno-associated virus type 2-mediated transgene expression in a lung epithelial cell line by inhibition of the epidermal growth factor receptor. J Virol 2003;77(11):6394-404.

253. Yang YW, Chao CK. Incorporation of calcium phosphate enhances recombinant adenoassociated virus-mediated gene therapy in diabetic mice. J Gene Med 2003;5(5):417-24.

254. Walters RW, Duan D, Engelhardt JF, Welsh MJ. Incorporation of adeno-associated virus in a calcium phosphate coprecipitate improves gene transfer to airway epithelia in vitro and in vivo. J Virol 2000;74(1):535-40.

255. Mah C, Fraites TJ, Jr., Zolotukhin I, Song S, Flotte TR, Dobson J, et al. Improved method of recombinant AAV2 delivery for systemic targeted gene therapy. Mol Ther 2002;6(1):106-12.

256. Yang YW, Hsieh YC. Protamine sulfate enhances the transduction efficiency of recombinant adeno-associated virus-mediated gene delivery. Pharm Res 2001;18(7):922-7.
257. Mizuno M, Yoshida J. Improvement of transduction efficiency of recombinant adeno-associated virus vector by entrapment in multilamellar liposomes. Jpn J Cancer Res 1998;89(4):352-4.

258. Wheeler MD, Kono H, Rusyn I, Arteel GE, McCarty D, Samulski RJ, et al. Chronic ethanol increases adeno-associated viral transgene expression in rat liver via oxidant and NFkappaB-dependent mechanisms. Hepatology 2000;32(5):1050-9.

259. Sanlioglu S, Engelhardt JF. Cellular redox state alters recombinant adeno-associated virus transduction through tyrosine phosphatase pathways. Gene Ther 1999;6(8):1427-37.
260. Sanlioglu AD, Karacay B, Benson PK, Engelhardt JF, Sanlioglu S. Novel approaches to augment adeno-associated virus type-2 endocytosis and transduction. Virus Res 2004;104(1):51-9.

261. Mastakov MY, Baer K, Xu R, Fitzsimons H, During MJ. Combined injection of rAAV with mannitol enhances gene expression in the rat brain. Mol Ther 2001;3(2):225-32.

262. Weiss DJ, Bonneau L, Allen JM, Miller AD, Halbert CL. Perfluorochemical liquid enhances adeno-associated virus-mediated transgene expression in lungs. Mol Ther 2000;2(6):624-30.

263. Favre D, Cherel Y, Provost N, Blouin V, Ferry N, Moullier P, et al. Hyaluronidase enhances recombinant adeno-associated virus (rAAV)-mediated gene transfer in the rat skeletal muscle. Gene Ther 2000;7(16):1417-20.

264. Theiss HD, Kofler DM, Buning H, Aldenhoff AL, Kaess B, Decker T, et al. Enhancement of gene transfer with recombinant adeno-associated virus (rAAV) vectors into primary B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells by CpG-oligodeoxynucleotides. Exp Hematol 2003;31(12):1223-9.

265. Lee DH, Goldberg AL. Proteasome inhibitors: valuable new tools for cell biologists. Trends Cell Biol 1998;8(10):397-403.

266. Orlowski RZ. Bortezomib and its role in the management of patients with multiple myeloma. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 2004;4(2):171-9.

267. Cohen SB. The use of anakinra, an interleukin-1 receptor antagonist, in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 2004;30(2):365-80, vii.

268. Fleishmann RM. Safety of anakinra, a recombinant interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (rmetHuIL-1ra), in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and comparison to anti-TNF-alpha agents. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2002;20(5 Suppl 27):S35-41.

269. Bessis N, Doucet C, Cottard V, Douar AM, Firat H, Jorgensen C, et al. Gene therapy for rheumatoid arthritis. J Gene Med 2002;4(6):581-91.

270. Robbins PD, Evans CH, Chernajovsky Y. Gene therapy for arthritis. Gene Ther 2003;10(10):902-11.

271. Kim KN, Watanabe S, Ma Y, Thornton S, Giannini EH, Hirsch R. Viral IL-10 and soluble TNF receptor act synergistically to inhibit collagen-induced arthritis following adenovirus-mediated gene transfer. J Immunol 2000;164(3):1576-81.

272. Elias JA, Lentz V. IL-1 and tumor necrosis factor synergistically stimulate fibroblast IL-6 production and stabilize IL-6 messenger RNA. J Immunol 1990;145(1):161-6.

273. Jones SA, Rose-John S. The role of soluble receptors in cytokine biology: the agonistic properties of the sIL-6R/IL-6 complex. Biochim Biophys Acta 2002;1592(3):251-63.

274. Xiao X, Li J, Samulski RJ. Production of high-titer recombinant adeno-associated virus vectors in the absence of helper adenovirus. J Virol 1998;72(3):2224-32.

275. Jennings K, Miyamae T, Traister R, Marinov A, Katakura S, Sowders D, et al. Proteasome inhibition enhances AAV-mediated transgene expression in human synoviocytes in vitro and in vivo. Mol Ther 2005;11(4):600-7.

276. Shin SR, Sanchez-Velar N, Sherr DH, Sonenshein GE. 7,12-dimethylbenz(a)anthracene treatment of a c-rel mouse mammary tumor cell line induces epithelial to mesenchymal transition via activation of nuclear factor-kappaB. Cancer Res 2006;66(5):2570-5.

277. Loser P, Jennings GS, Strauss M, Sandig V. Reactivation of the previously silenced cytomegalovirus major immediate-early promoter in the mouse liver: involvement of NFkappaB. J Virol 1998;72(1):180-90.

278. Niller HH, Hennighausen L. Formation of several specific nucleoprotein complexes on the human cytomegalovirus immediate early enhancer. Nucleic Acids Res 1991;19(13):3715-21.
279. Brown K, Gerstberger S, Carlson L, Franzoso G, Siebenlist U. Control of I kappa Balpha proteolysis by site-specific, signal-induced phosphorylation. Science 1995;267(5203):1485-8.

280. Alaniz L, Garcia MG, Gallo-Rodriguez C, Agusti R, Sterin-Speziale N, Hajos SE, et al. Hyaluronan oligosaccharides induce cell death through PI3-K/Akt pathway independently of NF-kappaB transcription factor. Glycobiology 2006;16(5):359-67.

281. Mabuchi S, Ohmichi M, Nishio Y, Hayasaka T, Kimura A, Ohta T, et al. Inhibition of inhibitor of nuclear factor-kappaB phosphorylation increases the efficacy of paclitaxel in in vitro and in vivo ovarian cancer models. Clin Cancer Res 2004;10(22):7645-54.

282. Ouyang W, Li J, Ma Q, Huang C. Essential roles of PI-3K/Akt/IKKbeta/NFkappaB pathway in cyclin D1 induction by arsenite in JB6 Cl41 cells. Carcinogenesis 2006;27(4):864-73.
283. Sugimori K, Matsui K, Motomura H, Tokoro T, Wang J, Higa S, et al. BMP-2 prevents apoptosis of the N1511 chondrocytic cell line through PI3K/Akt-mediated NF-kappaB activation. J Bone Miner Metab 2005;23(6):411-9.

284. McGee Sanftner LH, Rendahl KG, Quiroz D, Coyne M, Ladner M, Manning WC, et al. Recombinant AAV-mediated delivery of a tet-inducible reporter gene to the rat retina. Mol Ther 2001;3(5 Pt 1):688-96.

285. Chao H, Walsh CE. AAV vectors for hemophilia B gene therapy. Mt Sinai J Med 2004;71(5):305-13.

286. Moss RB, Rodman D, Spencer LT, Aitken ML, Zeitlin PL, Waltz D, et al. Repeated adeno-associated virus serotype 2 aerosol-mediated cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator gene transfer to the lungs of patients with cystic fibrosis: a multicenter, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Chest 2004;125(2):509-21.

287. Katakura S, Jennings, K., Watanabe, S., Adachi, E., Thornton, S., Gao, G, Wilson, J.M., Burstein, H., Trapnell, B., Hirsch, R. Recombinate adeno-associated virus preferentially transduces human, compared to mouse, synovium: implications for arthritis therapy. Modern Rheumatology 2004;14:18-24.

288. Grisham MB, Palombella VJ, Elliott PJ, Conner EM, Brand S, Wong HL, et al. Inhibition of NF-kappa B activation in vitro and in vivo: role of 26S proteasome. Methods Enzymol 1999;300:345-63.

289. Reddy SA, Huang JH, Liao WS. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in interleukin 1 signaling. Physical interaction with the interleukin 1 receptor and requirement in NFkappaB and AP-1 activation. J Biol Chem 1997;272(46):29167-73.

290. Zhan M, Han ZC. Phosphatidylinositide 3-kinase/AKT in radiation responses. Histol Histopathol 2004;19(3):915-23.

291. Zhang R, Xu Y, Ekman N, Wu Z, Wu J, Alitalo K, et al. Etk/Bmx transactivates vascular endothelial growth factor 2 and recruits phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase to mediate the tumor necrosis factor-induced angiogenic pathway. J Biol Chem 2003;278(51):51267-76.

292. Kao CY, Huang F, Chen Y, Thai P, Wachi S, Kim C, et al. Up-regulation of CC chemokine ligand 20 expression in human airway epithelium by IL-17 through a JAK-independent but MEK/NF-kappaB-dependent signaling pathway. J Immunol 2005;175(10):6676-85.

293. Nandi D, Tahiliani P, Kumar A, Chandu D. The ubiquitin-proteasome system. J Biosci 2006;31(1):137-55.

294. Rajkumar SV, Richardson PG, Hideshima T, Anderson KC. Proteasome inhibition as a novel therapeutic target in human cancer. J Clin Oncol 2005;23(3):630-9.

295. Ludwig H, Khayat D, Giaccone G, Facon T. Proteasome inhibition and its clinical prospects in the treatment of hematologic and solid malignancies. Cancer 2005;104(9):1794-807.
296. Spano JP, Bay JO, Blay JY, Rixe O. Proteasome inhibition: a new approach for the treatment of malignancies. Bull Cancer 2005;92(11):E61-6, 945-52.

297. Rock KL, Gramm C, Rothstein L, Clark K, Stein R, Dick L, et al. Inhibitors of the proteasome block the degradation of most cell proteins and the generation of peptides presented on MHC class I molecules. Cell 1994;78(5):761-71.

298. Sin N, Kim KB, Elofsson M, Meng L, Auth H, Kwok BH, et al. Total synthesis of the potent proteasome inhibitor epoxomicin: a useful tool for understanding proteasome biology. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 1999;9(15):2283-8.

299. Fenteany G, Standaert RF, Lane WS, Choi S, Corey EJ, Schreiber SL. Inhibition of proteasome activities and subunit-specific amino-terminal threonine modification by lactacystin. Science 1995;268(5211):726-31.

300. Gao GP, Qu G, Faust LZ, Engdahl RK, Xiao W, Hughes JV, et al. High-titer adenoassociated viral vectors from a Rep/Cap cell line and hybrid shuttle virus. Hum Gene Ther 1998;9(16):2353-62.

301. Fisher KJ, Kelley WM, Burda JF, Wilson JM. A novel adenovirus-adeno-associated virus hybrid vector that displays efficient rescue and delivery of the AAV genome. Hum Gene Ther 1996;7(17):2079-87.

302. Gao GP, Yang Y, Wilson JM. Biology of adenovirus vectors with E1 and E4 deletions for liver- directed gene therapy. J Virol 1996;70(12):8934-43.

303. Graham F, Van Der Eb A. A new technique for the assay of infectivity of human adenovirus 5 DNA. Virology 1973;52:446-467.

304. Graham FL, Smiley J, Russell WC, Nairn R. Characteristics of a human cell line transformed by DNA from human adenovirus type 5. Journal of General Virology 1977;36:59-72.

305. Wojcik C, DeMartino GN. Intracellular localization of proteasomes. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2003;35(5):579-89.

306. Lee DH, Goldberg AL. Proteasome inhibitors: valuable new tools for cell biologists. Trends in Cell Biology 1998;8:397-403.

307. Douar AM, Poulard K, Stockholm D, Danos O. Intracellular trafficking of adenoassociated virus vectors: routing to the late endosomal compartment and proteasome degradation. J Virol 2001;75(4):1824-33.

308. Palombella VJ, Conner EM, Fuseler JW, Destree A, Davis JM, Laroux FS, et al. Role of the proteasome and NF-kappaB in streptococcal cell wall-induced polyarthritis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998;95(26):15671-6.

309. Firestein GS, Echeverri F, Yeo M, Zvaifler NJ, Green DR. Somatic mutations in the p53 tumor suppressor gene in rheumatoid arthritis synovium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997;94(20):10895-900.

310. Pap T, Franz JK, Hummel KM, Jeisy E, Gay R, Gay S. Activation of synovial fibroblasts in rheumatoid arthritis: lack of Expression of the tumour suppressor PTEN at sites of invasive growth and destruction. Arthritis Res 2000;2(1):59-64.

311. Adams J, Palombella VJ, Elliott PJ. Proteasome inhibition: a new strategy in cancer treatment. Invest New Drugs 2000;18(2):109-21.

312. Schmidt M, Katano H, Bossis I, Chiorini JA. Cloning and characterization of a bovine adeno-associated virus. J Virol 2004;78(12):6509-16.

313. Nixon AJ, Brower-Toland BD, Bent SJ, Saxer RA, Wilke MJ, Robbins PD, et al. Insulinlike growth factor-I gene therapy applications for cartilage repair. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2000(379 Suppl):S201-13.

314. Watanabe S, Georgescu HI, Mendelow D, Evans CH. Chondrocyte activation in response to factor(s) produced by a continuous line of lapine synovial fibroblasts. Exp Cell Res 1986;167(1):218-26.

315. Wu Z, Asokan A, Samulski RJ. Adeno-associated Virus Serotypes: Vector Toolkit for Human Gene Therapy. Mol Ther 2006.

316. Grossin L, Etienne S, Gaborit N, Pinzano A, Cournil-Henrionnet C, Gerard C, et al. Induction of heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) by proteasome inhibitor MG 132 protects articular chondrocytes from cellular death in vitro and in vivo. Biorheology 2004;41(3-4):521-34.